The role of PI3K α in cardioprotection

Thesis submitted by Francisco Javier Rosselló Lozano

Cardiologist

For the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University College London, UK

Institute of Cardiovascular Science,

The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute,

University College London,

67 Chenies Mews,

London, WC1E 6HX

21 November 2017



DECLARATION

I, Francisco Javier Rosselló Lozano, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful for the close support and supervision provided by my primary supervisor, Professor Derek Yellon, and the unfettered advice of my secondary supervisor Dr Sean Davidson. In particular, I am grateful to my primary supervisor for coaching and guiding me throughout the duration of my PhD, giving me opportunities to attend conferences and write papers, and always giving me a smile upon noticing me in his (always open) office door. Our scientific and non-scientific conversations have enriched my understanding of science and life, and have had an impact on my professional career. I am not the same person who knocked on that door 3 years ago.

I am also extending my thanks to other scientists whom I met during the course of my PhD in London: Dr Andrew Hall for kindly assisted me in acquiring the necessary lab skills at the beginning, Dr Niall Burke for his help regarding both Western blotting and cardiomyocyte isolation and Dr Jaime Riquelme, who was here both at my arrival and my departure, for his scientific advice, his assistance in the TMRM experiments and his friendship. I thank the members of the laboratory who have made my life in the lab much easier: Sapna Arjun, David He, Stasa Taferner, Daniel Bromage, Jack Pickard, Jose Vicencio, Helison Pereira Do Carmo, John McGowan, Kaloyan Takov, Parisa Samangouei, Siavash Beikoghli Kalkhoran and Angus Maulik.

To Borja Ibanez, I express sincerest gratitude and thanks to him for his friendship and the encouragement he gave me a few years ago. The best is yet to come.

Finally, I would like to thank my mother, my brother and sisters, and especially my wife for all their boundless support in the good times and the bad. This thesis would not be written without the unconditional love and support that I have received from Xisca.

PUBLICATIONS

List of the publications to date resulting from this 3-year work period.

First author publications related to this thesis:

Yellon DM, **Rossello X**. Xenon A Noble Member of the Cardioprotection Club. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;70(21): 2661-2.

Rossello X, Yellon DM. The RISK pathway and beyond. Basic Res Cardiol. 2017;113(1):2.

Rossello X, Riquelme JA, He Z, Taferner S, Vanhaesebroeck B, Davidson S, Yellon DM. The role of PI3K α in cardioprotection. Basic Res Cardiol. 2017;112(6):66.

Rossello X, Riquelme J, Davidson S, Yellon DM. Role of PI3K in myocardial ischemic preconditioning: mapping prosurvival cascades at the trigger phase and at reperfusion. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine (2017, in press).

Rossello X, Yellon DM. Apoptosis, A Double-Edge Sword! JACC: Basic to Translational Science. 2017, 2 (4): 498.

Rossello X, Yellon DM. A new era in the management of type 2 diabetes: is cardioprotection at long last a reality! Int J Cardiol. 2016;228:198-200.

Rossello X, Yellon DM. Cardioprotection: The Disconnect Between Bench and Bedside. Circulation. 2016;134:574-575.

Rossello X, Yellon DM. A critical review on the translational journey of cardioprotective therapies. Int J Cardiol. 2016;220:176-84.

Rossello X, Burke N, Stoppe C, Bernhagen J,Davidson SM, Yellon DM. Exogenous administration of recombinant MIF at physiological concentrations failed to attenuate infarct size in a Langendorff perfused isolated mouse heart model. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther. 2016;30:445-45

Rossello X, Hall AR, Bell RM, Yellon DM. Characterization of the Langendorff Perfused Isolated Mouse Heart Model of Global Ischemia–Reperfusion Injury: Impact of Ischemia and

Reperfusion Length on Infarct Size and LDH Release J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 2016;21: 286-295

Co-author research publications related to this thesis

Bromage DI, Pickard JM, **Rossello X**, Ziff OJ, Burke N, Yellon DM, Davidson SM. Remote ischaemic conditioning reduces infarct size in animal in vivo models of ischaemia-reperfusion injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cardiovasc Res. 2017;113: 288-297.

Burke N, Hall AR, **Rossello X,** Beikoghli Kalkhoran S, Hausenloy DJ. Phenanthroline protects the murine heart against ischaemia-reperfusion injury via mitochondrial mechanisms. *Manuscript in preparation.*

ABSTRACT

Background. Ischaemic preconditioning (IPC) is an endogenous cardioprotective phenomenon, which can limit infarct size following ischaemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) through the activation of intracellular signalling pathways, such as the PI3K kinase cascade. Little is known about the individual roles of PI3K isoforms in IRI. This thesis aimed to elucidate the role of PI3K α in cardioprotection.

Methods and Results. Initial studies focussed on establishing the Langendorff-perfused isolated heart model of mouse IRI, and the relative contribution of different lengths of ischemia and reperfusion to myocardial infarction was rigorously determined. The PI3K signalling cascade and its interaction with other pathways were also dissected before evaluating the role of PI3K α .

PI3K α was shown to be critical in mediating IPC-induced heart protection against IRI. Using the *ex vivo* model of myocardial infarction, we showed that PI3K α is required during the IPC reperfusion phase to reduce myocardial infarct size, whilst not mediating the effect during the trigger phase. These findings were confirmed in an *in vivo* setting. Using insulin as a canonical activator of PI3K α , we also demonstrated that this isoform is not only necessary for IPC to confer cardioprotection, but sufficient for its specific activator to promote myocardial salvage against IRI. PI3K α activation mediates its effect through the end-effector namely the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, as demonstrated by delaying its opening in primary isolated cardiomyocytes. Importantly, the PI3K α protein levels are comparable between mouse and human heart tissue, and its activation can be modulated in both tissues. These last observations highlights the potential ability of PI3K α to be translated into the clinical setting.

Conclusions. These studies have clearly demonstrated that PI3K α plays a crucial role at reperfusion. This suggests that strategies specifically enhancing the α isoform of PI3K, at reperfusion, could provide a direct target for clinical treatment of IRI.

CONTENTS

DECLARA	.TION	2
ACKNOW	/LEDGEMENTS	3
PUBLICAT	TIONS	4
ABSTRAC	Т	6
CONTENT	Τς	7
FIGURES.		D
TABLES		3
ABBREVI	ATIONS	4
Chapter 2	1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION	6
1.1	Epidemiology of coronary artery disease16	5
1.2 concep	Brief historical perspective on cardioprotective therapies and reperfusion injur- ots	y 7
1.3	Pathophysiology of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury	C
1.4	Cardioprotection via ischaemic conditioning22	2
1.5	Ischaemic preconditioning	5
1.6	The RISK pathway: a unified signalling cascade for cardioprotection	7
1.7	РІЗК	4
Chapter 2	2 HYPOTHESES AND AIMS	3
Chapter 3	3 GENERAL RESEARCH METHODS	5
3.1	Experimental use of animals	5
3.2	Drugs	7
3.3	Ex vivo isolated perfused mouse heart model of global IRI	9
3.4	Analysis of Infarct size	3
3.5	Measurement of LDH activity	4
3.6	In vivo murine model of regional IRI	5
3.7	Isolation of adults mouse cardiomyocytes	6
3.8	Mouse cardiac endothelial cell culture	7
3.9	Experiments in human right atrial tissue	7

3.10	Analysis of protein levels	68
3.11	Assay of mPTP opening	71
3.12	Design and statistical analysis of experiments	71
Chapter OF GLOE	4 CHARACTERTERISATION OF THE ISOLATED PERFUSED MOUSE F BAL ISCHAEMIA-REPERFUSION INJURY	IEART MODEL 73
4.1	Introduction	73
4.2	Research objectives and aims	74
4.3	Methods and Materials	75
4.4	Results	83
4.5	Discussion	
Chapter	5 SELECTION OF IPC PROTOCOL	
5.1	Background	
5.2	Research objective and experimental aims	100
5.3	Methods	101
5.4	Results	103
5.5	Discussion	106
Chapter	6 ROLE OF PI3K IN MYOCARDIAL ISCHAEMIC PRECONDITIONING	110
6.1	Background	110
6.2	Research objectives and aims	111
6.3	Methods	112
6.4	Results	116
6.5	Discussion	121
Chapter CELLS	7 DIFFERENTIAL PI3Kα AND PI3Kβ EXPRESSION IN HEART 128	TISSUE AND
7.1	Background	128
7.2	Research objectives and experimental aims	129
7.3	Methods	130
7.4	Results	131
7.5	Discussion	134
Chapter	8 ROLE OF PI3Kα IN ISCHAEMIC PRECONDITIONING	139

8.1	Background	139
8.2	Research objectives and experimental aims	140
8.3	Methods	141
8.4	Results	149
8.5	Discussion	155
Chapter	9 PI3Kα PHARMACOLOGICAL ACTIVATION AT REPERFUSION	159
9.1	Background	159
9.2	Research aims and objectives	160
9.3	Methods	
9.4	Results	163
9.5	Discussion	
Chapter EFFECT (10 MECHANISM AND CLINICAL POTENTIAL UNDERLYING THE DF PI3Kα	PROTECTIVE
10.1	Background	170
10.2	Research objectives and experimental aims	171
10.3	Methods	172
10.4	Results	175
10.5	Discussion	180
Chapter	11 IS THERE A ROLE FOR PI3Kβ? A PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATION	183
11.1	Background	183
11.2	Research objectives and experimental aims	
11.3	Methods	185
11.4	Results	186
11.5	Discussion	188
Chapter	12 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS	191
12.1	Summary of findings	191
12.2	Clinical implications	192
12.3	Further investigations & future directions	193
REFEREN	ICES	195

FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Reperfusion injury contributes to myocardial infarct size after therapeutic
restoration of blood flow 20
Figure 1-2: Ischaemic conditioning forms25
Figure 1-3: Hierarchical levels of signal transduction in cardioprotection
Figure 1-4: Simplified scheme of cardioprotective signal transduction
Figure 1-5: The activation of pro-survival pathways follow a biphasic pattern
Figure 1-6: Simplified schema of the recruitment process induced by a given cardioprotective therapy
Figure 3-1: Overview of the Langendorff isolated perfused mouse heart apparatus
Figure 3-2: Examples of heart 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) staining
Figure 4-1: Study design77
Figure 4-2: Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on myocardial infarct size (%) 85
Figure 4-3: Lactate dehydrogenase release during reperfusion in hearts under 180 minutes of reperfusion
Figure 4-4: Effect of ischaemia length and ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial infarct size
Figure 4-5: Lactate dehydrogenase release during 180 minutes of reperfusion in control and IPC hearts
Figure 4-6: Correlation analysis between LDH AUC and peak with myocardial infarct size 91
Figure 5-1: Study design for perfusion protocols to determine the effect of two different ischaemic preconditioning (IPC) protocols on myocardial infarct size
Figure 5-2: Study design for Akt and ERK phosphorylation analysis using Western blot 102
Figure 5-3: Effect of two ischaemic preconditioning protocols on myocardial infarct size (%)
Figure 5-4: Effect of IPC protocols on Akt and ERK 1/2 phosphorylation

Figure 6-1: Study design for IS determination protocols in the context of IPC and wortmannin before and after index ischaemia
Figure 6-2: Study design to compare Akt and ERK phosphorylation analysis using Western blot
Figure 6-3: Role of PI3K in the protective effect of IPC at the trigger phase and at reperfusion
Figure 6-4: Impact of PI3K inhibition in IPC activated signalling cascades
Figure 6-5: Impact of PI3K inhibition in IPC activated ERK and STAT3 120
Figure 6-6: Summary of findings 121
Figure 7-1: PI3Kα and PI3Kβ expression133
Figure 8-1: Overview of protocols aimed to select PI3Kα inhibitors dose
Figure 8-2: Study design for the assessment of PI3K α inhibition during the IPC protocol 145
Figure 8-3: Study design for the assessment of preconditioned hearts with PI3K α inhibition at reperfusion
Figure 8-4: Study design for infarct size assessment protocols in preconditioned hearts in the context of PI3K α inhibitors at the "mediator" phase (<i>in vivo</i> model)
Figure 8-5: Study design and protocols to collect tissue for Western blot analyses to evaluate the role of PI3K α in ischaemic preconditioning
Figure 8-6: Effect of PI3Kα inhibitors on Akt phosphorylation150
Figure 8-7: Impact on myocardial infarct size of PI3Kα inhibition during the IPC protocol (<i>ex vivo</i>)
Figure 8-8: Impact on myocardial infarct size of PI3K α inhibition at reperfusion (ex vivo) 152
Figure 8-9: Impact on myocardial infarct size of PI3K α inhibition at reperfusion (<i>in vivo</i>) . 153
Figure 8-10: Akt phosphorylation following PI3K α inhibition in preconditioned hearts 154
Figure 9-1: Study design and protocols aimed to evaluate the effect on myocardial infarct size of PI3K α activation and inhibition in an <i>ex vivo</i> model of IRI
Figure 9-2: Study design for Akt and ERK phosphorylation analysis using Western blot 162

Figure 9-3: Impact of pharmacological PI3K α activation at reperfusion on myocardial infarct
size
Figure 9-4: Impact of pharmacological PI3K α activation at reperfusion on Akt
phosphorylation165
Figure 10-1: Pharmacological PI3Kα activation in cells and tissues
Figure 10-2: Effect of PI3K α activation and inhibition on mPTP opening in primary isolated
mouse cardiomyocytes
Figure 11-1: Akt response to SDF1 α in mouse cardiac tissue
Figure 11-2: Akt response to SDF1α in mouse cardiac endothelial cells

TABLES

Table 1-1: Landmark studies in IRI and conditioning-related cardioprotective therapies 19
Table 3-1: Overview of drugs and their relevant concentration 57
Table 3-2: Selectivity of PI3Kα inhibitors
Table 3-3: Inclusion criteria for isolated hearts undergoing Langendorff perfusion
Table 3-4: Summary of antibodies and concentrations used for Western blot analyses 70
Table 4-1: LDH concentration, flow rate and weight in mice that underwent 180 minutes of reperfusion
Table 4-2: Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on myocardial infarct size (%) 84
Table 5-1: Raw data for IPC protocol selection
Table 7-1: Raw data for protein expression of PI3K α and PI3K β
Table 8-1: Raw data on myocardial infarct size following IPC and PI3K $lpha$ inhibition
Table 10-1: Patient baseline characteristics

ABBREVIATIONS

Standard units of measurement are used throughout this report according to accepted conventions. A comprehensive list of non-standard abbreviations is provided below.

ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme	
Akt/PKB	Akt/protein kinase B	
AMI	Acute myocardial infarction	
AUC	Area under the curve	
BAD	Bcl-2 associated death promoter	
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid	
BSA	Bovine serum albumin	
CABG	Coronary artery bypass grafting	
CAD Coronary artery disease		
CsA	Cyclosporine A	
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium	
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase	
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase	
GIK	Glucose-insulin-potassium	
GPCR	G-protein-coupled receptor	
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase-3β	
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells	
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1	
IPC	Ischaemic preconditioning	
IRI	Ischaemia reperfusion injury	
IS	Infarct size	
JAK	Janus kinase	

LAD	Left anterior descending (coronary artery)		
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase		
MCEC	Mouse cardiac endothelial cell		
mPTP	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore		
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin		
p70s6k	Ribosomal protein S6 kinase beta-1		
PDK1	Phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1		
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase		
РКС	Protein kinase C		
PKG	Protein kinase G		
PP1	Protein phosphatase 1		
PP2A	Protein phosphatase 2A		
PPCI	Primary percutaneous coronary intervention		
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10		
RIC	Remote ischaemic conditioning		
RIPC	Remote ischaemic preconditioning		
RISK	Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase		
ROS	Reactive oxygen species		
SAFE	Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement		
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3		
STEMI	ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction		
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase		
TMRM	Tetra-methyl rhodamine methyl ester		
ΤΝFα	Tumor Necrosis Factor-α		
ттс	Triphenyl tetrazolium chloride		
TUNEL	Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labelling		
UCL	University College London		

Chapter 1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Epidemiology of coronary artery disease

The Global Burden of Disease study has recently estimated 422.7 million cases of cardiovascular disease and 17.92 million cardiovascular deaths worldwide in 2015 (1). Coronary artery disease (CAD) is the leading cause of cardiovascular health lost globally and also one of the major causes of mortality and morbidity when compared to non-cardiovascular diseases (2,3). By way of illustration, about 16 million people have CAD and around 8 million have had an acute myocardial infarction (AMI) in the United States. Furthermore there are about 735,000 AMIs every year, which translates into someone having an AMI every 43 seconds in the USA (4).

ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction (STEMI) is a major manifestation of CAD, usually precipitated by an abrupt occlusion of an epicardial coronary artery due to a sudden rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque (5). As a result, the myocardium distal to the occlusion site becomes ischaemic and its outcome depends on subsequent spontaneous or interventional coronary reperfusion (6). Early reperfusion by primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI) limits myocardial infarct size (IS) and changes the fate of the infarcted area (7,8). The process of restoring blood flow to the ischaemic myocardium induces additional myocardial damage, known as "myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury (IRI)"(9,10), that negatively impacts on IS as well as on death and disability rates. The concept of myocardial IRI is further explained in sections 1.2 and 1.3.

The implementation of PPCI and chronic evidence-based medications in the last 20 years have resulted in a widespread improvement in prognosis in Western countries (11–14). Overall, in-hospital death rates for STEMI have dropped over the last few decades (12). However, morbidity and mortality still remain unacceptably high in STEMI patients, with 1-year death rate reported in 7-11% and heart failure in 22% (15,16). Moreover, the increased cardiovascular risk burden and the incidence of AMI is growing disproportionately in some geographic regions, turning STEMI into a major health problem in developing countries (17,18).

To improve outcomes in patients with STEMI, further efforts are needed in two main non-mutually exclusive directions. On one hand, there is still room to improve both the implementation and the timings of PPCI (19), though this might not apply to all regions worldwide – in countries where the time from ambulance arrival to re-opening the occluded coronary artery in a catheterization laboratory has shortened to about 90 minutes, further shortening of this time has not demonstrated to improve mortality (20).

On the other hand, novel therapies targeting myocardial IRI are needed to be administered as adjuncts to PPCI in order to improve patient survival and prevent the onset of heart failure. This last point describes the work as outlined in this thesis - i.e. to investigate a molecular target that when activated at reperfusion ameliorates the impact of myocardial IRI, reducing the resultant infarct size, with an improvement in clinical outcome.

1.2 Brief historical perspective on cardioprotective therapies and reperfusion injury concepts

The major determinants of myocardial IS following an AMI were historically considered only as a function of the duration of ischaemia, area at risk and collateral blood flow (21,22). In 1971, Braunwald *et al* proposed that the extent and severity of myocardial tissue damage after coronary occlusion could be modified by therapeutic manipulations applied during ischaemia (23). This work was the starting signal for studies examining therapies designed to limit myocardial IS, known generally as cardioprotective therapies. Therapies able to reduce IS have been tested under the hypothesis that smaller infarctions will result in fewer adverse clinical events in the long-term (24–26).

Many attempts to limit myocardial IS by pharmacotherapy in the absence of reperfusion (pre thrombolytic era) dominated research in the 1970s (27), although the concept of cardioprotection eventually evolved to those therapies aimed at the attenuation of injurious results of myocardial IRI (28).

Myocardial reperfusion injury was first postulated in 1960 by Jennings *et al.*, describing landmark histologic features of reperfused ischaemic canine myocardium, such

cell swelling, contracture of myofibrils, disruption of the sarcolemma and the appearance of intra-mitochondrial calcium phosphate particles (29,30). However, it was in 1985 when Braunwald and Kloner wrote that myocardial reperfusion may be viewed as a double-edged sword(31), putting this subject on the research agenda.

Table 1-1 presents an overview of landmark studies in IRI and cardioprotection.

Year	Author	Achievement
1972	Maroko <i>et al.</i> (32)	First evidence that reperfusion limits extent of necrosis
1977	Reimer <i>et al.</i> (22)	Description of the wavefront progression of necrosis (from endocardium to epicardium)
1986	Murry <i>et al.</i> (33)	First evidence that ischaemic preconditioning reduces IS (first window of protection)
1993	Marber <i>et al.</i> (34)	Description of the second window of protection
1993	Przyklenk <i>et al.</i> (35)	First evidence that remote ischaemic preconditioning reduces IS
2002	Schulman <i>et al.</i> (36)	Description of the Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK) pathway
2003	Zhao <i>et al.</i> (37)	First evidence that ischaemic postconditioning reduces IS

Table 1-1: Landmark studies in IRI and conditioning-related cardioprotective therapies

Some of the most relevant studies in the field of myocardial IRI and cardioprotective therapies based on the conditioning phenomena.

Abbreviations: IS, infarct size.

1.3 Pathophysiology of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury

Time is muscle in patients undergoing an STEMI: the less time the coronary artery is occluded, the smaller the IS and the better the outcome for the patient (38,39). Although myocardial reperfusion is essential to salvage viable myocardium, it comes at a price. Hence, myocardial reperfusion paradoxically damages the vulnerable post-ischaemic myocardium. Studies in animal models of AMI suggest that reperfusion injury may account for up to 50% of the final myocardial IS (10), as Figure 1-1 illustrates. Hence, the prognosis after an STEMI is greatly dependent on the IS resulting from both ischaemia and reperfusion induced injury (25,26).





Rough representation of the contribution of reperfusion injury to overall IS in STEMI patients. Reproduced with permission from authors (40).

Myocardial reperfusion injury can manifest in several forms (10,40):

- A) <u>Myocardial stunning</u>. This is a reversible mechanical dysfunction that usually lasts for a few days after restoration of normal coronary flow. It is usually selfterminating, and is believed to result from oxidative stress and intracellular calcium (41).
- B) The <u>no-reflow phenomenon</u>, also known as microvascular obstruction. It refers to the impedance of microvascular blood flow encountered after opening the infarctrelated coronary artery, and its aetiology is multifactorial, including capillary damage, external capillary compression by endothelial cells, cardiomyocyte swelling, micro-embolization and neutrophil plugging (42).
- C) <u>Reperfusion arrhythmias</u>. Usually idioventricular rhythm and ventricular arrhythmias, most of them self-terminating or easily managed from a clinical perspective.
- D) Lethal reperfusion injury. This is the main cause of reperfusion-induced death of cardiomyocytes that have been reversibly injured during the ischaemia. Lethal reperfusion injury is the death of cardiomyocytes either as a consequence of reperfusion-triggered cell death and/or as a consequence of some event occurring during ischaemia that manifests during the reperfusion phase. Those phenomena triggering lethal reperfusion injury have been described elsewhere (10,41) and might be summarized as a cytosolic and mitochondrial calcium overload, oxidative stress and rapid restoration of intracellular pH which result in the opening of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) (described below).

Timely reperfusion is the most effective intervention to treat acute myocardial infarction - it has demonstrated to improve the prognosis of STEMI patients and its use is currently indicated in this context. However, reperfusion itself is a double-edged sword that represents an unmet clinical need. Further development of interventions targeting reperfusion injury are needed to reduce both mortality and morbidity following an acute myocardial infarction.

1.4 Cardioprotection via ischaemic conditioning

In 1986, Murry *et al.* published a seminal study demonstrating that several short (5 min) cycles of non-injurious ischaemia and reperfusion render the myocardium significantly protection from a subsequent sustained ischaemic insult (33). This phenomenon whereby the myocardium can endogenously be protected from lethal IRI was defined as "ischaemic preconditioning" (IPC). This finding, firstly described in dogs, has been subsequently replicated in numerous pre-clinical studies (43), as well as in other organs (44). The mechanism of protection conferred by IPC is described in next sections 1.5 and 1.6.

The concept of IPC has evolved into "ischaemic conditioning", a broader term that encompasses a number of related endogenous cardioprotective strategies, applied either to the heart (ischaemic preconditioning or postconditioning) or from afar (remote ischaemic pre-, per- or postconditioning). Table 1-1 provides a chronological summary of the evolution of the concept "ischaemic conditioning", which is further elaborated in the subsequent paragraphs.

In 1993, Przyklenk *et al.* applied four episodes of 5 min circumflex coronary artery occlusion separated by 5 min of reperfusion, before subjecting the left anterior descending (LAD) artery to 1 h sustained occlusion and subsequent 4.5 h reperfusion in a canine model (35), finding a 10% reduction myocardial IS in those circumflex preconditioned dogs. This phenomenon was termed "protection at a distance" later to be called remote ischaemic conditioning (RIC) and has been shown similar cardioprotective effects when applied to other remote organs and tissues, such as kidneys and skeletal muscle (41,45,46). In 1997, Birnahum *et al.* demonstrated that the application of short cycles of ischaemia and reperfusion to a rabbit limb (a RIC manoeuvre) remotely conferred protection to the heart (45). This finding boosted both pre-clinical and clinical research, as it meant that cardioprotection could be easily translated to the clinical arena by inflating a blood pressure cuff on the arm (47).

In 2003, Zhao *et al.* described a similar reduction in myocardial IS following the application of brief cycles of ischaemia/reperfusion in the same coronary artery either before or after the index ischaemia (37). The novelty of this intervention applied in a canine

model was the use of repetitive ischaemia/reperfusion stimulus in early reperfusion of the LAD territory. This intervention was named ischaemic postconditioning (37).

The translational potential of IPC is inevitably limited by the necessity to apply the intervention before the index ischaemia, which is unpredictable in many clinical scenarios such as the STEMI. Ischaemic postconditioning has been already tested in the clinical setting with mixed results (48–51). However, ischaemic postconditioning involves an invasive approach associated with peri-procedural risks, including coronary artery dissection or perforation, access site complications or stroke (13). On the contrary, RIC has emerged as a non-invasive alternative that can be applied either before (52–54), during (55–57) or after (58,59) index ischaemia (named remote pre-, per- or postconditioning, respectively).

Overall, large clinical trials assessing the impact of RIC on hard endpoints in the context of cardiac surgery have been disappointing (52,53). One of the main reasons that can potentially explain the disconnect between pre-clinical and clinical findings is the amount of myocardium at risk. Whilst STEMI patients (and particularly those with an anterior infarct) have a large territory at risk and therefore may potentially benefit from cardioprotective therapies, patients undergoing cardiac surgery have shorter ischaemic times, and their myocardium at risk is already subjected to cardioprotective procedures such as cardioplegia and hypothermia, therefore leaving little room to further protect the tissue. In fact, the term "infarct size" is usually referred to the consequence of having an STEMI, whilst "peri-procedural myocardial injury" is the concept used in the context of cardiac surgery (60). A deeper analysis on why some cardioprotective interventions have failed to be translated into the clinics can be found in some of our reviews and editorials (61,62), as well as elsewhere (13,63,64). With regard to the ultimate application of RIC in STEMI patients, there is great expectation for the outcome of the combination of two large ongoing clinical trials, namely the CONDI2/ERIC-PPCI study (57), which is a European (Denmark, Serbia, Spain, and UK respectively) prospective, randomized, controlled, clinical trial involving 5300 STEMI patients undergoing PPCI with the aim of evaluating the improvement of long-term clinical outcomes following the application RIC.

Figure 1-2 depicts the wide spectrum of ischaemic conditioning interventions and summarizes all the potential clinical scenarios where these therapies might be applied

(10,65). STEMI patients undergoing PPCI represent the most promising population that could benefit from cardioprotection, however other situations, where the heart is subjected to acute global IRI, such in cardiac surgery, cardiac transplantation and cardiac arrest, are also targetable.

In this thesis, the focus is on "classic" IPC, whereby brief cycles of coronary occlusion and reperfusion elicits protection from prolonged IRI. Despite acknowledging that this form of conditioning is non-translatable itself, the elucidation of signalling pathways underlying classic ischaemic conditioning should help to identify molecular targets amenable to pharmacological manipulation.



Figure 1-2: Ischaemic conditioning forms

This illustration depicts the different forms of ischaemic conditioning, and their timing with regard to the index myocardial ischaemia and reperfusion insult.

Cardioprotection can be induced by applying short cycles of ischaemia and reperfusion <u>directly to the heart</u> either: (1) 24–48 h prior the myocardial index ischaemia (Second window or *delayed ischaemic pre-conditioning*); (2) within 3 h of the index myocardial ischaemia (*IPC*); (3) within 1 min of reperfusion following the index myocardial ischaemia (*postconditioning*); and (4) 15–30 min after the onset of myocardial reperfusion following the index myocardial ischaemia (*delayed ischaemic post-conditioning*).

Cardioprotection can also be elicited by applying brief cycles of ischaemia and reperfusion to a <u>remote organ or tissue</u> (such as the arm or leg) either: (1) 24–48 h prior the index myocardial ischaemia (*delayed remote ischaemic pre-conditioning*); (2) within 3 h of the index myocardial ischaemia (*remote IPC*); (3) during the index myocardial ischaemia (*remote IPC*); (3) during the index myocardial ischaemia (*remote postconditioning*); (5) 15–30 min after the onset of myocardial reperfusion following the index myocardial ischaemia (*remote postconditioning*); (5) 15–30 min after the onset of myocardial reperfusion following the index myocardial ischaemia (*remote postconditioning*); (5) 15–30 min after the onset of myocardial reperfusion following the index myocardial ischaemia (*remote postconditioning*).

Two other forms of conditioning have been also described: (1); based on drugs mimicking the activation of pro-survival pathways (pharmacological conditioning); and (2) based on a daily application of the stimulus for a long period – i.e. 1 month (chronic conditioning).

Below, in purple, the clinical settings in which they have been tested (dark shading) or those in which there is potential for application (light shading). Reproduced with permission from authors(41).

Abbreviations: PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; STEMI, ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction

1.5 Ischaemic preconditioning

Besides reperfusion itself, IPC is considered the most powerful intervention available to protect the heart against myocardial IRI and has become the paradigm for cardioprotection (66). This intervention whereby brief cycles of coronary occlusion and reperfusion elicits protection has also been proved to be present in humans (67). After more than three decades of research on preconditioning, significant advances have been made in our understanding of both the mechanisms underlying IRI and the cardiac endogenous protection conferred by IPC.

1.5.1 Mechanisms of signal transduction in IPC

There is a consensus to recognize three hierarchical levels of signal transduction(28,68): triggers (usually sarcolemmal membrane receptors), intracellular mediators (the signalling cascades that help initiate and propagate the signal) and end-effectors (mechanisms that actually cause the attenuation of cellular injury and death during the lethal ischaemic insult). Figure 1-3 presents few examples of this signal transduction pattern.

This classification of IPC signalling is based on a causal/temporal sequence of events. The IPC stimulus initially results in production of <u>triggers</u> from the cardiomyocyte (such as acetylcholine, adenosine, bradykinin and opioids) (69). These stimuli, also known as "autocoids", bind to their respective sarcolemmal surface receptors to initiate the preconditioning signalling. These receptors are on the plasma membrane of cardiomyocytes and are usually G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), such as adenosine A1 receptors(70), bradykinin B2 receptors (71) and δ -opioid receptor (72,73). In addition to GPCRs, some receptor tyrosine kinase (RTKs) can also mediate this autocoid-induced signalling, as some of these receptor agonists have been demonstrated to trigger the preconditioning response. This is evident in the case of insulin (74) or Fibroblast Growth Factor-2 (75). Of note, therapeutic approaches pharmacologically targeting these receptors would be expected to yield a meaningful cardioprotective effect.

The activation of the receptors on the plasma membrane of cardiomyocytes results in the recruitment of the <u>mediators</u>, consisting of two main protein kinases cascades that

help to propagate the precondioning signal and eventually converge on the mitochondria (76,77). These two signalling pathways underlying cardioprotection are the Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK) pathway (comprising PI3K–Akt and MEK1/2–ERK1/2) and the Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement (SAFE) pathway (comprising TNF α and JAK-STAT3) (78–81). Some have advocated a third signalling cascade based on the protein kinase G (PKG) and involving nitric oxide (82). Figure 1-4 depicts by colours the spatiotemporal pattern of these two main signalling cascades mediating cardioprotection in an archetypal cardiomyocyte. These prosurvival pathways have been shown to inhibit downstream mediators such as glycogen synthase kinase (GSK-3 β), and activate endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and protein kinase C ϵ (PKC ϵ), which then mediate an inhibitory effect on mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opening.

The last link of the chain of this sequential-step process to promote cellular salvage against lethal reperfusion injury are the <u>end-effectors</u>. The most important known end-effector is the mPTP, which seems to be a common final step for all the above mentioned cardioprotective signalling cascades (83). Thus, the inhibition of mPTP opening at the onset of reperfusion appears to underpin the IS-limiting effects of IPC and other endogenous cardioprotective therapies (84,85). This is further explained in section 1.5.4.

There have been attempts to pharmacologically manipulate these three levels of the signal transduction cascade. At the trigger level, Liu *et al.* demonstrated for the first time in 1991 that the preconditioned state can be achieved administering autocoids: infusing adenosine or adenosine A1 receptor-selective agonist into the coronary flow for 5 min prior to a long occlusion put the heart into an IPC-like protected state, whilst the adenosine receptor antagonist blocked the IPC protective effect (70). At mediator level, insulin have demonstrated to protect the heart through the activation of PI3K pro-survival kinase (86), a well-recognized mediator. At end-effector level, cyclosporine A has shown cardioprotective effect through the inhibition of mPTP opening (87). The concept of modulating the IPC-induced molecular signalling pattern is known as pharmacologic conditioning and will be discussed further in next sections.



Figure 1-3: Hierarchical levels of signal transduction in cardioprotection

Abbreviations: IGF1, insulin-like growth factor-1; mPTP, mitochondrial permeability transition pore; RISK, Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase; TNF, Tumour necrosis factor; SAFE, Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement.

The cellular mechanisms of classical preconditioning can be classified in terms of triggers, mediators and effectors. IPC triggers a change in the myocardium, rendering it resistant to a subsequent infarction. This effect is mediated by a series of signal transduction pathways, which in turn end up on one or more end-effectors. The effectors are responsible for actually providing the protection during the subsequent prolonged ischaemia/reperfusion insult. This figure in not comprehensive and only depicts a few examples of triggers, mediators and effectors involved in cardioprotection.



Figure 1-4: Simplified scheme of cardioprotective signal transduction.

The RISK pathway is displayed in yellow in the middle, the SAFE pathway in red on the right side, whilst the eNOS/PKG pathway is shown in green on the left side. Reproduced from Circulation Research. 2015;116:674-699 (78).

Abbreviations: Akt, protein kinase B; AMPK, cyclic adenosine monophosphate–activated kinase; BNP, brain natriuretic peptide; cAMP, cyclic adenosine monophosphate; cGMP, cyclic guanosine monophosphate; COX, cyclooxygenase; Cx 43, connexin 43; DAG, diacylglycerol; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; ERK, extracellular regulated kinase; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; Gs/Gi/q, stimulatory/inhibitory G protein; GPCR, G proteincoupled receptor; gp130, glycoprotein 130; GSK38, glycogen synthase kinase 3 8; H2S, hydrogen sulfide; H11K, H11 kinase; HIF1α, hypoxia inducible factor 1α; IGF, insulin-like growth factor; iNOS, inducible NO synthase; IP3, inositoltrisphosphate; JAK, Janus kinase; KATP, ATP-dependent potassium channel; Na+/H+, sodium/proton-exchanger; NPR, natriuretic peptide receptor; pGC, particulate guanylate cyclase; p38, mitogen-activated protein kinase p38; NO, nitric oxide; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase; PKC, protein kinase C; PKG, protein kinase G; PLC, phospholipase C; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; PTK, protein tyrosin kinase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; sGC, soluble guanylate cyclase; SR, sarcoplasmic reticulum; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; and TNFα, tumor necrosis factor α.

1.5.2 Pro-survival pathways in IPC: RISK and SAFE pathways

The RISK and the SAFE pathways are the IPC mediators that have received more attention and are currently better understood, particularly the former. Following an IPC stimulus, the activation of both cascades has been demonstrated to occur at two time-points, following a biphasic pattern response (88), as exemplified in Figure 1-5. These two pathways are activated: (1) during the preconditioning cycles, prior to the index ischaemic episode, this phase known as "trigger phase"; and (2) during the onset of reperfusion, known as the early phase of reperfusion or the "mediator phase" (10,66). The last concept, that IPC mediators are actually activated at the onset of reperfusion was unknown 15 years ago and came from a seminal observation made at The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute (see section 1.6.1). Of note, the importance of this finding is its potential translational power – this molecular signalling can be mimicked by pharmacological agents to produce benefits for patients undergoing myocardial IRI, either in the ambulance or the cath lab.



Figure 1-5: The activation of pro-survival pathways follow a biphasic pattern

In orange (top of the illustration), the names for each part of a given experiment simulating the application of 4 cycles preconditioning followed by a prolonged IRI protocol. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia and white boxes represent periods of perfusion. In blue (bottom of the illustration), the time-periods where the pro-survival pathways are activated, namely the trigger phase (during the IPC protocol) and the "mediator" phase (at the onset of reperfusion).

In 2002, Yellon's group coined the term Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK) pathway to refer to a group of pro-survival protein kinases, which confer cardioprotection when activated specifically at the time of reperfusion (36,89,90), providing an amenable pharmacological target for cardioprotection. This pathway, which is actually a combination of two parallel cascades, PI3K-Akt and MEK1-ERK1/2, was thoroughly dissected through a series of elegant pharmacological studies where the protective effect of several interventions were blocked with the co-administration of both PI3K and ERK inhibitors at different time points (89). The importance of the RISK pathway lies is two main concepts: (1) this pathway must be activated at the time of early reperfusion for IPC to protect against IRI; and (2) the RISK pathway may be recruited not only by ischaemic conditioning, but also by other pharmacological agents such insulin, adenosine or statins (86,91). As the focus of this thesis is on further mapping the RISK pathway, this concept is further elaborated in section 1.6.

In 2005, Lecour *et al.* demonstrated that the administration of TNF- α before index ischaemia (used as pharmacologic IPC-mimetic) was cardioprotective without involving the RISK signalling cascade (92). Four years later, they described that the administration of TNF- α at reperfusion was recruiting a RISK-independent alternative pathway, coined as the SAFE pathway (81,93,94), and they also linked the activation of this pathway with preconditioning (95). Less is known about this signalling cascade: TNF- α binds TNF receptor 2 thus activating Janus Kinase (JAK) and Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3). Interestingly, STAT3 is a classical transcription factor that it also seen to have an immediate impact on mitochondrial respiration, improving complex I respiration and inhibiting mPTP opening (96). Few experimental studies have linked the activation of this pathway with the cardioprotective effect of melatonin(97) and lipoproteins(98). In humans, it seems that STAT5, instead of STAT3, may play a relevant role in cardioprotection (99,100).

In summary, multiple protective pathways seems to be involved in IPC. The RISK pathway has a major role as a mediator of the protective of IPC and its signalling architecture is currently relatively well understood. In contrast, RISK-independent pathways, such as SAFE and PKC/eNOS cascades, are yet to be fully elucidated, but also seem to have a relevant role in cardioprotection. Of note, cardioprotective signalling

cascades have been mostly simplified in the literature, partly to make its logical order more understandable, and partly because the fragmented knowledge in which it is based. However, these cascades are believed to be highly interactive. Crosstalk between the two components of the RISK pathway (101,102) and between the RISK and the SAFE pathways (95,103) have been already described in a few studies.

1.5.3 Role of mPTP in IPC

The mPTP is considered the most important end-effector, as it has been suggested to be a point of convergence of most cardioprotective pathways (78). It was first described in the late 1970's by Hayworth and Hunter as a calcium-sensitive mitochondrial pore able to modify mitochondrial membrane permeability (104–106). Several structural components have been proposed to be part of the mPTP, such as the inner membrane transport protein adenine nucleotide translocase, the outer membrane voltage-dependent anion channel, and the mitochondrial phosphate carrier. However, most of them have been discredited as essential components of the pore and the mPTP structure still remains largely unknown.

What is known about the mPTP is that it is a nonselective channel of the inner mitochondrial membrane (107) which is formed under conditions of cellular stress or injury, such as the circumstances surrounding IRI. During myocardial ischaemia, the mPTP remains closed, only to open within the first few minutes after myocardial reperfusion in response to mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload, oxidative stress (108), restoration of a physiologic pH and ATP depletion (83,109). When opened for a long term, results in the mitochondrial membrane potential collapse, oxidative phosphorylation uncoupling, the rupture of the outer mitochondrial membrane and the release of cytochrome c from the intermembrane space into the cytosol, where it activates proteolytic processes (110) resulting in cell death (83).

The mPTP is regulated by cyclophilin D, which decreases the threshold for mPTP opening in response to calcium and inorganic phosphate (111). Using cyclosporine A (CsA), a lipophilic cyclopeptide drug which inhibits cyclophilin D, Hausenloy *et al.* reported in the isolated rat heart model that IPC protect the myocardium by inhibiting mPTP opening at the onset of reperfusion (87), therefore demonstrating that mPTP inhibition underpins the IS-

sparing protective effect elicited by IPC (84,85). Using sanglifehrin-A, they also demonstrated that mPTP opening could be pharmacologically induced (112).

Overall, there is a growing body of evidence suggesting the importance of the mPTP in IRI. On one hand, the genetic ablation of cyclopholin D has been associated to the reduction of myocardial IS (107,111). On the other hand, the pharmacologic inhibition of cyclophilin D with CsA has been demonstrated to prevent mPTP opening (113). Despite the publication of a positive proof-of-concept study in patients with STEMI demonstrating for CsA to have an impact on surrogate endpoints (myocardial IS and ventricular remodelling) (114,115), the subsequent larger randomized clinical trial ("Does Cyclosporine Improve Clinical Outcome in ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction Patients", or CIRCUS trial) assessing clinical outcomes failed to show benefits for CsA (116). In another study published later, the "CYCLosporinE A in reperfused acute myocardial infarction" or CYCLE trial, the primary endpoint of improving ST-segment resolution was also proved neutral (117). Other drugs aimed at mPTP inhibition in STEMI patients have also failed in demonstrate superiority in surrogate endpoints (118). Overall, these neutral results are more likely explained by both the ineffective mPTP inhibition provided by the drug itself and its inability to reach the jeopardized myocardium (discussed elsewhere in (119,120)) rather than the mPTP lacking importance in IRI in the clinical setting. The need for alternative drugs with increased specificity for the mPTP is still considered a viable option for developing novel cardioprotective therapies.

1.5.4 Cellular targets for conditioning

As reviewed above, a wide range of triggers, mediators and end-effectors have already been identified as part of the recruitment conditioning process. It has been largely assumed that the conditioning phenomenon applies to all cell types in the heart, or at least specifically to the cardiomyocyte (121). Cardiomyocyte death is the main cause of heart failure, arrhythmias and death in patients with STEMI. Further, cardiomyocytes have become central to recapitulate reductionist models of preconditioning against IRI through hypoxia/reoxygenation experiments. However, it remains largely unknown to what extent other cells can contribute in the conditioning phenomena on top of cardiomyocytes. There are some evidence pointing to a role for platelets, endothelial cells and fibroblasts in cardioprotection.

By volumetric determination, cardiomyocytes represents around 75-80% of the total myocardium, whilst other cells appears to contribute little to the volume – endothelium by 3% and fibroblasts by 2% (121). This is important because the gold-standard measure of area at risk and infarct size, by Evans blue and Triphenyl Tetrazolium Chloride (TTC) respectively, is based in volumetric measures. However, when it comes to numbers, the proportions are slightly different and the adult myocardium is composed of ~56% myocytes, 27% fibroblasts, 7% endothelial cells, and 10% vascular smooth muscle cells, with a similar percentages in the left ventricle, right ventricle and septa, as demonstrated by Banerjee *et al.* (122). What has not been explored in great detail yet is whether preconditioning can elicit its effect through processes dependent of non-cardiomyocyte cell populations.

Due to the high metabolic demand, the heart has an extensive microvascular blood supply system. Some advocate that the endothelium might have a relevant role in cardioprotection due to both its optimal situation to interact with blood signals and its paracrine capacity/ability. As first point of contact between the myocardium and humoral factors, the endothelium constitutes a "blood-heart barrier" (123). There is some evidence demonstrating that the eluent collected from preconditioned endothelial cells is able to provide some protection against IRI in naïve primary cardiomyocytes (124). In the same vein, Teng et al. demonstrated with a transgenic mouse model, which restricted the expression of EPO receptor to hematopoietic and endothelial cells, that hearts from these mice can still be pharmacologically conditioned by the administration of EPO, therefore suggesting a major role for the endothelial cell response to EPO to achieve an acute cardioprotective effect (125). As a paracrine organ, the endothelium has been demonstrated to trigger protection in cardiomyocytes through receptor/ligand interaction and gaseotransmitter. Endothelin-1 (ET1) receptor and bradykynin B(2) receptor are both present in cardiomyocytes (126,127) and when pharmacologically activated both trigger a preconditioning-like effect (126,128). In regard to gaseous signals, nitric oxide has been long associated with ischaemic conditioning though the role of eNOS (the endothelial isoform of nitric oxide synthase), as demonstrated in eNOS knockout mice (129).

Besides being a provider of protective triggers and mediators to cardiomyocytes, there is also the possibility for the endothelium to be a target itself for cardioprotection. The signalling pathways and end-effector mechanisms described in cardioprotection are not specific to cardiomyocytes. Some publications have shown a higher vulnerability to IRI of the endothelium when compared to cardiomyocytes (130,131). Targeting endothelial receptors through adenosine agonists A1 and A3 or angiotensin II (132) preserve not only the endothelium-dependent vasodilation, but also cardiomyocyte viability. Indeed preserving microvascular function will provide further blood supply to the injured cardiomyocytes. In the clinical setting, pre-infarct angina (a preconditioning clinical manifestation) has been associated with attenuation of no-reflow in STEMI patients undergoing PPCI (133).

Other cells can also be relevant in cardioprotection, such as platelets, where recent experimental data have demonstrated that P2Y12 inhibitors are protective at the onset of reperfusion through RISK activation(134–136), or neutrophils, that can be targeted by metoprolol to inhibit neutrophil-platelet interaction (137).

1.5.5 Windows of protection

As described in section 1.4 and Figure 1-2, the ischaemic conditioning phenomenon is an endogenous form of cardioprotection that can be expressed in several ways. IPC, specifically, comes in two different temporal forms of protection, also known as "windows" (34). The first window of protection begins immediately following the stimulus and lasts for 2–3 h, after which cardioprotection declines (termed "classical IPC" or "acute IPC"). The second window follows 12-24h later, and lasts 48–72 h (termed "delayed IPC" or "second window of protection"), although its magnitude of effect appears to be less robust (88).

The first window of protection has been described in previous sections, and consists in the activation of several protein kinases through their phosphorylation. In the second window, these protein kinases activate gene transcription factors, such HIF-1 α and STAT 1/3, which facilitate the synthesis of distal mediators, such as COX-2, HSP72 and iNOS, which enables the effects of the IPC stimulus to persist into the following 2-3 days.

The second window of protection was described by Marber *et al.* in 1993. Before, some publications had suggested the protective role of heat stress proteins when induced by both myocardial ischaemia and whole body stress (138,139). To avoid the deleterious extra-cardiac response inherent to whole body heart stress, they applied a standard IPC stimulus in an *in vivo* rabbit model and demonstrated myocardial IS reduction 24 h later through elevation of the myocardial heat stress proteins HSP70 and HSP60 (34). The same year, Kuzuya *et al.* reported similar results using an in vivo canine model (140). In 2003, Yellon's group further described an essential role for the activation of the PI3K-Akt-p70s6k signalling cascade during the preconditioning cycles in a rabbit model of IPC-delayed cardioprotection (141). However, it was later when they (Bell *et al.*) linked this "delayed preconditioning" to the recruitment of the RISK pathway at reperfusion (142). Using angiotensin II as preconditioning mimetic, they demonstrated RISK activation following 1, 6 and 24 h of reperfusion, although the protective effect was only observed at 1 and 24h. An extensive review of the second window of preconditioning can be found elsewhere (76).

1.5.6 Clinical manifestations of IPC

Although IPC has been demonstrated to be highly protective, its clinical application is limited by both the need for its use before the index ischaemia and the necessity of an invasive coronary approach. In the clinical arena, two main spontaneous clinical manifestations of myocardial IPC can be observed:

- "Warm-up angina" refers to the phenomenon of increased exercise tolerance following an episode of angina (143)
- "Pre-infarct angina", defined as the cardioprotective effect of antecedent angina before an AMI resulting in smaller IS and improved clinical outcomes (144,145).
1.6 The RISK pathway: a unified signalling cascade for cardioprotection

1.6.1 Origins of the finding of the RISK pathway: necrosis vs apoptosis

There is more than one mode of cellular death as a result of IRI: both apoptosis and necrosis are thought to play a relevant role (146). At the early exposure to IRI, there is a significant increase in both apoptosis and necrosis, as evidenced by TUNEL and TTC staining, although it seems that necrosis may contribute more to the final infarct size when the tissue is exposed to IRI for longer (146,147).

Necrosis is the form of cell death that occurs following severe cellular damage, includes uncontrolled disruption of organelles, membrane rupture, and does not require ATP (148,149). On the other hand, apoptosis is the ATP-dependent programmed cell death. Apoptosis involves cytochrome-c release from injured mitochondria or autocoid cell-surface receptor (Fas Ligand) activation followed by the downstream propagation of the signal via caspases and other signalling proteins, which in turn cause the formation of nonselective pores in the outer mitochondria or the opening of the mPTP, as well as the DNA cleavage and nuclear degradation(149). Unlike necrosis, apoptosis does not result in the release of cellular content into the extracellular milieu. Pro-apoptotic proteins were the object of study to develop new targets against IRI under the hypothesis that it would be possible to salvage cardiomyocytes already committed to die when the signal of programmed cell death is potentially interrupted. It was therefore demonstrated that inhibiting caspases limits infarct size in animal models (150), although the pharmacologic inhibition of the apoptotic signalling cascade has been reported to attenuate both the apoptotic and necrotic component of the cell death secondary to lethal reperfusion injury (66). Besides reducing cell death through the inhibition of pro-apoptotic caspases, the focus was also put on antagonizing the apoptotic process through the activation of pro-survival proteins (90) -PI3K and ERK 1/2 prosurvival kinases attracted the attention of researchers as a way to preserve ischaemic myocardium.

The RISK pathway was first described by Yellon's group in 2002 whilst assessing the mechanisms underlying the cardioprotective effect induced by urocortin (36): the use of this growth factor reduced myocardial infarct size and increased the phosphorylation of

ERK 1/2 when administered upon reperfusion, whilst these effects were abolished by the co-administration of PD98059 (ERK 1/2 inhibitor) also at reperfusion.

In April 2017, Weil *et al.* (151) reported in a swine model that a single brief episode of 10 min myocardial ischaemia and 24 h reperfusion (like 1 cycle of IPC) produced an increase in serum cardiac troponin I, which was justified by the observation of transient regional apoptosis of single dispersed cardiomyocytes stained by TUNEL (148,152). The activation of the apoptotic process following a preconditioning stimulus should be put alongside the well-recognized activation of pro-survival pathways following a short protocol of IR injury. Therefore, it seems that both pro-apoptotic and pro-survival pathways are activated following such a stimulus, maybe as a counter-regulatory process. Despite it seeming contradictory, one might speculate that if the stimulus is left for longer, apoptosis contributes alongside necrosis to the final infarct size (146), whilst if left only for a shorter period, the IR injury actually leaves a "footprint", a sort of memory in form of activated prosurvival pathways, to protect the heart when a prolonged injury comes later.

1.6.2 Key signalling proteins involved in the RISK pathway

IPC-induced molecular signalling is considered the paradigm for cardioprotection. The RISK pathway, which has been demonstrated to mediate the IPC protective effect, is therefore considered a universal signalling cascade, a common pathway, shared by most cardioprotective therapies (153). The importance of comprehending this complex molecular architecture lies in the unmet clinical need of developing pharmacological agents specifically targeting pro-survival kinases to promote myocardial salvage. Figure 1-6 depicts the temporal sequence of signal transduction mediating cardioprotection. As described for IPC in section 1.5.1, the RISK pathway (a universal mediator) is activated by some triggers (in the case of IPC were autocoids, whilst in the case of pharmacological conditioning are drugs with the potential to bind either GPCRs or RTKs). Once recruited, the RISK pathway, inhibits the mPTP opening, hence delaying cell death.



Figure 1-6: Simplified schema of the recruitment process induced by a given cardioprotective therapy

The recruitment of the RISK pathway is a three-step process. The first step is usually characterised by receptor/ligand interaction, either derived from an autocrine source (1a—for example, adenosine), or an exogenous/paracrine (1b—for example bradykinin or insulin). Once the receptor is activated, the RISK pathway is recruited (2). In the third step, the activated kinases eventually impact upon end-effector mechanisms, such as the mPTP, that increase resistance to IRI (3).

Reproduced from Bell & Yellon (121).

As a parallel cascade to PI3K-Akt, <u>ERK 1/2</u> contributes to the cardioprotection elicited by all forms of ischaemic conditioning. In IPC studies, ERK1/2 appears to mediate its IPC-induced protective effect in a biphasic fashion. The activation of ERK during the trigger phase has been demonstrated to confer protection in most of the studies (89,154), although not all (155), whilst its activation at the onset of reperfusion is more clearly established (89,154). In both ischaemic postconditioning (156) and pharmacological conditioning (157), there is also a consensus on ERK 1/2 involvement at early reperfusion.

In 2000, Tong *et al.* demonstrated for the first time that the IPC-induced cardioprotective effect was mediated through the <u>PI3K-Akt</u> pathway in a Langendorffperfused rat heart model (158). The prottective effect of IPC was abolished with the administration of the PI3K pharmacological inhibitor wortmannin during the preconditioning phase (trigger phase). Subsequent studies corroborated the essential role of PI3K-Akt when recruited at the trigger phase (69,155). The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute was the first laboratory to report that PI3K-Akt is also recruited at the time of reperfusion (mediator phase) (89). Later, it was also demonstrated in IPC studies, in isolated perfused rabbit hearts, that PI3K-Akt recruitment occurs for up to 1 h following reperfusion for preconditioning to protect the heart (159). Of note, both phases of PI3K-Akt activation are needed for IPC to confer protection, as inhibiting either phase of activation abolishes the IS-sparing effect of IPC (155). PI3K-Akt is also involved in other forms of ischaemic conditioning (160).

PI3K has several downstream molecular targets, such as phosphoinositidedependent kinase-1 (PDK1), Akt, mTOR, p70s6k and GSK3β.

<u>PDK1</u> is a ubiquitously expressed 67 kDa kinase that phosphorylates and activates several kinases including Akt, protein kinase C and p70S6K.

<u>Akt</u> is a serine/threonine protein kinase family comprising thee different Akt isoforms, Akt1/PKBα, Akt2/PKB, Akt3/PKBβγ, each of which is encoded by a separate gene (101). Its activity is primary controlled by PI3K and Phosphatase and Tensin homologue deleted on chromosome 10 (PTEN) through the modulation of PIP3 levels. This is further explained in section 1.7.1.

Full activation of Akt happens via a sequential two-step process involving recruitment of Akt to the plasma membrane through its pleckstrin homology domain, followed by phosphorylation of a Thr-308 residue in the catalytic domain by PDK1 and a Ser-473 residue by the mTOR2. Akt is directly inactivated following dephosphorylation of the two regulatory sites by the serine-threonine phosphatase, protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A). Activated Akt phosphorylates various downstream targets including mTOR, p70s6k, GSK3β and eNOS (161).

All three known Akt isoforms are expressed in the myocardium, with the Akt1 and Akt2 being the most abundant. In fact, Akt1 is ubiquuitously expressed in all tissues and Akt2 is present mainly in insulin-responsive tissues.

<u>mTOR</u> is a serine/threonine kinase that is inhibited by the drug rapamycin. When activated, by Akt or other stimulants, it phosphorylates and activates <u>p70S6K</u>, which is a short isoform of the ribosomal S6 kinase (S6K1) and is involved in regulation of several signalling pathways such as the transcription of certain factors. Insulin administered upon reperfusion has shown ability to induce phosphorylation of both Akt and p70S6K, implicating them in the cell survival signalling cascade promoting reperfusion cardioprotection (86).

<u>GSK-3</u> β is a serine/threonine kinase originally identified to inactivate glycogen synthase by phosphorylation. GSK-3 β is expressed in the heart and is active in unstimulated cells, where it phosphorylates targets such cyclin D, c-Jun, NFAT, in addition to glycogen synthase (162). In response to PIP3 increase, phosphorylation of serine-9 residue in the Nterminal regions of GSK-3 β by Akt inhibits GSK-3 β , leading to improved cell survival and hypertrophy. The importance of GSK3 β in ischaemic conditioning is still contentious – i.e. two different studies using the same transgenic mouse model of a dominant negative GSK3 β variant found this protein mantadory (163) or not (164) for postconditioning to confer protection.

1.6.3 Importance of isoforms in cardioprotection

A protein isoform, also known as "protein variant", is a member of a family of proteins with highly similar structure. These different forms of a protein may be produced either from different genes or from the same gene by alternative splicing, and can confer different biological effect. Some examples have been appreciated in cardioprotection.

Yellon's lab studied the role of two Akt isoforms, concluding that, Akt1, but not Akt2, was essential mediator of IPC (101). In another study, GSK-3 β , but not GSK-3 α , was phosphorylated after preconditioning (164). Protein kinase C, another prosurvival protein kinase, represents a paradigm for the importance of the isoforms in cardioprotection: in animal models of myocardial IRI, the activation of the protein kinase C ϵ isoform is protective, whilst the activation of the δ isoform is deleterious (165). Taking into account the roles of each isoform, a combined treatment with an ϵ -PKC activator before ischaemia and δ -PKC inhibitor at the onset of reperfusion was proved to induce greater protection against IRI than the treatment with each peptide alone (166).

1.6.4 Targeting the RISK pathway in cardioprotection

The ability to manipulate and up-regulate the RISK pathway during the early reperfusion phase may provide a potential approach to limiting reperfusion-induced cell death. Indeed, the use of pharmacological agents targeting the RISK pathway is a feasible intervention which can be applied at the onset of myocardial reperfusion for patients presenting with an STEMI, either in the ambulance or the cath lab. Therefore, strategies enhancing the RISK activity are an attractive target to develop adjuvant therapies to be used alongside cardiac catheterization.

In the laboratory setting, several drugs have been already demonstrated to protect the heart against IRI through the activation of the RISK pathway: insulin (86), statins (91), bradykinin (129), GLP-1 analogues (167), erythropoietin (168), atrial natriuretic peptide (169), metformin (170,171), dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibitors (172) and pioglitazone (173). The translation of most of these medications to the clinical setting has been overall disapointing - the reasons are widely discussed elsewhere (28,61,145,174). However, there are some promising drugs which have been demonstrated to reduce myocardial IS in patients, such as exenatide (175,176), metoprolol (177–179) and atrial natriuretic peptide (180). Regarding mechanical interventions, remote ischaemic conditioning has also solidly demonstrated to be effective in the clinical setting (55,59).

Time is important when it comes to pharmacologic conditioning for three reasons:

- (1) The recruitment of pro-survival kinases are protective when acutely activated, whilst their chronic activation seems to be harmful in the long-term. In the experimental setting, the chronic activation of the PI3K-Akt cascade is deleterious, inducing cardiac hypertrophy (101,181). In the clinical setting, ERK and Akt are chronically activated in the failing heart (182).
- (2) Many pharmacological agents have proved effective only in those patients presenting shorter periods of ischaemia. In a subgroup analysis of the Acute Myocardial Infarction Study of Adenosine-II (AMISTAD-II) (183), patients reperfused within less than 3.2 h of symptom onset (median time to reperfusion) showed that adenosine reduced the composite endpoint of death and congestive heart failure (184). In the same vein, Exenatide was proved to be more effective in STEMI patients with shorter ischaemic time from onset of symptoms (175)
- (3) The longer the cardioprotective therapy is on board, the more effective it is reducing IS. Both RIC (47) and metoprolol (185) have demonstrated that the sooner the intervention is applied in the course of the infarction, the better the surrogate outcome.

1.7 PI3K

1.7.1 PI3K is part of the RISK pathway activated by IPC

1.7.1.1 Phosphatidylinositols, PI3K and PTEN are part of the RISK pathway

Phosphatidylinositols (PtdIns) are phospholipids that comprise a phosphoglyceride esterified to the hydroxyl group of an inositol ring which can be phosphorylated and dephosphorylated at several positions by lipid kinases and phosphatases, respectively (186). Phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphate [PtdIns(3,4,5)P3, also known as PIP3] is a short-lived second messenger, produced from phosphatidylinositol (4,5)-bisphosphate [PtdIns(4,5)P2, also known as PIP2]. The lipid kinase PI3K and the phosphatase PTEN are the primary regulators of these two PtdIns: PI3K produces PIP3 from PIP2, and PTEN counter-regulates the reaction, dephosphorylating PIP3 on the D3 position (187).

PI3K activity is required to protect the heart against IRI in all forms of ischaemic conditioning (188). As discussed in section 1.5, the IPC stimulus promote the release of triggers which activate either GPCR or RTKs, in turn activating signalling cascades, such as the RISK pathway. As a result of this PI3K activation, PIP3 production leads to the recruitment and activation of Akt and PDK1, and subsequently to a phosphorylation of a wide range of pro-survival downstream targets such a p70S6, eNOS and GSK3β (186).

Despite the growing interest in the importance of protein isoforms in cardioprotection (see section 1.6.3), little is known about the specific role of the PI3K variants in IRI and ischaemic conditioning. PI3K is of significant importance within the RISK pathway, and its upstream position governs the other important downstream kinases. To elucidate the role of each isoform may eventually allow us to optimize pharmacological interventions selectively thereby targeting specific PI3K isoforms.

1.7.2 Structure and function of class I PI3K

PI3K isoforms have been divided into three classes (class I, class II, class III) based on structural features and lipid substrate preferences (189). This thesis focuses specifically on class I PI3K, particularly in PI3K α .

Class I PI3Ks are a family of lipid kinases activated by cell membrane receptors, either receptor tyrosine kinases or G protein-coupled receptors, to catalyse the production of PIP3 from PIP2 (187,190). These enzymes are heterodimers composed by a regulatory subunit (either p85 or p101/p84 family) and one of four catalytic subunit (p110 α , p110 β , p110 γ or p110 δ), forming PI3K α , β , γ or δ , respectively (189). Structural differences at the N-terminal portion of p110 subunits allow a further subdivision in class IA and class IB. Class IA members (p110 α , p110 β and p110 δ) form heterodimers with p85 regulatory subunit, and usually are thought to be activated downstream of receptor tyrosine kinase, although there is evidence associating PI3K β with GPCR (191). In contrast, the only p110 γ forms heterodimers with either p84 or p101, and selectively respond to GPCR signalling, with some recent evidence suggesting a potential Ras-mediated activation.

1.7.3 PI3K isoforms: genetic disruption studies vs pharmacological studies

Two general approaches can be performed to identify the roles and mechanisms of action of PI3K isoforms in normal cardiovascular physiology and disease: genetic disruption studies and pharmacological studies targeting specific PI3K isoforms.

Mouse mutants lacking PI3K α or PI3K β have shown embryonic lethal phenotype (192,193), whilst mice lacking either PI3K γ or PI3K δ reach adulthood (194). Transgenic mice with cardiac-specific expression of a constitutively active p110 α (caPI3K α) display increased heart and cardiomyocyte size (195). In contrast, cardiac-specific expression kinase-dead version of p110 α reduces heart size. Further examples can be found in PI3K downstream effector Akt isoforms (196,197). It is not always clear whether the reported phenotypes and molecular signalling alterations of genetic modified models can be directly attributed to the the targeted gene, or if they are actually the result of "knock on" effects on other PI3K

isoforms and the signalling pathways they control. In other words, the activation of compensatory signalling pathways other than the one being under study.

Genetic approaches needs to be complemented with pharmacological studies using isoform-specific inhibitors. Cell permeable inhibitors make it possible to directly assess the phenotypic consequences of acutely inhibiting a kinase with a drug at a given time point in a physiologically relevant model. For instance, pharmacological studies with pan-specific PI3K inhibitors (LY-294002 and Wortmannin) strongly support the notion that class I PI3Ks are key mediators of cardioprotection imparted by insulin (86) and IPC (89) at reperfusion; but these inhibitors are not isoform specific (198).

A significant development over the past ten years has been the development of highly isoform-specific, small molecule, class I PI3K inhibitors. These inhibitors, which are available either commercially or through collaborations with the Cancer Institute at University College London, permit the assessment of the role of the two predominant cardiac isoforms, namely PI3K α and PI3K β , in cardioprotection. This pharmacological strategy provides a physiological model which replicates the effects of small molecule kinase inhibitors more closely than classical gene knockout approaches in an acute model, such as the IRI model of myocardial infarction(199). The development of compensatory adaptions might be avoided using potent and highly selective isoform-specific PI3K inhibitors in this acute setting.

1.7.4 Comparison of features and properties between PI3K isoforms

1.7.4.1 Similar structure, different function

The triggers released as a consequence of an IPC stimulus (i.e growth factors) elicit their effect by transient alterations in the levels of PIP3, the levels of which are very low in quiescent cells but rise swiftly following growth-factor stimulation (200). This rise of PIP3 induced by the activation of PI3K mediate a broad range of cellular functions. The catalytic p110 isoforms of Class IA PI3K have a highly homologous structure, interact non-selectively with the different p85 regulatory subunits and have the same lipid substrate preference (201). Therefore, a substantial functional overlap may be expected. However, there is a growing body of evidence suggesting distinct roles for each isoform in the cell. This is particularly highlighted by the finding that ablation of either p110 α or p110 β gene is developmentally lethal (192,193), indicating that the non-deleted isoform cannot fully substitute for the ablated (200). Moreover, experiments using gene-targeted mice and p110 isoform-selective inhibitors have uncovered non-redundant functions of the p110 isoforms – i.e. p110 α is involved in insulin signalling (202,203), p110 β in integrin signalling (204,205), and p110 δ in leukocitary signalling (206). Some key parameters have been investigated to differentiate the role played by each isoform, as explained in subsequent sections.

1.7.4.2 Mechanism of activation

Class I PI3K four isoforms are highly homologous in structure, but they have distinct mechanisms of activation. Class IA PI3Ks (α , β and δ) are activated through RTKs, whilst PI3K γ acts downstream to GPCRs (207). However, there is compelling evidence demonstrating that both RTK and GPCR can engage PI3K β , (191,208), placing this isoform between the two subclasses. Moreover, it has been suggested that PI3K β in synergistically activated by both receptors (209). Kulkarni *et al.* have demonstrated PI3K β to play a major role in determining the sensitivity of neutrophil activation by immune complexes in enabling a synergistic activation through both RTK and GPCRs (210). In the same way, Houslay et al. have recently reported a synergistic PIP3 formation by PI3K β in response to the co-activation of both GPCR and RTK in myeloid cells (211). Altogether, this need for cooperative signalling may indicate that the activation of PI3K β requires coincident signalling inputs to be fully activated (209).

Relevant to this thesis, RTK ligands (such as PDGF, insulin and insulin-like growth factor-1, IGF-1) have been demonstrated to activate Akt through PI3K α , whilst several GCPR ligands has been proposed to mediate Akt activation through PI3K β , such as SDF-1 α , sphingosine-1-phosphate and lysophosphatidic acid (191,208,210,212).

1.7.4.3 Lipid- and protein-kinase activities

Class I PI3K have two kinase functions: (1) the lipid-kinase activity mediates the phosphorylation of phosphoinositides on the D-3 position of the inositol ring (i.e. PIP2 \rightarrow PIP3), therefore activating Akt and other PIP3-binding molecules, such as PDK1 and mTORC2; and (2) the protein-kinase activity causing the autophosphorylation of the

regulatory subunit p85 α at Ser608, which in turn downregulates the lipid-kinase activity of PI3K (213,214).

Significant differences in the kinetic properties of p110 α and p110 β catalytic subunits have been described so far (215). Beeton *et al.* measured both PI3K lipid-kinase activity (using two different methods in several cell lines) and PI3K protein-kinase activity (with only one assay) (200). They concluded that: (1) p110 β has a lower lipid kinase activity than p110 α ; (2) at low lipid concentration p110 β is more active than p110 α , whilst the reverse occurs at higher lipid concentration; (3) p110 β also displayed a lower protein kinase activity (lower p85 phosphorylation). Altogether, p110 β demonstrated less overall lipid-and protein-kinase activity compared to p110 α .In that article, the authors speculate that the differences being reported in p110 α and p110 β kinetic properties would mean that these isoforms could be maximally effective in different cellular locations (200), based on the availability and concentrations of the substrate phosphoinositides. A few years later, the same group confirmed these differences in the regulation of P13K by its intrinsic serine kinase activity *in vivo* – p110 α possesses a higher protein kinase activity phosphorylating a serine residue in p85, whereas p110 β is less effective in this phosphorylation (216).

Differences in kinase activity between PI3K isoforms have been also reported by Vanhaesebroeck's group, which evaluated lipid kinase activity in both endothelial cells and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), confirming that p110 α is also the most active isoform in these cell types (217). With regard to PI3K γ , Perino *et al.* have reported that p110 γ lipid kinase activity is negligible in cardiomyocytes in physiological conditions, but results dramatically upregulated under adrenergic stress, such as that occurring in chronic congestive heart failure (218).

1.7.4.4 Expression and location

Some studies have quantified the amount of PI3K isoforms in several non-cardiac mouse tissues. Vanhaesebroeck's group have determined that the most abundant catalytic subunits were p110 β (in liver, brain and fat) or p110 δ (in spleen), with a lower abundance of 110 α in most tissues tested (206). Only the muscle (the heart was not tested) showed a predominance of PI3K α . The same group studied the expression for each class IA isoform in both mouse cardiac endothelial cells (MCECs) and HUVECs, demonstrating a similar

qualitative expression of p110 α and p110 β , and a very low expression of p110 δ , particularly when these cells were compared with leukocytes (217). Few studies have suggested subcellular localization of PI3K isoforms as a major mechanism to determine specific functions and govern cell responses, as p110 β , but not p110 α , localizes to the nucleus in several cell types (219,220).

In the heart, the most highly expressed p110 catalytic subunit are p110 α and p110 β (221), although little is known about their absolute and relative amounts.

1.7.5 Class I PI3K isoforms

1.7.5.1 PI3Kα

PI3Kα can be exclusively activated by RTKs. Cardiomyocyte PI3Kα is mostly activated by the receptors of insulin or IGF-1, whilst other myocardial cell types such as endothelial cells or fibroblasts are engaged mostly by vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or fibroblast growth factor (FGF). PI3Kα has a major role in cardiomyocyte growth and survival and this explains why systemic knockout of PI3Kα is embryonic lethal (192).

Genetic disruption in animal models have revealed a critical role for PI3K α -Akt cascade in promoting cardiomyocyte postnatal growth and survival. In a cardiac-specific transgenic mouse model expressing a constitutively active (ca) PI3K α mutant: PI3K α activity was increased 6.5-fold, heart size was approximately 20% higher and cardiac function and lifespan were normal (195). On the other hand, in a cardiac-specific mouse model expressing a dominant negative (dn) PI3K α mutant, PI3K α activity was reduced by 77% and hearts size were reduced by approximately 20%. Under basal conditions, alterations of PI3K α influences heart size without gross changes in cardiac contractility (222). In both animal models, ca PI3K α and dnPI3K α , the number of cardiomyocytes is unchanged if compared to controls, thus supporting the idea that the α isoform of PI3K α controls cardiomyocyte size but not the number (222). Further, the upstream cardiac-specific IGF-1 receptor overexpression also leads to cardiac hypertrophy and sustained systolic function. In a series of articles, McMullen and colleagues have demonstrated that PI3K α -Akt can promote physiological exercise-induced growth (224), but antagonize pathological growth

in a transgenic mouse model of dilated cardiomyopathy or a mouse model subjected to pressure overload through a constricted aorta (225,226). Altogether, these studies suggest that PI3K α is essential to maintain cardiac function unaltered in response to a pathological cardiac insult.

With regard to myocardial infarction, little research has been undertaken to date. Lin *et al.* have demonstrated that PI3K α is crucial for protecting the heart against pathological remodelling and failure (227). They have demonstrated that increased PI3K α activity can protect the heart against dysfunction following a chronic myocardial infarction (227). In this myocardial infarct-induced heart failure model, designed to cause cardiac dysfunction, as a consequence of a chronic coronary occlusion (without reperfusion), caPI3K α mice demonstrated less function impairment when compared to controls (227).

In addition to its involvement in physiological cardiac growth and protecting the heart against pathological remodelling following an AMI, PI3Kα is also critically involved in cardiac contractility. Temporally controlled overexpression of cardiac-specific PI3Kα enhances contractility in the Langendorff-perfused mouse model (228), whilst the overexpression of dnPI3Kα reduces basal contractility (229). It has been suggested that L-type voltage gated calcium channels are involved in the mechanism for PI3Kα to contribute in cardiac contractility (230).

Mutations in *PI3KCA*, the gene coding for PI3K α , are associated with oncogenic transformation. Hence, the therapeutic potential of PI3K α inhibitors has generated great interest in cancer patients, but also some challenges regarding their potential side-effects on the heart. Mice deficient in PI3K α displayed an accelerated heart failure in response to dilated or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy – these results might explain the association of cardiomyopathy in cancer patients given tyrosine kinase inhibitors and raise concerns for the use of PI3K α inhibitors in cancer patients (231).

1.7.5.2 РІЗКВ

PI3K β is centrally involved in Akt activation in platelets, and in thrombus formation and maintenance. This has been demonstrated in mice with targeted deletion of p110 β , and by the use of a selective PI3K β inhibitor (204,205). It is also highly expressed in cardiomyocytes, although no evidence has been reported on its involvement in IRI and cardioprotection.

1.7.5.3 PI3Ky

Unlike PI3Kα, PI3Kγ is not ubiquitously expressed but enriched in specific subsets of cells, including leukocytes and cardiac cells. PI3Kγ expression is upregulated in mouse models of atherosclerosis as a result of massive leukocyte infiltration (187). Beyond atherosclerosis, PI3Kγ has emerged as a critical modulator of cardiac function (207).

PI3Ky is known to interact with agonist-activated GPCRs. As IPC is mostly mediated by GPCR ligands, this isoform have raised the interest of some researchers. In 2004, Tong *et al.* postulated PI3Ky as a mediator of the protection afforded by IPC (232). In transgenic mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of a catalytically inactive mutant of PI3Ky, they observed the IPC protective effect to be lost, therefore suggesting a central role of PI3Ky in the IPC-protective effect. Consistently, Ban *et al.* demonstrated the importance of the PI3Ky signalling cascade in IPC, as PI3Ky knockout mice (PI3Ky^{-/-}) displayed poorer functional recovery and greater tissue injury (measured by lactate dehydrogenase release) compared to the wild-type and PI3Ky^{-/+} counterparts in a Langendorff-perfused mouse model. They also showed similar functional data on adenosine-mediated pharmacological preconditioning, suggesting PI3Ky involvement in the protection conferred by adenosine, on the basis of GPCR activation in IPC.

PI3Kγ has also been associated with other heart diseases. In 2017, a research group from Italy demonstrated PI3Kγ to have a central role in diabetic-induced cardiomyopathy. Using both a pharmacological approach with the GE21 PI3Kγ inhibitor and a genetic approach with both knock-out and kinase-dead mice, they observed an improved cardiac function when compared to non-manipulated mice (233), therefore suggesting that PI3Kγ inhibition has the potential to be translated to patients with diabetic cardiomyopathy.

1.7.5.4 PI3Kδ

PI3K δ is highly expressed in leukocytes, but is also present in other tissues such as neurons. Its predominant expression in the haematopoietic compartment correlates with a variety of immune functions, mainly in the adaptive immune system, with important roles

in B and T cells, as well as in mast cells and myeloid cells (190). Little is known about its potential role in the physiology and disease of the cardiovascular system.

Overall, this section lays the foundation for the investigation of specific isoforms that may play a relevant role in cardioprotection.

Chapter 2 HYPOTHESES AND AIMS

The overall aim of this PhD is to investigate the potential role of PI3K α as mediator in cardioprotection. The principle objective and specific research aims addressed are outlined below and described with further details in subsequent chapters.

Objective (1) – To characterise the isolated perfused mouse heart model using global ischaemia-reperfusion injury (Chapter 4)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Determine whether infarct size (IS) is dependent on both the duration of ischaemia and length of the reperfusion period
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Describe the lactate dehydrogenase release pattern during reperfusion as an index of injury
- <u>Aim 3:</u> Describe the impact of IPC on IS and lactate dehydrogenase release after long reperfusion
- Aim 4: Determine any correlation between IS and lactate dehydrogenase release

Objective (2) – To select the IPC protocol (Chapter 5)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Compare the effect of 1-cycle vs 4-cycle of IPC to protect the heart against ischaemia/reperfusion injury
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Compare the effect of 1-cycle vs 4-cycle IPC to activate the survival kinases, Akt and ERK

Objective (3) – To characterise the role of PI3K prosurvival cascade in preconditioned mouse hearts (Chapter 6)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Investigate whether the pan-specific PI3K inhibitor wortmannin abrogates the cardioprotective effect of IPC when applied either during the trigger phase or the mediator phase
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Mapping prosurvival cascades at the trigger phase and at reperfusion following PI3K inhibition in preconditioned hearts

Objective (4) – To characterise the expression of the α and β isoform of PI3K in cardiac tissue and cells (Chapter 7)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Investigate PI3Ka protein expression in mouse and human heart tissue, as well as in primary isolated cardiomyocytes and endothelial mouse cardiac cells
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Investigate PI3K6 protein expression in mouse and human heart tissue, as well as in primary isolated cardiomyocytes and endothelial mouse cardiac cells

Objective (5) - To investigate the role of PI3K α in IPC (Chapter 8)

- Aim 1: Select PI3Kα inhibitors dose
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Investigate the role of PI3Kα in the IPC "trigger" phase in the ex vivo model
- Aim 3: Investigate the role of PI3Ka in the IPC "mediator" phase in the ex vivo model
- <u>Aim 4:</u> Investigate the role of PI3Kα in the IPC "mediator" phase in the in the in vivo model
- <u>Aim 5:</u> Evaluate Akt activation following PI3Kα inhibition in both the IPC "trigger" phase the IPC "mediator" phase

Objective (6) - To investigate the pharmacological activation of PI3K α at reperfusion (Chapter 9)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Assess the role of PI3Kα activation to protect the heart against IRI using both its canonical activator and its specific pharmacologic inhibitor
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Demonstrate Akt phosphorylation in response to PI3Kα pharmacological activation and inhibition

Objective (7) - To investigate the pharmacological activation of PI3K α in several cell types and tissues, as well as the mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore (mPTP) inhibition as a potential end-effector (Chapter 10)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Assess whether PI3Kα can be activated in both primary adult mouse cardiomyocyte and mouse cardiac endothelial cell line
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Determine the effect of PI3Kα activation and inhibition on the susceptibility of cardiomyocytes to form the mPTP.
- <u>Aim 3:</u> Assess whether the overall results can potentially be extrapolated to humans, activating and inhibiting PI3K α in both mouse and human heart tissue.

Objective (8) - To preliminary investigate PI3Kβ activation (Chapter 11)

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Demonstrate Akt phosphorylation in response to PI3K6 activation using SDF1α in mouse isolated Langendorff-perfused hearts
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Demonstrate Akt phosphorylation in response to PI3K6 activation using SDF1 α in a mouse cardiac endothelial cell line

Chapter 3 GENERAL RESEARCH METHODS

3.1 Experimental use of animals

All experiments described within this thesis were performed at The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute, University College London, and carried out under the Home Office guidelines for the Animals (Scientific Procedure) Act 1986.

Animals used were male C57BL/6 mice (9-12 weeks, 24–28 g weight), all of them obtained pathogen-free from one supplier (Charles River, UK) and housed in 12 h light/dark cycles under identical conditions. All standard care was provided by the Biological Services Unit (BSU) at University College London (UCL). Before performing a given experiment, each animal was inspected for any adverse features, such as reduced weight gain or piloerection, and subsequently excluded before randomization if signs of not well-being.

The mouse model was chosen due to its value to elucidate the cellular mechanisms underlying those cardioprotective therapies being studied (234). Furthermore, the use of this species allows both a pharmacological and genetic approach to be undertaken. Deleting or over-expressing specific components of those signalling pathways involved in cardioprotecion, allows us also to identify specific gene products. However, interpretation of these results should be taken cautiously given that other genes may be either silenced or upregulated in compensation. In contrast, a pharmacological approach is a more translational means to study not only mechanisms, but also potential drug applications. Nevertheless, drug pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics should also be considered when interpreting the results. Overall, the potential use of both approaches in combination was the central reason to choose this animal model. In the end, it was not possible to obtain transgenic mice overexpressing PI3K α from the Cancer Institute at UCL, hence this thesis is based on a pharmacological approach. To date, the colony of these transgenic mice (activated p110 α colony) is being expanded and they will hopefully be available in the near future.

A variety of experimental models were used in this thesis, which are described in more detail in the following sections of this chapter. The specific experimental protocols are described in the relevant chapters.

3.2 Drugs

The Table 3-1 below summarizes the pharmacologic treatments being used across this thesis.

Drug	Company (catalog number)	Concentration
Wortmannin	Merck Millipore (681675)	100 nM
Insulin	Sigma Aldrich (10278)	100 nM
	Signa-Alunch (19276)	5 mU/L
Alpelisib (BYL719)	Selleck Chemicals (S2814-SEL)	1 and 3 μM
G326	Genentech Inc. (N/A)	1 and 3 μM
Human SDF-1α	Miltenyi Biotec Inc. (130-093-997)	25 and 100 ng/mL

Table 3-1: Overview of drugs and their relevant concentration

The Table 3-2 below summarizes the selectivity of the PI3K α inhibitors used in this thesis. BYL719 is a potent and selective PI3K α inhibitor, which has demonstrated to be reversible with its interruption. Its characteristics are fully described elsewhere (235,236). GDC-0326 is also a very selective PI3K α inhibitor and its properties are fully described by Heffron et al. (237).

	BYL719 (Stratech Scientific) (236)	G-326 (Genentech) (237)
ΡΙ3Κα	4.6 nM	0.2 nM
ΡΙ3Κβ	1156 nM	133 nM
ΡΙ3Κδ	290 nM	20 nM
ΡΙ3Κγ	250 nM	51 nM

Table 3-2: Selectivity of PI3Kα inhibitors

This table illustrates the IC_{50} (concentration producing 50% inhibition of the enzymatic activity) of PI3K α inhibitors demonstrating isoform specificity (236, 237).

Ex vivo isolated perfused mouse heart model of global IRI

This ex vivo model is also known as Langendorff-perfused model (238).

3.2.1 Preparation of hearts for perfusion

Mice were given terminal anaesthesia with an intra-peritoneal injection of 60 mg/kg sodium pentobarbitone (Animalcare, UK). Heparin 100 IU was co-administered to prevent thrombus formation in either coronary arteries or inside the ventricles. Once consciousness was lost, both forelimbs and the left hind limb were secured with small tape strips. Surgery was started after confirming the abolishment of the right hind limb withdrawal reflex to pain.

Upon the confirmation of deep anaesthesia, the heart was then harvested and immediately submerged in ice-cold modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer (composed of 118 mmol/L NaCl, 25 mmol/L NaHCO₃, 11 mmol/L glucose, 4.7 mmol/L KCl, 1.22 mmol/L MgSO₄.7H₂O, 1.21 mmol/L KH₂PO₄, and 1.84 mmol/L CaCl₂.2H₂O). A timer was started immediately to record the time taken for the heart from being removed to being perfused. The remaining lung and mediastinal tissues were dissected in the dish filled with ice-cold buffer. The heart was then swiftly cannulated with a 21-gauge cannula and fixed to the cannula with a 5/O silk tie, to be thereafter transferred to the murine Langendorff perfusion rig and be perfused at 80 mmHg pressure. Great care was taken to avoid air bubbles in the cannula and the Langendorff apparatus, as well as to shorten as much as possible the time to cannulation to avoid ischaemic preconditioning due to perfusion delay (239).

3.2.2 Langendorff perfusion

The principles of isolated mouse perfusion were described by Langendorff in 1895 (240). The heart is perfused retrogradely through an aortic cannula, inserted above the sinuses of Valsalva. The aortic valves are forced closed as they remain in diastole by the weight of the perfusate column, therefore allowing the buffer to flow and irrigate the coronary vasculature to be eventually drained via the coronary sinus of the right atria. Perfusate pressure can be maintained either via constant pressure (gravity from a fixed

height reservoir) or via constant flow (peristaltic pump). Using this perfusion technique, a heart may be maintained with oxygenated buffer for hours (241).

Heart isolation and Langendorff perfusion were carried out with filtered modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer (see previous section for composition) aerated with a mixture of O_2 (95%) and CO_2 (5%) in order to maintain pH at 7.42 ± 0.3, as previously described (238). The pH was checked at regular intervals using a blood gas analyser (ABL90 FLEX). In the experiments described in this thesis, perfusion took place at constant hydrostatic pressure (~80 mm Hg) using a set height column of fluid above the cannulated heart.

The temperature of the circulating perfusion buffer was adjusted in order to maintain the myocardium at 37.0 ± 0.5 °C. A heated glass water jacket were used to assist in controlling any smaller temperature fluctuations of the heart. Besides, the temperature was maintained along the entire protocol by submerging the heart in an organ bath containing anoxic modified Krebs solution at 37° C, in order to avoid protect the heart through a cold-conditioning phenomenon (135,242,243).

After commencing retrograde aortic perfusion hearts were allowed to stabilise for 20 min. Pre-defined exclusion criteria were checked during this period (see Table 3-3), before starting with the experimental protocol.

Global ischaemia was achieved with the cessation of coronary flow by switching off the perfusion circuit. In a similar way, switching the tap leading to the heart changes the source of perfusate from modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer to that containing the drug of interest – i.e. PI3K α inhibitors. Figure 3-1 provides an overview of the Langendorff apparatus and the components needed for drug administration.

Several endpoints may be used in the isolated perfused mouse heart model of global IRI, such as myocardial IS, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release, left ventricular pressure and electrical activity (244). In this thesis, the Langendorff was used either to collect proteins or to perform IRI experiments. In the latter case, the endpoints being studied were myocardial IS and LDH release.

MEASUREMENT	INCLUSION CRITERIA
Time from extracting the heart to perfusion	≤ 4 min
Coronary flow	1.0 – 6.0 mL/min
Temperature	37.0 ± 0.5 °C

Table 3-3: Inclusion criteria for isolated hearts undergoing Langendorff perfusion

These parameters were checked during a stabilisation – if these criteria was not meet the heart was excluded from further study.



Figure 3-1: Overview of the Langendorff isolated perfused mouse heart apparatus

The top half of the illustration (panel A) depicts the Langendorff setup components needed for drug administration: a reservoir containing Krebs for normal perfusion, a reservoir used to contain drug of choice are both, the outlet tubes from both of reservoirs and the tap to switch between them (all of the indicated by arrows).

The bottom half of the illustration (panel B) shows a cannulated mouse heart through the aorta, on Langendorff apparatus. The heart is perfused with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer and submerged in the same buffer in the organ bath at 37 °C.

3.3 Analysis of Infarct size

After global normothermic ischaemia and reperfusion, IS was determined by injecting 5 mL of 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) in phosphate buffered saline through the aortic cannula and incubating the heart for 10 minutes at 37°C in order to demarcate the infarcted (white) versus viable (red) tissue (245). After the incubation, the heart was weighed and then frozen overnight at -20°C. Following this, it was sectioned perpendicular to the long axis into 5-7 sections > 1mm thick and the slices transferred into 10% neutral formalin buffer for 1 h. Heart slices were afterwards compressed between two Plexiglas plates and scanned using an Epson Perfection V100 Photo scanner with its corresponding Epson software. Images were taken and coded in order to blind the analyser. Planimetry analysis using Image J version 1.47 (NIH, Bethesda, MD) was carried out to accurately quantify the percentage IS in each heart as a proportion of the total heart volume.

TTC staining method has been validated against the gold-standard histological assessment of necrosis in the early phase following an AMI (246). Figure 3-2 depicts an example of heart sliced TTC staining.

Image: state state

A. Control heart

Figure 3-2: Examples of heart 2,3,5-triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) staining

Infarcted tissue is white, whilst viable tissue was stained in red.

3.4 Measurement of LDH activity

LDH is an unbound intracellular enzyme localized in the cytosol, released to the extracellular compartment by sarcolemmal membrane damage. LDH is thereafter a commonly used as a surrogate marker of cellular injury in cardiovascular research(247–249).

To study LDH activity in the isolated perfused mouse heart model, samples of coronary perfusate were collected and stored in ice until the end of the experiment, avoiding freezing at -80 °C (250). Lactate activity in the perfusate was determined by means of a commercially available assay kit (CytoTox 96[®] Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay, Promega, UK).

The CytoTox 96[®] Assay quantitatively measures LDH with a 30-minute coupled enzymatic assay, which results in the conversion of a tetrazolium salt (INT) into a red formazan product. The amount of colour formed is proportional to the number of dead cells. Visible wavelength absorbance data are collected using a standard 96-well plate reader at an absorbance of 490 nm (FLUOstar Omega microplate reader, BMG Labtech).

The general chemical reactions of the CytoTox 96[®] Assay are as follows:



A dose-response curve with LDH positive control provided by the kit (and gradually diluted with PBS) was constructed to infer LDH concentration from the absorbance arbitrary units. The measured concentration of LDH was corrected for coronary flow and heart weight, according to previous studies (244,248,251). Thus, it was calculated as the product of effluent concentrations (pg x mL⁻¹) x coronary flow (ml x min⁻¹ x g⁻¹) [LDH concentration x coronary effluent / weight] and consequently expressed as pg x g⁻¹ x min⁻¹.

3.5 In vivo murine model of regional IRI

These experiments aimed to corroborate one specific observation found in the *ex vivo* isolated heart model (role of PI3K α in the IPC mediator phase) and were performed by Dr David He (postdoctoral research fellow at the Hatter Cardiovascular Institute). I contributed with the experimental design, statistical analysis and critical interpretation of the data.

The primary endpoint of this *in vivo* mouse model of regional IRI was myocardial IS. Briefly, C57Bl/6 mice were anaesthetized by intraperitoneal injection of 80 mg/kg pentobarbitone at a concentration of 20 mg/ml in 0.9% (w/v) saline and maintained at 36.5 \pm 0.5°C on a heating mat. Surgery was started after confirming the abolishment of pedal and tail reflexes. Mice were intubated using a 19G cannula and ventilated with room air using a MiniVent, type 845, Small Animal Ventilator (Harvard Apparatus, Kent, UK), at a flow rate of 1.0 l/min with 2 cm H₂O PEEP, stroke volume 200 µl at 130 strokes/min. All mice were subjected to the occlusion of the left anterior descending (LAD) for 40 min, which was verified by ST elevation in the electrocardiogram and by the presence of hypokinesia and pallor in the heart, followed by 2 h reperfusion. The animals were then killed by exsanguination via thoracic aorta. Afterwards, myocardial IS was measured by tetrazolium staining and expressed as a percentage of area at risk, determined using Evan's blue.

3.6 Isolation of adults mouse cardiomyocytes

Adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes were isolated using liberase heart digestion as described previously (252,253). Before proceeding with the heart removal, the perfusion buffer was prepared (consisted of NaCl 113 mmol/L, KCl 4.7 mmol/L, KH₂PO₄ 0.6 mmol/L, Na₂HPO₄ 0.6 mmol/L, MgSO₄-7H₂O 1.2 mmol/L, NaHCO₃ 12 mmol/L, KHCO₃ 10 mmol/L, Hepes Na salt 0.922 mmol/L, Taurine 30 mmol/L, 2,3-butanedione-monoxime 10 mmol/L and Glucose 5.5 mmol/L) and stirred for 20 min. Its pH was corrected to 7.4 before filter sterilizing into a sterile bottle. The pre-heated isolation rig was then filled with perfusion buffer and air bubbles were carefully removed from the tubing. The solution was lightly bubbled with pure O₂ in the reservoir.

Once the Langendorff setup was ready, hearts were excised (as explained in section 3.2.1) and cannulated through the aorta before retrograde perfusion on the Langendorff apparatus at 37 $^{\circ}$ C. Following perfusion with buffer for 5 min to clear residual blood, enzymatic digestion was performed using 30 mL perfusion buffer with 5 mg Liberase (Roche, UK) and 12.5 µmol/L CaCl₂ for about 20 min. The perfusion rate provided by the peristaltic pump was 3 mL/min. During this 20 min period, several parameters were used to monitor the digestion, such as the progressive paling and swelling of the heart, as well as the softness of the tissue, which was assessed by touch.

At the end of enzymatic digestion, the heart was removed and placed in a single well dish where both ventricles were isolated and mechanically disaggregated in a gentle manner. A Pasteur pipette was used to tease apart and mix the remaining non-fully digested tissue. The resulting cell suspension was filtered through a mesh and transferred for enzymatic inactivation to a tube with 10 mL of stopping buffer (perfusion buffer supplemented with fetal bovine serum 10%), and Ca²⁺ was gradually re-introduced with a three-step increasing CaCl₂ concentration. Cells were allowed to pellet for 10 min after each CaCl₂ addition until all Ca²⁺ was re-introduced. Cells were then re-suspended in M199 (Invitrogen, UK) supplemented with L-Carnitine (2 mmol/L), Creatine (5 mmol/L), Taurine (5 mmol/L), Penicillin (100 IU/mI), Streptomycin (100 IU/mI) and 25 µmol/L Blebbistatin.

3.7 Mouse cardiac endothelial cell culture

Immortalized Mouse Cardiac Endothelial Cell (MCEC) are derived from microvascular neonatal mouse cardiac endothelial cells.

MCECs were stored at -80 °C, and after thawing were cultured with Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum. To passage the cells, a PBS-wash removed all culture medium, dead cells and debris before the addition of 1-2 mL of 0.25% trypsin, incubated at 37 °C for 2-3 minutes. Once the adhered MCECs were displaced, the cells were re-suspended in 10 mL of DMEM to inactivate the trypsin. When being seeded for experiments, MCECs were cultured at 80-90% confluence in supplemented DMEM. The cells were kept in an incubator at 37 °C, with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂.

MCECs were used to quantify the protein levels of PI3K α and β as well as to study their response to the pharmacological activation and inhibition of PI3K α .

3.8 Experiments in human right atrial tissue

Human atrial tissues were collected from Barts Heart Centre at St Bartholomew's Hospital. The study received Local Research Ethics Committee approval (REC No. 00/0275) and was carried out in accordance with the University College London Hospitals NHS Trust guidelines. All patients were provided with a Patient Information Sheet and a verbal explanation of the study, in line with Good Clinical Practice guidelines. All patients provided written informed consent and were free to participate in the Barts Cardiovascular Registry.

All patients were aged 18–80 years and their baseline characteristics were recorded upon consent. Patients with impaired renal or ventricular function, dilated left atria or a history of arrhythmias or on rhythm stabilising medications were excluded.

Right atrial appendage samples were harvested from patients undergoing cannulation for cardiopulmonary bypass either for coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) or valve replacement. Once the cardiac surgeon provided the atrial tissue, samples were

placed in ice-cold, oxygenated modified Tyrode's buffer (NaCl 118.5 mM, KCl 4.8 mM, NaHCO₃ 24.8 mM, KH₂PO₄ 1.2 mM, MgSO₄.7H₂O 1.44 mM, CaCl₂.2H₂O 1.8 mM, glucose 10.0 mM, pyruvic acid 10 mM, pH 7.4) and transferred promptly to The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute.

Right atrial appendage samples were used for both assessing the basal protein expression of PI3K α and β and undertaking a pharmacologic approach with both PI3K α activator and inhibitor.

3.9 Analysis of protein levels

3.9.1 Obtaining protein samples from heart tissue and protein quantification

Mouse hearts and human right atrial tissues were obtained according to the relevant protocol and prepared for Western blot analysis. Tissue samples were snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen after their collection and stored at -80°C until further processing. The tissue was homogenized in protein lysis buffer, containing Tris pH 6.8 [100 mM], NaCl [300 mM], NP40 0.5%, Halt protease inhibitor cocktail, Halt phosphatase inhibitor cocktail, 5 mM EDTA (all from Thermo Scientific, UK) and adjusted to pH 7.4. One mL of lysis buffer per mg of tissue was used to obtain an adequate protein concentration. Homogenates were incubated on ice for at least 15 min and gently vortexed before proceeding to a brief sonication to eventually centrifuge the sample at 4°C to remove debris and DNA.

Protein content was then determined using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay reagent (Sigma, UK) and protein levels corrected accordingly to ensure equal protein loading. Briefly, this 96-well plate colorimetric assay uses bicinchoninic acid and copper sulphate at ratio of 50:1. A set of bovine serum albumin (BSA) at known concentrations was used as protein standard samples. Two µl of each sample was then added into 198 µl of BCA/copper sulphate mix per well and incubated for 15 minutes at 37°C. FLUOstar Omega microplate reader (BMG Labtech, UK) was used to measure the read out of the samples. The protein concentrations of the samples were then interpolated by plotting the absorbance results against the protein standard curve. From this, the samples were

accordingly diluted to load the same amount of protein in each gel well. If not specified in subsequent sections, 25 μ g was the standard protein load.

NuPAGE LDS Sample Buffer (4X) (Thermofisher Scientific, UK) plus 5% β mercaptothanol were added and the samples were denaturated by heating to 90-100 °C for 10 min. Prepared samples were either run immediately or stored at – 20 °C until use.

3.9.2 Western blot analysis

NuPAGE Novex 10% Bis-Tris protein gels (Thermofisher scientific, UK) were used for electrophoresis using the Mini Protean III system (Bio-Rad, UK) filled with NuPAGE[™] MOPS SDS running buffer (Thermo Scientific, UK). The first lane of each gel was loaded with 6 µL molecular weight marker (Precision Plus Protein[™] Dual Color Standards, from Bio-Rad, UK) and the remaining lanes were loaded with the samples of interest under the same protein concentration. The chamber was surrounded by ice and the gel was run first at 65 V for 10 min, and thereafter at 100 V for 2-3 h.

Using wet transfer in a Bio-Rad Mini Trans-Blot, proteins were transferred either onto Immobilon-FL hydrophobic Polyvinylidene Fluoride (PVDF) transfer membrane (MerckMillipore, UK), or onto nitrocellulose blotting membrane (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, UK). Prior to use, membranes were activated for 2 min with 100% methanol or transfer buffer (containing 25 mM Tris base, 200 mM glycine and 20% methanol) respectively. The transfer was run at 100 V and 0.35 mA for 1h and confirmed visualizing protein ladder transfer.

Membranes were blocked for 1 h by incubating in 2.5% bovine serum albumin/PBS tween with gentle rocking, and subsequently incubated with appropriate primary antibodies at 4 °C overnight. The antibodies used and their concentrations are outlined in Table 3-4. The day after, the membrane was probed with secondary antibodies at 1:10000 dilution in 50% PBS tween and 50% Odyssey[®] Blocking Buffer (LI-COR, UK) for 1h with gentle rocking. Usually, green fluorescent antibodies were used for loading protein and the red antibodies for the protein of interest. Levels of protein were finally quantified using the Odyssey imaging system from Li-Cor Biosciences (Image Studio Lite Ver 5.2).

Antibody	Company (reference)	Concentration
Akt	Cell Signaling Technology (#9272)	(1:1000)
Phospho-Akt (Ser473)	Cell Signaling Technology (#9271)	(1:1000)
Phospho-Akt (Thr308)	Cell Signaling Technology (#2965)	(1:1000)
p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2)	Cell Signaling Technology (#9102)	(1:1000)
Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204)	Cell Signaling Technology (#9101)	(1:1000)
GSK-3β	Cell Signaling Technology (#9315)	(1:1000)
Phospho-GSK-3β (Ser9)	Cell Signaling Technology (#5558)	(1:1000)
Stat3	Cell Signaling Technology (#9139)	(1:1000)
Phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705)	Cell Signaling Technology (#9145)	(1:1000)
Phospho-PTEN (Ser380)	Cell Signaling Technology (#9551)	(1:1000)
GAPDH (Loading Control)	Abcam (#9484)	(1:20000)
ΡΙ3Κ p110α	Cell Signaling Technology (#4249)	(1:1000)
ΡΙ3Κ 110β	Santa Cruz (sc-602).	(1:500)

Table 3-4: Summary of antibodies and concentrations used for Western blot analyses

This table presents each of the antibodies used in this thesis, including the company, the catalogue number in brackets and the relevant concentration.

3.10 Assay of mPTP opening

The sensitivity of the mPTP to opening was assayed using a well-characterized cellular model of reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated mPTP opening(109). Briefly, tetra-methyl rhodamine methyl ester (TMRM, from S Sigma-Aldrich, UK), a lipophilic cation which is very positively charged, accumulates selectively into the negatively charged mitochondrial matrix. At high concentration (such as 12μ M), TMRM becomes quenched at the mitochondria. Constant confocal laser stimulation (at 543 nm wavelength) of TMRM generates ROS within the mitochondria thereby simulating mitochondrial ROS production during reperfusion. After few minutes of continual confocal laser scanning, ROS induces mPTP opening, producing a drop in mitochondrial membrane potential and resulting in the dequenching of TMRM, which in turn relocates to the cytoplasm (254). This leak of the dye from the mitochondria to the cytosol increases the detectable fluorescent signal, which is used as surrogate marker for mPTP opening.

Adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes were isolated as previously described in section 3.6. Live cardiomyocytes were incubated with the fluorescent dye TMRM at 12 μ M for 15 min in Hepes based recording buffer (NaCl156 mM, KCl 3 mM, MgSO₄.7H₂0 2 mM, K₂HPO₄ 1.25 mM, CaCl₂ 2 mM, HEPES 10 mM and D-Glucose 10 mM; pH 7.4), then washed and randomly treated for 15 min with the relevant intervention (see Chapter 10). Once washed for second time, mouse cardiomyocytes were stimulated with laser illumination and imaged using confocal microscopy. The time to reach half peak signal was recorded in seconds and compared across groups.

3.11 Design and statistical analysis of experiments

All research was performed and recorded according to main guidelines and other recommendations (255,256). Briefly, the objectives and/or hypotheses to be tested were always pre-specified. If possible, positive and negative controls were added to each set of experiments (also respecting the principles of the 3Rs: Replacement, Reduction and Refinement). Sample calculations for those experiments aimed to measure myocardial IS or mPTP opening were estimated beforehand and reported accordingly in each relevant

chapter, whilst the sample size for Western blot studies were left in line with convention (n=5/group for most of the experiments). Statistical methods were pre-specified, ensuring compliance with the original design and statistical plan (257). All image assessment were performed blinded when possible. All results were reported according to the ARRIVE (Animal Research: Reporting of In Vivo Experiments) guidelines, which consists of a checklist of 20 items describing the minimum information that all scientific publications reporting research using animals should include (258).

Data is presented as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM). The statistical test used to analyse the results of a given experiment is reported in the relevant chapter. Normal distribution of the data was tested for each dataset. N values are either displayed in the figure or described in the figure legend for each experiment. Statistical significance was reported if P<0.05 using the following nomenclature: *P<0.05, **P<0.01 and ***P<0.001. A P>0.05 was reported as non-significant (ns).

IBM SPSS Statistics software, v.20.0 (IBM Corp Armonk, New York), STATA software, version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas) and GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California) were used to perform both the analyses and the graphics.
Chapter 4 CHARACTERTERISATION OF THE ISOLATED PERFUSED MOUSE HEART MODEL OF GLOBAL ISCHAEMIA-REPERFUSION INJURY

Most of the content of this chapter has been already published as a single piece of research:

Rossello X, Hall AR, Bell RM, Yellon DM. Characterization of the Langendorff Perfused Isolated Mouse Heart Model of Global Ischaemia–Reperfusion Injury: Impact of Ischaemia and Reperfusion Length on Infarct Size and LDH Release J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther. 2016;21: 286-295

4.1 Introduction

The Langendorff isolated perfused mouse heart is an invaluable tool in cardiovascular research, particularly for assessing the cardioprotective efficacy of novel therapies (259). Though technically challenging, the mouse Langendorff model has become particularly popular in the last decades due to the availability of transgenic mice either overexpressing or disrupting specific gene products, and therefore providing a powerful tool to elucidate the role of signalling cascades involved in IRI.

Thorough characterization and validation of this ex-vivo model of IRI is an essential but frequently neglected step prior to important conclusions being drawn from the data they generate. Although the *ex vivo* model has excellent inter-operator reproducibility provided consistent ischaemia and reperfusion times are applied (259,260), it is worth noting that different lengths of the ischaemia and reperfusion periods vary considerably between different laboratories (261–263). Such discrepancies emphasise the need to better characterise the perfused murine model, even more considering that such methodological details have rarely been published (244,251).

Although the impact of the ischaemia duration on final IS is well-described, little is known about the optimal duration of the reperfusion period. A small number of studies have attempted to characterise the effects of ischaemia and reperfusion length as independent variables in the isolated mouse heart model(251,264,265), concentrating on either varying the length of ischaemia or the length of reperfusion. Even fewer studies have monitored the injury wavefront by measuring the release of surrogate biomarkers, such as LDH, which compared to infarct staining, offers the advantage of tracking the injury along the time line within the same heart.

In order to study the IRI associated with acute myocardial infarction, a reproducible model of injury and measurement is required. This chapter focuses upon the characterization of the *ex vivo* Langendorff-perfused mouse heart model of global IRI to select a suitable protocol upon which cement further investigations within this thesis.

4.2 Research objectives and aims

Can myocardial infarct size be modified by both ischaemia and reperfusion length? Is LDH an adequate surrogate for myocardial infarct size?

Hypothesis

Myocardial infarct size will be larger with the increase in both the duration of the ischaemic insult and its subsequent reperfusion. LDH will be correlated with infarct size, adding the possibility to monitor the wave of myocardial injury in an isolated perfused mouse heart model of global ischaemia-reperfusion injury

Experimental aims

The overall aim was to select a protocol of ischaemia/reperfusion for subsequent experiments related to the thesis. In order to provide a step-by-step description of the Langendorff perfused isolated mouse heart model, a factorial experimental design using two endpoints was developed with the following aims:

<u>Aim 1:</u> Determine whether infarct size is dependent on both the duration of ischaemia and length of the reperfusion period

 Subject mouse Langendorff to ischaemia-reperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.

- <u>Aim 2:</u> Describe the lactate dehydrogenase release pattern during reperfusion as an index of injury
 - Collect coronary effluent samples from mouse hearts subjected to 9 protocols of IRI and measure LDH concentration using a commercially available assay kit.
- <u>Aim 3:</u> Describe the impact of Ischaemic preconditioning on IS and lactate dehydrogenase release after long reperfusion
 - Collect coronary effluent samples from mouse hearts subjected to IPC 4 cycles in 3 different protocols of IRI and measure LDH concentration using a commercially available assay kit.
- Aim 4: Determine any correlation between IS and lactate dehydrogenase release
 - Plot myocardial infarct size results against area under the curve (AUC) LDH release using the appropriate statistical test.

4.3 Methods and Materials

4.3.1 Study protocol

A total of 65 male C57BL/6 mice (9-12 weeks, 24–28 g weight) were used, although 8 were excluded before randomization as they were outside pre-defined exclusion criteria. Before starting the study protocol, 57 animals were allocated according to a randomized complete block design.

The study was divided into three consecutive parts, as illustrated in Figure 4-1:

 Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on IS (Figure 4-1A). Thirty-six mice were divided into 9 groups in a 3x3 factorial design, including three categories of ischaemic length (25, 35 and 45 minutes) and three periods of reperfusion length (60, 120 and 180 minutes);each group containing 4 mice. LDH release during reperfusion were measured in coronary effluent aliquots sampled at selected time points in mice that underwent 180 min of reperfusion (n=12), in order to determine the release pattern, AUC and peak of LDH.

- 2) Effect of ischaemia length on IS and release kinetics of LDH on preconditioned hearts (Figure 4-1B). Twelve mice were subjected to ischaemic IPC at different ischaemic periods lasting for 25, 35 or 45 minutes (n=4 per group). IPC consisted of 4 cycles of 5 minutes of global ischaemia and 5 minutes of reperfusion prior to index the ischaemia.
- 3) IS and LDH assessment in negative and positive controls (Figure 4-1C). A negative control (n=3) was performed in order to assess the final IS and the surrogate LDH release under no ischaemic insult and maximum length of reperfusion (180 minutes). Two positive controls were allocated into two groups (60 and 180 minutes of reperfusion, n=3 per group), in order to assess the effect of reperfusion length on final IS after a maximal prolonged ischaemic insult (90 minutes), designed to mediate 100% IS and maximal LDH release.

The sample size for groups 1 and 2 was determined for IS as primary outcome (expressed as a percentage of the global myocardium at risk), based on previous results from our laboratory (266,267).

4	60' 25' 60'	
4	<u>60' 25' 120'</u>	
4	60' 25' 180'	
4	60 55 60	
4	60' 35' <u>120'</u>	
4	60' 35' 180'	
	60' (5'	
	80 45 80	
4	60' 45' 120'	
4	60' 45' 180'	
	4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

LDH N A) Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on infarct size and LDH release

B) Effect of IPC on different ischaemia lengths on infarct size and LDH release

×	4	25'	180'	
×	4	35′	180′	
×	4	45'	180'	

C) Infarct size and LDH assessment in negative and positive controls



Figure 4-1: Study design

Overview of the study including subgroups and experimental protocols. The black cross indicates that LDH samples were collected. A black box represents a period of ischaemia and a white box represents a period of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg. Abbreviations: IPC, ischaemic preconditioning; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase.

4.3.2 Langendorff-isolated perfused mouse heart

Hearts were retrogradely perfused on a murine Langendorff perfusion apparatus at 80 mmHg pressure with filtered modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer (see section 0 in Methods for further details). After observing for exclusion criteria in an initial stabilization period of 20 min, the hearts were subjected to the experimental protocols, as illustrated in Figure 4-1.

4.3.3 Myocardial infarct size

After global normothermic ischaemia, IS was determined by injecting 5 mL of TTC in phosphate buffered saline (see Methods section 3.3 for further details).

4.3.4 Release of LDH

LDH was measured for dynamic monitoring of cellular damage with the experiments lasting 180 minutes of reperfusion. Coronary effluent samples were collected at 5, 10 and 15 minutes from start of reperfusion, and then every 15 minutes until minute 180. A total of 14 samples were collected per heart. The flow rate was measured each time a LDH sample was collected. The measured concentration was corrected for coronary flow and heart weight, according to previous studies (244,248,251). The

Table 4-1 provide the raw data on the basis of which the adjusted LDH was calculated. Further details can be found in Methods, section 3.4.

	25 minutes (I)				35 minutes (I)			45 minutes (I)				Controls				
	Contro	ol (N=4)	IPC (N=4)	Contro	l (N=4)	IPC (N=4)	Contro	ol (N=4)	IPC ((N=4)	0 minutes (N=3) (I))	
Weight	0.13:	±0.01	0.12	±0.00	0.14:	±0.01	0.13±0.00 0.14±0.01 0.13±0.01		0.11±0.00		0.11±0.00		0.16±0.00			
Time	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR
5	1.0±0.22	2.0±0.38	0.5±0.09	2.9±0.18	1.0±0.32	1.7±0.20	1.0±0.21	2.2±0.24	1.3±0.15	1.8±0.11	0.7±0.19	2.1±0.19	0.0±0.00	2.7±0.20	6.9±0.73	0.4±0.13
10	1.0±0.18	1.8±0.23	0.5±0.14	2.9±0.30	1.3±0.39	1.6±0.23	0.9±0.15	2.0±0.28	2.0±0.28	1.6±0.16	1.0±0.23	2.0±0.20	0.0±0.00	3.4±0.30	6.0±1.12	0.5±0.16
15	1.2±0.15	1.6±0.24	0.6±0.27	2.2±0.16	1.4±0.38	1.5±0.22	0.9±0.12	1.9±0.24	2.4±0.42	1.5±0.14	1.0±0.19	1.8±0.19	0.0±0.00	2.6±0.37	5.3±1.28	0.5±0.14
30	1.3±0.30	1.5±0.15	0.6±0.36	1.9±0.17	1.4±0.27	1.5±0.24	0.9±0.09	1.8±0.18	2.0±0.46	1.5±0.14	1.1±0.14	1.7±0.23	0.0±0.00	1.8±0.68	3.4±0.98	0.5±0.17
45	0.8±0.27	1.4±0.11	0.4±0.23	1.8±0.13	0.9±0.12	1.5±0.19	0.8±0.16	1.7±0.16	1.0±0.21	1.6±0.15	0.7±0.04	1.7±0.24	0.0±0.00	1.6±0.57	2.5±0.97	0.6±0.17
60	0.9±0.26	1.6±0.18	0.2±0.12	1.7±0.12	0.5±0.05	1.4±0.17	0.6±0.12	1.6±0.15	0.5±0.07	1.5±0.16	0.3±0.02	1.6±0.26	0.0±0.00	1.1±0.14	1.8±0.71	0.6±0.18
75	0.6±0.21	1.5±0.11	0.3±0.30	1.6±0.12	0.3±0.07	1.4±0.14	0.4±0.10	1.4±0.15	0.4±0.05	1.5±0.16	0.2±0.03	1.6±0.20	0.0±0.00	1.0±0.12	1.1±0.36	0.7±0.16
90	0.4±0.18	1.2±0.05	0.2±0.12	1.3±0.06	0.3±0.08	1.3±0.14	0.3±0.10	1.3±0.16	0.3±0.04	1.4±0.22	0.2±0.04	1.5±0.18	0.0±0.00	1.1±0.23	1.0±0.35	0.7±0.17
105	0.3±0.15	1.2±0.05	0.1±0.05	1.3±0.06	0.3±0.07	1.2±0.13	0.3±0.12	1.3±0.15	0.3±0.05	1.4±0.20	0.2±0.05	1.4±0.20	0.0±0.00	0.9±0.24	0.8±0.26	0.7±0.18

Table 4-1: LDH concentration, flow rate and weight in mice that underwent 180 minutes of reperfusion

	25 minutes (I)			35 minutes (I)			45 minutes (I)				Controls					
	Control (N=4)		IPC (N=4)	Contro	ol (N=4)	IPC (N=4)		Control (N=4)		IPC (N=4)		0 minutes (N=3) (I)		90 minutes (N=3) (I)	
Weight	0.13±0.01		0.12:	±0.00	0.14:	0.14±0.01		0.13±0.00		0.14±0.01		0.13±0.01		0.11±0.00		±0.00
Time	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR	LDH	FR
135	0.3±0.15	1.0±0.07	0.0±0.03	1.2±0.11	0.2±0.11	1.1±0.07	0.1±0.04	1.0±0.13	0.7±0.37	1.3±0.17	0.2±0.06	1.2±0.15	0.0±0.00	0.9±0.06	0.5±0.16	0.8±0.18
150	0.2±0.10	1.0±0.04	0.0±0.02	1.1±0.13	0.2±0.12	1.0±0.08	0.1±0.03	1.1±0.17	0.4±0.11	1.2±0.15	0.2±0.05	1.4±0.20	0.0±0.00	0.9±0.08	0.5±0.13	0.8±0.15
165	0.2±0.08	0.9±0.06	0.0±0.01	0.9±0.02	0.2±0.13	1.0±0.06	0.0±0.02	1.0±0.11	0.3±0.05	1.2±0.15	0.1±0.04	1.1±0.17	0.0±0.00	1.7±0.75	0.4±0.12	0.8±0.15
180	0.1±0.07	0.9±0.05	0.0±0.02	0.9±0.12	0.2±0.13	1.0±0.08	0.0±0.01	1.0±0.15	0.3±0.03	1.2±0.16	0.1±0.04	1.3±0.20	0.0±0.00	0.9±0.10	0.4±0.11	0.8±0.16

The LDH concentration was corrected for coronary flow and heart weight, according to previous studies(244,248,251). Thus, it was calculated as the product of effluent concentrations (pg x mL⁻¹) x coronary flow (ml x min⁻¹ x g⁻¹). This table provide the crude data on the basis of which the adjusted LDH was calculated.

Units: weight (g), time (min), LDH concentration (pg x mL⁻¹) and flow rate (ml x min⁻¹). Abbreviations: I, ischaemia; IPC, ischaemia preconditioning; LDH, lactate dehydrogense; FR, flow rate.

4.3.5 Factorial study design

A complete factorial design was used in order to assess the effect of two factors (the independent variables), known as ischaemia and reperfusion length and each one represented by three equally spaced categories (25, 35 and 45 min, and 60, 120 and 180 min, respectively), on the final IS measured by TTC staining (dependant variable). The observations were summarized in a two-way table (Table 4-2), where each entry is the mean of all observations and all combination of categories are represented equally (n=4). This harmonic design is useful to estimate the following paramenters (268):

- Estimate the separate effects on IS between different categories of one of the factors, but within the same category of the other factor, i.e. – to compare the IS between different ischaemia length within the 60 minutes of reperfusion length. These effects are represented by the pale grey boxes in the Table 4-2.
- 2) Estimate the main effect of each one of the factors, represented by the row and column averages shown in the margin of the Table 4-2 (highlighted in dark grey). The main effect of ischaemia (averaged over the three categories of reperfusion) was defined as the difference that can be observed with the row averages at the right of the Table 4-2, and vice versa with reperfusion (column averages at the bottom). In other words, it was estimated whether the effects of the two factors are additive and they are interacting independently of one another.
- 3) Calculate the interaction between both factors to be explored. The two-factor interaction *ischaemia x reperfusion* determines whether the effect of ischaemia is the same for all categories of reperfusion, that is whether the change of increasing ischaemia length is constant along the different reperfusion durations, and vice versa. Of note, the pre-specified sample was underpowered for this purpose.
- 4) Estimate the overall significance of a model (black box of the Table 4-2), formed by the two main effects and their interaction. The overall model is a simple equation, summarized as:

IS = (β_1) Ischaemia + (β_2) Reperfusion + (β_3) (*Ischaemia x Reperfusion*) + error

The final output of the equation is the amount of IS determined by the parameters included into the equation. Although this might seem very attractive, the extrapolation of such results should be taken cautiously, since only ischaemia duration and reperfusion length were considered as determinants of IS, whilst in the clinical setting other factors play an important role – i.e. presence of collaterals.

To summarise, although the degree of symmetry of our design offers a hierarchical model of multiple comparisons, the aim of this study was to assess the separate and main effects rather than the interaction effect and the model as a whole.

4.3.6 Statistical analyses

All values are presented at mean ± standard error of the mean. Normal distribution was assessed by means of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Linear trend test was used for comparisons on IS between groups (%), as well as to compare AUC and peak of LDH between groups. The interaction and the overall effect of the model were assessed by means of a general linear model. The Student's t test was used to compare IS (%) between control and IPC groups in the cohort of 180 minutes of reperfusion. Association between IS and peak or AUC LDH were analysed by the Pearson correlation coefficient test. A P-value <0.05 was considered significant. IBM SPSS Statistics software, v.20.0 (IBM Corp. Armonk, NY) was used for the main statistical analysis. STATA software, version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA) was used to generate the randomization sequence and to calculate and compare the AUC between groups. GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) was used to perform the graphics.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on IS measured by TTC staining

All the results obtained by the 3x3 factorial study are outlined in Table 4-2. In summary:

- The impact of ischaemic and reperfusion duration, as illustrated by the pale grey entries in the Table 4-2, show that there is a positive trend towards an increased IS when the ischaemia and reperfusion lengths are progressively prolonged. Table 4-2 reflects the consistency of the results in each of the six comparisons, showing how IS increased from the top-left of the Table 4-2 to the bottom-right. Figure 4-2 graphically illustrates the same trend.
- 2) The main effect of each one of the factors is represented by the row and column averages shown in the margin of the Table 4-2 (highlighted in dark grey). The length of ischaemia has an impact on the final IS independently of the length of reperfusion. In the same way, the length of reperfusion has also a systematic impact on the final IS in each of the ischaemia duration groups. In other words, IS increases significantly with the duration of ischaemia, irrespective of reperfusion length, and vice versa.
- 3) No interaction was observed between ischaemia and reperfusion (p=0.773), meaning that the effect of ischaemia and reperfusion lengths have an increasing but proportional impact in all categories as the length is increased, although the observed power to assess this interaction was poor (13.8%).
- 4) Finally, the overall model, including ischaemia length, reperfusion duration and their interaction significantly explains the dependent variable of the equation, which is myocardial IS (p=0.001).

Reperfusion length (min)

		60'	120'	180'	Row average	P-value
h (min)	25′	10.4 ± 4.4	18.7 ± 3.9	25.2 ± 4.9	18.1 ± 2.9	0.041
Ischaemia length	35′	18.7 ± 4.0	36.1 ± 7.2	44.9 ± 5.2	33.2 ± 4.4	0.009
	45'	31.6 ± 6.0	49.7 ± 7.6	58.7 ± 3.6	46.7 ± 4.6	0.011
	Column average	20.2 ± 3.7	34.8 ± 5.1	42.9 ± 4.8	32.7± 3.0	0.001
	P-value	0.013	0.029	0.001	<0.001	0.001

Table 4-2: Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on myocardial infarct size (%)

Each of the relevant numbers in the reperfusion to ischaemia two-way table corresponds to the mean percentage IS of 4 animals. Data is expressed as mean \pm standard error of the mean. The pale grey entries illustrates the separate effects, while the dark grey represents the main effects and the black colour illustrates the mean IS of all the animals and the P-value of the overall model.



Figure 4-2: Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on myocardial infarct size (%)

Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean ± SEM for infarct size (%) and circles represent individual animal data. Infarct size consistently increased with increasing durations of ischaemia and reperfusion in control hearts. Abbreviations: I, ischaemia; R, reperfusion.

4.4.2 LDH release after 180 minutes of reperfusion

LDH release during reperfusion was measured in mice that underwent 180 minutes of reperfusion (n=12). Figure 4-3 shows the LDH pattern release for each group of ischaemia length, as well as the AUC and the peak comparison between groups.

A progressive increase of LDH occurred during the first 10-15 minutes of reperfusion, followed by a progressive decline after reaching this peak. A consistent second LDH peak was observed at 60 minutes of reperfusion but only in the group of 25 minutes of ischaemia. At 90 minutes of reperfusion, a plateau release phase was observed in all groups.

Unlike IS measured by TTC staining, the AUC of the LDH did not differ significantly between groups. Nevertheless, the peak of the LDH was associated with the ischaemia length, meaning the greater the ischaemic duration, the greater the peak of LDH release.



Figure 4-3: Lactate dehydrogenase release during reperfusion in hearts under 180

minutes of reperfusion

Comparison between LDH release in hearts underwent different ischaemia lengths and 180 minutes of reperfusion. Each point represents four animals and is plotted with their mean and SEM. AUC and peak between groups were compared by mean of a linear trend test. Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve, LDH: lactate dehydrogenase.

4.4.3 Effect of IPC on IS and release kinetics of LDH

Twelve mice were subjected to IPC before different ischaemic periods lasting for 25, 35 or 45 minutes (n=4 per group), all of them underwent 180 minutes of reperfusion. Ischaemic preconditioning (4 cycles of 5 min of ischaemia and 5 min of reperfusion) resulted in reduction of infarct size in all ischaemic duration groups: 25 minute ischaemia (25.2±4.90 vs 11.9±1.99, p=0.045); 35 minute ischaemia (44.9±5.15 vs 25.6±6.91, p=0.066) and 45 minute ischaemia (56.7±3.63 vs 38.5±3.09, p=0.006) (Figure 4-4).

Pattern of LDH release, AUC and peak of LDH were compared in control and IPC hearts that underwent 180 minutes of reperfusion, as shown in Figure 4-5. Noteworthy, IPC significantly attenuated the AUC in the 25 minutes index ischaemia group, whilst in this group the peak showed a reduction towards significance in the IPC group compared to control. AUC and peak of LDH release were not different in statistical terms after IPC in both groups of 35 and 45 minutes of ischaemia.

4.4.4 Correlation analysis between LDH assessment with myocardial IS

In all mice that underwent 180 minutes of reperfusion (n=24), a correlation was used in order to evaluate the strength of the association between the IS measured by TTC staining and the AUC and peak of LDH.

Figure 4-6 shows the correlation between the AUC of LDH release and myocardial IS. Although the association was statistically significant (R = 0.664, p<0.001), the strength of the correlation was moderate. The relation between the LDH peak and myocardial IS was even weaker (r = 0.547, p=0.006).



Figure 4-4: Effect of ischaemia length and ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial

infarct size

IS was increased with increasing durations of ischaemia in both control and preconditioned hearts, although IPC systematically showed a lower IS at all ischaemia lengths. Abbreviations: I, ischaemia; IPC, ischaemic preconditioning, R, reperfusion.

A) Effect of IPC on LDH release after 45 min of ischaemia



B) Effect of IPC on LDH release after 35 min of ischaemia



C) Effect of IPC on LDH release after 25 min of ischaemia



Figure 4-5: Lactate dehydrogenase release during 180 minutes of reperfusion in control and IPC hearts

Comparison between LDH release in control and preconditioned hearts, allocated in different groups of ischaemia lengths. Each point represents four animals and is plotted with their mean and SEM. AUC and peak between groups were compared by a t test in each group. Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; IPC, ischaemic preconditioning; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase.





B) Correlation analysis between the peak of LDH and infarct size



Figure 4-6: Correlation analysis between LDH AUC and peak with myocardial infarct size

The scatter plot (n=24) shows a positive correlation between the AUC of LDH release and myocardial IS while a weaker association was found between LDH peak and IS. Abbreviations: AUC, area under the curve; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase.

4.4.5 IS and LDH assessment in negative and positive controls

Negative controls without index ischaemia (n=3), but after 4 hours and 45 minutes of Langendorff perfusion, presented an IS of 3.1 ± 0.51 %, with a small and constant release of LDH (AUC of 12.67 ± 0.67 and peak of 0.5 ± 0.16 pg x g⁻¹ x min⁻¹). These data are consistent with the anticipated slow deterioration of an isolated-perfused organ system, but demonstrate that perfusion alone does not represent a significant contribution to the final infarct size.

Positive controls that underwent 90 minutes of index ischaemia were allocated into two groups: mice under 60 minutes of reperfusion presented an IS of 58.9 \pm 3.85 %, whilst in mice with 180 minutes of reperfusion IS was 92.6 \pm 1.59%. The post-ischaemic enzyme leakage calculated in these mice was lower than any of the 25, 35 or 45 minutes of ischaemia index control groups (AUC=938.3 \pm 37.26; peak 16.7 \pm 2.80 pg x g⁻¹ x min⁻¹). Despite the absolute LDH release concentration being relatively high (see

Table 4-1), the coronary flow was further impaired, affecting the final result of the concentration adjusted by the coronary flow.

Perhaps somewhat paradoxically, post-ischaemic AUC enzyme leakage was not increased in the positive control, after 90 minutes of ischaemia. This might be explained as an artefact of the formula to calculate the LDH concentration: the longer the ischaemic duration, the lower the coronary flow rate during reperfusion. This was particularly prominent following 90 minutes of ischaemia, raising the possibility that LDH wash-out might be impaired following 90 minutes of infarction and the formula to adjust the LDH was highly affected by this denominator, reflecting an underestimated value when the flow rate is extremely low.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Main findings

This chapter describes important methodological aspects of the mouse *ex vivo* model of IRI and provide evidence that:

- 1) The percentage of myocardial IS measured by TTC staining depends both on duration of ischaemia and reperfusion lengths.
- After 180 minutes of reperfusion, there was no difference in the LDH release pattern or the AUC, although the peak of LDH was significantly different between groups.
- 3) After 180 minutes of ischaemia, IPC showed protection at different ischaemic lengths compared to control hearts in terms of IS, although there were no differences in the LDH release pattern. Only the 25 minute preconditioned hearts showed a reduction in the AUC and peak compared to their controls.
- AUC and peak of LDH have a positive correlation with myocardial IS, though it was not strong enough to be used as an accurate surrogate biomarker.

4.5.2 Effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length on IS measured by TTC staining

Using a 3x3 factorial design, this systematic approach shows a mutual impact of ischaemia and reperfusion length on myocardial IS in mice *ex vivo*. Only one previous study used a similar factorial design in order to study the interdependency of ischaemia and reperfusion in an *in vivo* mouse model (269). Compared to the one factor at a time approach of previous studies (248,251,265,270), the factorial design presents the advantage of streamlining the analysis of the impact of each different periods of ischaemia and reperfusion, as the results can be interpreted from two separate perspectives.

Myocardial infarct size, measured by TTC staining, is independently associated with the durations of both ischaemia and reperfusion. The fact that increasing the duration of index ischaemia increases the IS is well known and it is considered the main determinant of the IS in the clinical setting (6,10,25,28). More controversial is the observation that myocardial IS increases with prolonged periods of reperfusion. Some authors reported that 1 hour of reperfusion in a rat model was sufficient to demarcate infarct zones, with longer periods of reperfusion not adding further damage (270,271). Nevertheless, the majority of studies in different species published previously are in accordance with our finding (248,272). Of note, a plateau of IS was not reached, suggesting that even 180 minutes was not the maximum infarct size achievable. However, it should also be noted that other limitations are present with longer reperfusion periods in the Langendorff model, as the fate of the *ex vivo* heart is inevitable to die in the short-term.

At this point, a discussion about the optimal duration of ischaemia and reperfusion in experimental protocols is needed. Our results in Table 4-2 show consistent differences between protocols, which appear to be linear and quite equidistant, suggesting that any ischaemia/reperfusion duration protocol can be appropriate dependent upon the hypotheses one wishes to interrogate. To mimic the clinical scenario, where infarcts are typically comparatively small (around 20-30% of total left ventricular mass (178)), the use of an experimental infarction protocol that results in an equivalent injury might be appropriate to test an cardioprotective therapy that has already been experimentally demonstrated, while a protocol leading to larger infarcts, with a greater chance to reduce myocardial IS, might be useful to test a completely novel therapy in the experimental setting. Nevertheless, within 180 minutes of reperfusion, IPC was shown to be cardioprotective in both 25 and 45 minutes of ischaemia, and was shown also a trend towards significance in the 35 minutes of ischaemia, which might become significant if the sample size was increased. The demonstration of the effectiveness of IPC in the experimental groups tested means that it is possible to apply different index ischaemic protocols to the cardioprotective intervention being investigated, although Murry et al. demonstrated that IPC effectiveness is lost after too prolonged ischaemia in the in vivo canine model (33).

This systematic approach was not designed to establish the presence of an interaction between ischaemia and reperfusion and the results cannot be interpreted in this way since the observed power is too small. However, no extensive interaction is suspected since the absolute change in IS between different ischaemia and reperfusion lengths are quite parallel and constant.

4.5.3 LDH release after 180 minutes of reperfusion

The enhanced leakage of LDH following IRI was evaluated, showing the pattern, AUC and peak after different ischaemia lengths and following IPC.

The pattern of the LDH release presented an early peak at 10-15 minutes of reperfusion, followed by a progressive declining release until a plateau phase is reached at 90 minutes of reperfusion. This result contradicts a recent study by Botker's group showing a biphasic pattern of LDH release after ischaemia in isolated, perfused rat hearts, with the second phase modifiable by IPC (248). Despite the apparent disagreement between their observation (in rats) and the findings being presented in this chapter (in mice), Botker's group confirmed to us (personal communication, unpublished data) that they obtained similar results in the 35 and 45 minute index ischaemia in their studies with mice. We might speculate that this difference may purely be a species effect with the mouse having less coronary flow than the rat, therefore the increased wash-out period of LDH might blunt the second smaller peak of LDH release. In contrast to the monophasic pattern of LDH following either 35 or 45 minutes of ischaemia, a consistent bi-phasic LDH release pattern was observed following 25 minutes of global ischaemia in mouse, observing the second phase of release at 60 min reperfusion. Therefore it appears that the biphasic LDH release pattern, seen so clearly in the rat, is only observed in mouse heart following less injurious ischaemic insult durations. Why this might be the case is unclear, but may be an important observation when considering the use of AUC LDH as a surrogate for histological-based cell death assays.

In contrast to the AUC of LDH release, the peak of the LDH release curve was associated with the duration of ischaemia. The optimum sampling time point for peak LDH release in the evaluation of myocardial IRI has recently been proposed to be 60 minutes (270). In accordance, the LDH release time-course presented in this chapter revealed a major leakage occurring predominantly between 60-90 minutes in both controls and IPC treated hearts.

Curiously, despite IPC significantly attenuating IS as determined by TTC, no significant reduction of either AUC or peak of LDH following more prolonged (35 or 45 min) ischaemic lengths was found. Only following the less injurious 25 minute ischaemic insult a

significant attenuation of LDH AUC with IPC was observed, whilst the LDH peak fell just short of statistical significance. These observations are again consistent with previous reports demonstrating that enzyme efflux tends to match IS outcome following short ischaemic periods, but not following more injurious ischaemic insults (251).

4.5.4 LDH assessment and myocardial IS correlation – Is LDH a good surrogate marker of IS?

Development of models with various end-points of injury may result in a more comprehensive characterization of the myocardial insult, enabling a multi-endpoint approach. Tetrazolium staining is the most popular method to assess IS, and consequently to test the efficacy of cardioprotective therapies. Other surrogate end-points have been used – i.e. enzyme release, post ischaemic function recovery and arrhythmias assessment.

In this chapter, the LDH AUC demonstrated a better correlation than the LDH peak as a surrogate of myocardial IS, but only in experiments with a less injurious ischaemic duration. Moreover, the strength of the correlation was not enough to be comparable to an unequivocal endpoint such TTC staining, making LDH assessment unsuitable to be used as a biomarker to test cardioprotective therapies. From a technical point of view, the moderate correlation between IS and LDH AUC or peak could be explained as: 1) The considerable variability and large standard errors in absolute LDH concentration; 2) The dependence on coronary flow effluent; 3) The fact that LDH release occurs mostly within the first 90 min of reperfusion, making subsequent sample collection largely superfluous.

In my hands, IS was proportional to the duration of reperfusion. These data suggest that there is either evidence of on-going and accumulative "wave of reperfusion injury" in this model, or more likely, there is a problem with the methods being used to determine the infarct size. Given that the release of LDH appears to have largely abated after 90 minutes of reperfusion supports the latter explanation: TTC staining relies on the ability of dehydrogenase enzymes and cofactors in the tissue to react with tetrazolium salts to form a formazan pigment (245) and needs a sufficient period of wash-out. Following an ischaemic insult of 90 minutes, our results show a greater IS after 180 minutes of reperfusion length, compared to the IS after 60 minutes of reperfusion, suggesting that the

positively stained tissue is probably not healthy and may die later or that the wash-out did not take place yet or was not sufficient and as such gave a false positive result, although a "no-reflow" phenomenon cannot be excluded. In agreement with the literature (272), the longer the reperfusion period after an ischaemic insult, the more reliable the method becomes for discriminating between dead and viable tissue.

4.5.5 Study limitations

An isolated unloaded, ventricular empty mice heart model was used. Whether the same release pattern applied to other animal species and other models is unknown. The high heart rate of the mouse should be taken into account because it might have an impact on the wash-out and the subsequent TTC staining and calculation of LDH release.

No functional assessment was used in order to assess the effect of ischaemia and reperfusion length, avoiding potential manipulation injury. This might be considered as a limitation, since many groups use an intraventricular balloon in such studies. However it has been shown that an intraventricular balloon can influence pro-survival salvage pathways (273). Following the same rationale of avoiding any additional stress, no heart rhythm was recorded and consequently, no heart rate exclusion criteria was applied. Finally, the no-reflow phenomenon has been well reported in isolated heart models in which hearts are perfused only with crystalloid (42,274) and the fact TTC staining might not be reaching some no-reflow area cannot be discarded.

4.5.6 Conclusions

This chapter presents a thorough characterization of the Langendorff isolated perfused mouse heart following IRI. Myocardial IS measured by triphenyltetrazolium staining depends on both the duration of ischaemia and length of the reperfusion period. Thus, the longer the reperfusion length, the greater the infarct size, even after a prolonged ischaemic insult. Moreover, LDH assessment may not be the most reliable tool to assess infarct size and/or to examine cardioprotective effectiveness, at various times of ischaemia. Although any protocol could be actually chosen to perform subsequent experiments throughout my PhD, the 35 min ischaemia and 120 min reperfusion protocol was the one eventually selected. First, we ruled out those protocols causing "too little" infarct, as for the aim of this PhD was crucial to demonstrate the efficacy of IPC (and the involvement of its signalling pathways) and we needed enough tissue at risk to confer a meaningful protection. Second, we discarded those protocols resulting in a too impaired tissue, particularly those protocols with long reperfusion. Third, we preferred to keep at least 120 min of reperfusion, as it is still unknown whether there is an on-going wave of reperfusion injury. Based on this criteria, we selected a standard protocol of IRI, also well reported in the literature, of 35 min ischaemia and 2 h reperfusion.

Chapter 5 SELECTION OF IPC PROTOCOL

5.1 Background

Myocardial ischaemic preconditioning whereby non-lethal episodes of coronary occlusion do not cause tissue necrosis by themselves, but render protection to a subsequent lethal ischaemia/reperfusion insult, has been the object of intense research, resulting in over 10,000 publications in the literature (88). Most of this research has focused on describing the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in eliciting cardioprotection as well as on translating the protective effect to the clinical arena using other forms of ischaemic conditioning. In comparison, relatively little attention has been given to the assessment of the dose-response characteristics of IPC.

Dose-response characteristics of IPC have been investigated without much notice over the past 30 years. Some studies have sought to determine the "minimum" dose (translated in number and/or duration of cycles) of ischaemia/reperfusion transient episodes to confer cardioprotection. Other have studied the temporal relationship between the application of the protocol and the duration of its effect on the subsequent sustained insult – estimated in 2-3 h for the acute effect (275). Further, the consequences of overreaching the top threshold of the conditioning phenomenon when a large number of transient ischaemia/reperfusion cycles are applied, known as hyperconditioning, has also been studied (276).

Soon after the landmark publication by Murry *et al.* describing the IPC phenomenon (33), a study suggested that preconditioning was an all-or-nothing phenomenon, demonstrating protection when a single cycle was undertaken (277). Despite this first publication, most of the subsequent research papers suggest a steady graded phenomenon conferring summative protection by supplementary cycles (278), with a top limit where an excessive number of cycles can be associated with loss of protection (279). Moreover, the protection associated with IPC has been hypothesised to have a "trigger" threshold, and is therefore dependent on the combination of the number and duration of IPC cycles, which is translated in turn as whether this transient stimulus has been able to release sufficient

autocoids (or "triggers" of the three-step signalling process activated by IPC described in 1.5.1) to eventually activate downstream kinase cascades and confer protection.

Once having selected the IRI protocol as per Chapter 4, the focus was next upon the selection of the IPC protocol to be used in subsequent experiments, through the comparison between the application of 4 cycles of IPC (based on Murry's original publication) (33) with the minimum of 1 cycle algorithm.

5.2 Research objective and experimental aims

Can infarct size be reduced to the same extent when a protocol of 1 cycle IPC is compared with a 4 cycle protocol?

Hypothesis

4-cycle IPC protocol will further reduce myocardial infarct size when compared to a shorter protocol of 1-cycle IPC.

Experimental aims

The overall aim was to select a protocol of IPC for subsequent experiments related to the thesis. Below is an overview of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question of this chapter:

<u>Aim 1:</u> Compare the effect of 1-cycle vs 4-cycle IPC to protect the heart against ischaemia/reperfusion injury.

 Subject mouse Langendorff to ischaemia-reperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Compare the effect of 1-cycle vs 4-cycle IPC to activate the survival kinases, Akt and ERK

 Collect protein from mouse hearts subjected to IPC protocols and use Western blot analysis to measure levels of Akt and ERK activation.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

According to aim 1 and 2, two sets of experiments were performed. C57BL/6 mice were divided into 3 study groups in order to examine myocardial IS reduction. Hearts in the IPC 1 cycle group underwent 1 cycle of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion, whilst hearts in the IPC 4 cycle group were subjected to 4 repeated cycles (total duration of the protocol was 40 min). Hearts in the control group received no intervention, being perfused in time matched fashion (60 min). Figure 5-1 illustrates the study design and experimental protocols. Secondly, Akt and ERK activation were assessed using Western blot analysis in perfused mouse hearts subjected to the IPC protocols being investigated. Figure 5-2 summarizes this second study design.

Details on the protocol of both the ex vivo Langendoff-perfused mouse model and the Western blot technique being developed can be found in section 0 and section 3.9, respectively. Regarding the latter, proteins were transferred onto Immobilon-FL hydrophobic Polyvinylidene Fluoride (PVDF) transfer membrane (MerckMillipore, UK) and primary antibodies used were acquired from Cell Signaling Technology: Akt (#9272), Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (#9271), Phospho-Akt (Thr308) (#2965) and ERK1/2 (#9102), Phospho-ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204).

5.3.2 Sample size calculation

Based on our previous publication characterizing the model (280), the sample size for this experiment was estimated for performing a two-sided test for k-independents samples (ANOVA) following 2 pairwise comparisons (25% minimum expected effect size, common SD of 13%, α =0.05 and β =0.20, ~15% expected losses). Therefore, 21 animals were allocated according to a pre-specified randomization sequence (seed 554, STATA software version 13.1). Three animals were excluded as they failed to meet inclusion criteria, hence each group encompassed 6 animals. Sample size was not estimated beforehand for Western blot analyses, in which five animals per group were used in line with convention (257). However, hearts were randomly assigned to each rig using the same pre-specified randomization sequence.





Three different experimental protocol were tested: 1) control; 2) IPC 1 cycle of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion; and 3) IPC 4 cycles of 5 min 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia and white boxes represent periods of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg.



Figure 5-2: Study design for Akt and ERK phosphorylation analysis using Western blot

Three different experimental protocol were tested: 1) control; 2) IPC 1 cycle of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion; and 3) IPC 4 cycles of 5 min 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia and white boxes represent periods of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg. Black arrows depict the time-point of sample collection.

5.3.3 Data analysis

Infarct size data is expressed as mean ± SEM, whilst Western blot data is described as increase fold. Normal distribution of the data was determined using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test for both data sets. One-way ANOVA parametric analyses were performed for the overall comparisons between groups, whilst a Dunnet's multiple comparison post-test was used to compare the groups of interest to the control group. IBM SPSS Statistics software, v.20.0 (IBM Corp. Armonk, NY) was used for the statistical analysis. STATA software, version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA) was used to generate the randomization sequence. GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) was used to perform the graphics.

5.4 Results

IPC was examined using 2 different patterns to determine the optimal strategy (1 vs 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion). As described in Figure 5-3, IPC 4 cycles resulted in significant reduction of IS when compared to control group (21.1 ± 3.23 % vs 38.0 ± 1.72 %, P=0.006), whilst IPC 1 cycle did not demonstrate to be effective (34.3 ± 4.60 , P=0.665 compared to control group).

Phospho-serine 473 and –threonine 308 Akt levels were increased in IPC 4 cycles compared to control group (P=0.019 and 0.041 respectively), whilst IPC 1 cycle Akt phosphorylation did not demonstrate significant phosphorylation in any of these two substrates (P=0.562 and P=0.325 respectively). Figure 5-4 and Table 5-1 present this Western blot data.

Phospho-Thr202/Tyr204 ERK 1/2 was increased in IPC 4 cycles compared to control group (P=0.045), but no significant effect was detected when a protocol of 1 cycle was used (P=0.780).



Figure 5-3: Effect of two ischaemic preconditioning protocols on myocardial infarct size (%)

Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean± SEM and circles represent individual animal data. Myofarcial infarct size was significantly smaller with IPCx4 (mean ± SEM): control 38.0 ± 1.72%, IPC 1 cycle 34.3 ± 4.60 %, IPC 4 cycles 21.1 ± 3.23%. The overall P-value for the ANOVA was 0.008, whilst the Dunnett's multiple comparison test demonstrated a significant difference for IPC 4 cycles (P=0.006) and a non-significant result for IPC 1 cycle (P=0.665) compared to control group.



Figure 5-4: Effect of IPC protocols on Akt and ERK 1/2 phosphorylation

Bar graph shows the percentage of phosphorylation in all groups compared to the control group, expressed as mean \pm SEM (% of relative phosphorylation, normalized by its total), n=5 per group.

	Control	IPC 1 cycle	IPC 4 cycles
Akt (Ser473) phosphorylation	1	1.4 ± 0.2	$3.1 \pm 0.9^{*}$
Akt (Thr308) phosphorylation	1	1.7 ± 0.2	$1.9 \pm 0.3^{*}$
ERK (T202/Y204) phosphorylation	1	1.2 ± 0.2	$1.9 \pm 0.6^{*}$

Table 5-1: Raw data for IPC protocol selection

Raw data related to Figure 5-4. Asterisks refers to comparison with control group: * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, *** P<0.001.

5.5 Discussion

The aim of this short study was to examine whether the number of cycles affected the efficacy of IPC, and whether this effect was also mirrored by the activation of prosurvival kinases at the "trigger" phase. The protocol of IPC 4 cycles resulted in a robust means of preconditioning the mouse isolated perfused heart, whilst IPC 1 cycle failed to consistently reduce myocardial IS. Accordingly, the protocol with higher number of cycles was associated with a significant increased phosphorylation of Akt and ERK, whilst IPC did not show pro-survival kinases activation. As a result, the IPC 4 cycle algorithm was selected to be subsequently used in the remaining experiments of this thesis.

5.5.1 The larger the number of IPC cycles, the higher the protection rendered

The ischaemic preconditioning regime of 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia/reperfusion was selected to be tested. This was all based on the original protocol of IPC reported by Murry et al. in their first description of the phenomenon (33), as well as on the remote ischaemic conditioning algorithm reported in the original study by Przyklenk et al. (35). Other subsequent publications have also demonstrated its efficacy (281). In previous thesis undertaken at The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute, Dr Mark Sumeray (282,283) and Dr Robert Bell (266), both found a protocol of 2 cycles of 10 min ischaemia and 10 min reperfusion to be protective. Li et al. demonstrated in anaesthetized dogs that preconditioning with one brief ischaemic interval was as effective as preconditioning with multiple ischaemic periods (277). In 1997, Iliodromotitis et al. demonstrated in anaesthetized rabbits that there is little difference in the degree of protection obtained with either a protocol of 1, 2 or 4 cycles, whilst the protection was proved to be lost when applying 6 or 8 cycles (279). In the first-in-man experiment of IPC in humans, Yellon et al. reported an effective 2-cycle protocol of 2 min ischaemia and 3 min reperfusion (67), whilst in the first publication using the human atrial trabeculae model, Yellon and colleagues also successfully applied a protocol of 3 minutes simulated ischaemia and 7 minutes reoxygenation (284). Therefore, both protocols being tested in this chapter, 1-cycle vs 4cycle, and many others, have shown to be protective in several experimental settings.

Further to the discussion above it is also important to appreciate that there is a general consensus demonstrating that the number of cycles follow a steep dose-response relationship (71,285,286) until reaching a turning point where the protection can be lost (78,276,287). Furthermore, a study published in 2014 demonstrated further increase in IS-sparing effect of IPC with a novel stepwise ischaemic preconditioning protocol applied in rabbits (278). In accordance with the steep dose-response relationship, the results being presented in this chapter shows a small but non-significant reduction of myocardial IS in IPC 1 cycle, compared to a solid significant reduction in IPC 4 cycles. Within the IPC 1 cycle group, two hearts seem to be protected, whilst four show a similar IS in comparison to the control heart. One might speculate that this "biological variability" might be explained by these hearts to be on the threshold of reaching the preconditioning status (see next section for this hypothesis). Also, based on the experience accumulated in The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute, it seems that the *ex vivo* heart model is hardest to precondition when compared to the *in vivo* model (unpublished data), probably due to the nature of their experimental conditions (denervation, lack of immune response...).

5.5.2 Triggering the preconditioning response: the IPC threshold hypothesis

To confer protection, IPC is associated with the release of "triggers", including adenosine, bradykinin, opioids and angiotensin that act upon cell sarcolemmal receptors to activate the preconditioning response. These triggers have been administered exogenously to pharmacologically mimic the IPC response (129,275). In characterizing these "preconditioning mimetics", a non-linear dose-response relationship has been observed between the exogenous trigger (or receptor agonist) and myocardial IS reduction. As a matter of fact, triggering of preconditioning seems to have dose-response threshold: if the duration or numbers of transient ischaemia/reperfusion cycles, or the dose of the preconditioning mimetic is insufficient, no resistance to lethal IRI is observed. By progressive increment of the stimulus, a threshold is crossed and the IPC response involving protein kinase cascades consequently activated. This hypothesis, known as "preconditioning threshold", is supported by observations in both rabbit (71,288) and human myocardium (289).

A "classic" example of the "preconditioning threshold" theory is based on the role of bradykinin in IPC. It is well established that bradykinin is released endogenously by the endothelium under ischaemic conditions (290). It is also known that angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors attenuate bradykinin breakdown, therefore increasing their levels in the extra cellular milieu. In the human atrial trabeculae model, Yellon's group demonstrated that either a subthreshold preconditioning stimulus or the administration of ACE inhibitors (captopril and lisinopril) were not able to confer protection in terms of contractile function recovery when administered separately, whilst the combination of both interventions (ACE inhibitors captopril + subthreshold preconditioning stimulus) showed a significant protective effect (289). This protection was abolished with the use of Hoe 140, a specific bradykinin B2 receptor antagonist, hence suggesting an increase in bradykinin levels as responsible to breach the preconditioning threshold (289). Miki et al., presented similar results using captopril and a sub-threshold protocol of 2 min ischaemia/5 min reperfusion in an in vivo rabbit model of IRI, backing the idea that the sub-threshold level achieved by a short IPC protocol can be augmented by the increase in bradykinin levels.

5.5.3 Similar findings in remote ischaemic preconditioning

Our results are in agreement with previous publications regarding remote ischaemic preconditioning (RIPC). In an *in vivo* mouse model testing for RIPC, Botker's group observed no protection with two cycles, but similar robust protection either with four, six or eight cycles of 5 min. In the same vein, Lu *et al.* did not find cardioprotection by one, but by three cycles when applied remotely in the hind-limb in an in vivo rat model (291). Interestingly, they were able to demonstrate that morphine reduces the threshold of cardioprotection produced by RIPC, as the addition of morphine 0.1 mg/Kg to RIPC 1 cycles significantly reduced myocardial IS, whilst any of these interventions did not when applied separately. These results seem to prove the threshold hypothesis also in remote preconditioning.
5.5.4 Limitations

The influence of other protocols with either different number of cycles, or distinct ischaemic duration within each IPC cycle, was not investigated. Therefore, a steep dose-response relationship cannot be drawn from these results. Mouse hearts obtained for Western blot analysis were not collected at reperfusion ("mediator" phase), but immediately after finishing the IPC protocol. Although it is known that both Akt and ERK are activated at both phases (66), we cannot strictly speak of activating the RISK pathway as this cascade was described to be recruited at reperfusion (36,90).

5.5.5 Conclusions

The protocol of IPC 4 cycles demonstrated to reduce myocardial infarct size and activate both Akt and ERK pro-survival kinases, whilst IPC 1 cycle showed neutral results in both endpoints. Therefore, an algorithm of IPC 4 cycles was selected to be subsequently used in this thesis.

Chapter 6 ROLE OF PI3K IN MYOCARDIAL ISCHAEMIC PRECONDITIONING

Most of the content of this chapter has been already published as a single piece of research:

Rossello X, Riquelme J, Davidson S, Yellon DM. Role of PI3K in myocardial ischemic preconditioning: mapping prosurvival cascades at the trigger phase and at reperfusion. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine (2017, in press).

6.1 Background

Ischaemic preconditioning, consisting of transient cycles of coronary occlusion and reperfusion, is considered the most powerful intervention available to protect the heart against myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury, other than reperfusion itself, and has become the paradigm for cardioprotection (66).

IPC results in the recruitment of signalling pathways comprising protein kinases and phosphatases that converge on the mitochondria (41). The Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK) pathway is considered a central prosurvival kinase cascade mediating the IPC-induced protective effect. This pathway actually encompasses two parallel signalling cascades: PI3K-Akt and MEK1-ERK1/2 (66). RISK recruitment not only mediates the protection induced by IPC, but also by other forms of conditioning (pre-, post-, remote and pharmacological conditioning), and therefore appears to be a universal signalling paradigm for cardioprotection. Other alternative pathways, such as the Survivor Activator Factor Enhancement (SAFE) pathway comprising TNF α /STAT3, have also been proposed as IPC-induced protection mediators (92).

The RISK pathway has demonstrated a biphasic activation pattern, occurring first during the preconditioning cycles (or "trigger" phase) and then again during the first few minutes of reperfusion ("mediator" phase) (10,66,292). Although the relevance of the RISK pathway is a well-established concept in cardioprotection, the relative importance of the activation of these kinases and phosphatases, either at the trigger phase or exclusively at the mediator phase, remains to be fully elucidated. In IPC studies, the activation of both RISK and SAFE pathways has been demonstrated to occur at these two time-points (88),

but there is a lack of comprehensive studies assessing the integrative role of these signalling cascades in this setting. Cardioprotective signalling cascades have mostly been simplified in the literature, and crosstalk between the two components of the RISK pathway (101,102) and between the RISK and the SAFE pathways (95,103) have been described in only a few studies.

Once having selected the IRI protocol as per Chapter 4 and the IPC protocol as per Chapter 5, the focus was next turned to the description of the PI3K-Akt cascade following an IPC stimulus. The central scope of this thesis is to elucidate the role of PI3K α to confer protection against myocardial IRI, therefore a thorough description of PI3K downstream and parallel kinases and phosphatase activation appears to be a necessary and inevitable point to be addressed before further studying specific PI3K isoforms.

6.2 Research objectives and aims

What role plays PI3K in the protective effect elicited by IPC?

Hypothesis

PI3K activity is required during both the trigger and mediator phases for IPC to limit the infarct size.

Experimental aims

The aim of this chapter is to systematically characterize the role of the PI3K-Akt component of the RISK pathway, as well as its counter-regulatory protein, PTEN in mediating the IPC cardioprotective effect during both the trigger phase and the reperfusion stage. In principle, both the activation (phosphorylation) of PI3K and the inactivation (also through phosphorylation) of PTEN should be expected to activate Akt and thus induce cardioprotection. Besides, the aim is to further investigate the interplay between the PI3K-Akt pathway and their parallel ERK and STAT3 cascades at both time-points. Below is an overview of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question of this chapter:

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Investigate whether the pan-specific PI3K inhibitor wortmannin abrogate the cardioprotective effect of IPC when applied either during the trigger phase or the mediator phase.
 - Subject mouse Langendorff to ischaemia-reperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.
- <u>Aim 2:</u> mapping prosurvival cascades at the trigger phase and at reperfusion following PI3K inhibition in preconditioned hearts
 - Collect protein from mouse hearts subjected to IPC protocols and use Western blot analysis to measure levels of Akt, PTEN, GSK3β, ERK and STAT3 phosphorylation.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

A total of 58 animals were used, although 3 hearts were excluded before randomization as they failed the predefined exclusion criteria (see below). Therefore, 55 animals were randomly allocated to treatment groups in two separate experiments:

- Study of infarct size. The effect on myocardial IS following IPC 4 cycles was studied using wortmannin 100 nM administered during the IPC protocol, or at reperfusion. The IPC protocol consisted of 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion and was chosen based on previous publications demonstrating a reduction of myocardial IS (252,280) (Figure 6-1).
- 2) Study of phosphorylated protein levels. Activated levels of kinases and phosphatases involved in IPC-induced cardioprotection were systematically studied in two blocks, as summarized in Figure 6-2. In the first, phosphorylated proteins were measured at the trigger phase in three treatment groups: a) control; b) IPC; and c) wortmannin plus IPC. In the second block, phosphorylated kinases were measured after 5 min reperfusion in four treatment groups: a) control; b) IPC; c)

IPC plus wortmannin during trigger phase; and d) IPC plus wortmannin during mediator phase.

In comparison to the protocols aimed at assessing myocardial IS, for those experiments aimed to evaluate protein phosphorylation levels the period of ischaemia was reduced to 15 minutes and reperfusion shortened to 5 min. Shorter protocols are well accepted in the literature (293) on the basis of (1) obtaining enough non-necrotic tissue to evaluate kinase activation, and (2) the protection elicited by kinase activation and mPTP opening delay occurs at the onset of reperfusion (86,112).

Animals used were male C57BL/6 mice (9-12 weeks, 24-28 g weight), all of them obtained pathogen free from one supplier and housed under identical conditions. Wortmannin, CAS 19545-26-7, the PI3 kinase inhibitor, was purchased from Merck Millipore (Nottingham, UK) and its concentration dose was chosen based on previous publications (95,155). Dimethyl sulfoxide from BDH (Poole, UK) was used as the solvent for Wortmannin at a final concentration in the perfusion buffer of not more than 0.01%, as well as a vehicle control for the rest of the groups.

Details on the protocol of both the ex vivo Langendorff-perfused mouse model and the Western blot technique being developed can be found in section 0 and section 3.9, respectively. Regarding the latter, proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose blotting membrane (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, UK) using wet transfer and primary antibodies used were acquired either from Abcam, in the case of the loading control anti-GAPDH (mAbcam, #9484), or from Cell Signaling Technology: Akt (#9272), Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (#9271), Phospho-Akt (Thr308) (#2965), ERK1/2 (#9102), Phospho-ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) (#9101), GSK-3β (#9315), Phospho-GSK-3β (Ser9) (#5558), Stat3 (#9139), Phospho-Stat3 (Tyr705) (#9145) and Phospho-PTEN (Ser380) (#9551).



Figure 6-1: Study design for IS determination protocols in the context of IPC and

wortmannin before and after index ischaemia.

Four different experimental protocols were tested: 1) control; 2) IPC 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion per cycle; 3) IPC 4 cycles in the context of Wortmannin administered during the stabilization period and IPC protocol; and 4) IPC 4 cycles plus the administration of Wortmannin upon reperfusion. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia, white boxes represent periods of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg and green boxes represent the perfusion of Wortmannin 100 nM.



Figure 6-2: Study design to compare Akt and ERK phosphorylation analysis using Western blot

Four different experimental protocols were tested: 1) control; 2) IPC 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion per cycle; 3) IPC 4 cycles in the context of Wortmannin administered during the stabilization period and IPC protocol; and 4) IPC 4 cycles plus the administration of Wortmannin upon reperfusion. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia, white boxes represent periods of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg and green boxes represent the perfusion of Wortmannin 100 nM. Arrows represent the moment where samples were collected (in red all samples collected after IPC protocol, in green all samples collected at reperfusion).

6.3.2 Sample size

The necessary sample size for the evaluation of the potential abolition of cardioprotective effect using wortmannin either before ischaemia or upon reperfusion was calculated using a two-sided test for k-independents samples (ANOVA) following 3 pairwise comparisons.

Based on the results of the comparison between IPC protocols and considering the literature regarding the effect of wortmannin, a 18% minimum expected effect size and a common SD of 8% were applied, in addition to a significance level of 5% (α =0.05) and 80% power (β =0.2). Hence, the estimated sample size required was 20 animals, five per group. Mice were subsequently allocated by blocks according to a pre-specified randomization sequence (seed 4857, STATA software version 13.1) which assigned each animal into its correspondent experimental group and rig.

Sample size was not calculated beforehand for Western blot experiments, in which five animals per group were used in line with convention (257). However, hearts were randomized by blocks for each rig using a reproducible randomization sequence (seed 45733, STATA software version 13.1).

6.3.3 Data analysis

Normal distribution of each data subset was tested using graphical methods and the Kolmogorov –Smirnov method. All values are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean. If normally distributed, continuous data were compared using one-way analysis of variance followed by post hoc pairwise comparisons to the control group using the Dunnett's test. If highly skewed distributed, the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test was used with subsequent post hoc pairwise comparisons to the control group adjusted by the Dunn's test. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. STATA software, version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA) and GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) were used to perform the analysis and the graphics.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 PI3K mediates the IPC protective effect against myocardial IRI

To investigate the role of the PI3K-AKT cascade in IPC-induced cardioprotection, isolated perfused mouse hearts were subjected to 35 min global ischaemia, followed by 2 h reperfusion. IPC resulted in reduction in IS compared with the control group ($21 \pm 4 vs 59 \pm 5 \%$, P < 0.001). Administration of wortmannin either during the trigger phase of the IPC protocol or during the mediator phase abrogated its IS-limiting effect when compared to control group ($46 \pm 5 \%$, P = 0.158; and 46 ± 4 , P = 0.154, respectively) (Figure 6-3).



Figure 6-3: Role of PI3K in the protective effect of IPC at the trigger phase and at

reperfusion.

Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean \pm SEM and circles represent individual animal data. Myofarcial infarct size was significantly smaller with IPC compared to control group and either the administration of Wortmannin before or after ischaemia index abolished the cardioprotective effect of IPC.

6.4.2 PI3K mediates IPC-induced activation of Akt

To confirm the activation of Akt during the IPC trigger phase and the early phase of reperfusion both of the main Akt phosphorylation sites (Ser-473 and Thr-308) were studied. As expected, IPC increased Akt phosphorylation in the trigger phase at both sites (Ser-473: 2.6 ± 0.5 –fold, P=0.010 vs control; and Thr-308: 2.6 ± 0.5 –fold vs control, P=0.034), and phosphorylation was prevented when wortmannin was applied during the IPC trigger phase (Figure 6-4A and Figure 6-4C). Likewise, IPC increased the phosphorylation of Akt during the mediator phase of reperfusion (Ser-473: 2.4 ± 0.6 –fold vs control, P<0.001; and Thr-308: 3.1 ± 0.7 -fold vs control, P=0.001). However, this phosphorylation was consistently abrogated when wortmannin was administered either during the trigger or mediator phase (Figure 6-4B and Figure 6-4D).

6.4.3 IPC phosphorylates GSK3β at the trigger phase, but not the mediator phase

To explore the downstream targets activated by PI3K-Akt both at the trigger phase and upon reperfusion, we investigated the role of the serine/threonine kinase GSK3 β . In contrast to many protein kinases, GSK3 β is active in resting cells and inactivated by phosphorylation(164). On stimulation, GSK3 β is phophorylated at serine 9, resulting in inhibition of its kinase activity. As illustrated in Figure 6-4E, IPC caused an increase in GSK3 β phosphorylation during the trigger phase (3.2 ± 0.9 -fold *vs* control, P = 0.007), which was blocked by wortmannin. On the contrary, GSK3 β was not significantly phosphorylated at reperfusion in preconditioned hearts compared to control group (1.4 ± 0.2 -fold *vs* control, P = 0.742). Moreover, the administration of wortmannin either during the trigger phase or mediator phase did not affect GSK3 β phosphorylation levels when measured at reperfusion (Figure 6-4F).

6.4.4 IPC phosphorylates PTEN through a PI3K-independent mechanism

PTEN is a phosphatase that counter-regulates the PI3K/AKT signalling pathway(294). While phosphorylation of PIP2 by PI3K stimulates Akt activity, PTEN dephosphorylates PIP3 and downregulates Akt activity. The phosphorylated form of PTEN is

considered inactivated, and is therefore a major negative regulator of the RISK pathway(186). PTEN phosphorylation was significantly increased immediately following an IPC stimulus (1.5 ± 0.2 -fold vs control, P=0.009). Interestingly, this was not affected by the administration of wortmannin (Figure 6-4F). IPC was also associated with an increase in phosphorylated PTEN during the mediator phase (1.6 ± 0.1 -fold vs control, P = 0.047), and again, this was not affected by the presence of wortmannin during either the trigger or mediator phases (Figure 6-4H).

6.4.5 IPC-induced ERK activation involves PI3K during the trigger phase, but not at reperfusion

During the IPC trigger phase, phosphorylated levels of ERK were significantly increased by IPC (3.0 ± 0.6 -fold times compared to control, P = 0.016). This was partially abrogated by wortmannin, such that there was no longer a significant increase in ERK phosphorylation during the trigger phase after IPC (Figure 6-5A). IPC also caused a significant increase in ERK phosphorylation during the mediator phase (2.6 ± 0.6 -fold increase for IPC, P=0.016), but in contrast to the response observed in the trigger phase, this was unaffected by the administration of wortmannin (IPC + wortmannin during trigger phase: 2.7 ± 0.2 -fold, P=0.009; IPC + wortmannin during the mediator phase: 2.3 ± 0.3 - fold, P = 0.031) (Figure 6-5B).

6.4.6 IPC activates STAT3 through a PI3K-independent mechanism

The SAFE pathway, which involves TNF α , JAK and STAT3, has been described as an alternative RISK-independent cascade that may be important for mediating the cardioprotective effect elicited by IPC in some circumstances(95,99). We found that IPC significantly increased levels of phosphorylated STAT-3 (Tyr705) during the trigger phase (3.6 ± 1.6 -fold *vs* control, P = 0.009) (Figure 6-5C). The administration of wortmannin during the trigger phase did not alter levels of phosphorylated STAT3. Similarly, IPC increased levels of phosphorylated STAT3 in the mediator phase (2.6 ± 0.5 -fold *vs* control, P = 0.049), and this was unchanged by the administration of wortmannin during either the trigger or mediator phase (Figure 6-5D).



Figure 6-4: Impact of PI3K inhibition in IPC activated signalling cascades

Bar graph shows the percentage of phosphorylation in all groups compared to the control group, expressed as mean ± SEM (percentage of relative phosphorylation), n=5 per group.



Figure 6-5: Impact of PI3K inhibition in IPC activated ERK and STAT3

Bar graph shows the percentage of phosphorylation in all groups compared to the control group, expressed as mean \pm SEM (percentage of relative phosphorylation, normalized by its total), n=5 per group.

6.5 Discussion

In the first block of experiments, PI3K activity was confirmed to be required during both the trigger phase and mediator phase in order for IPC to reduce the infarct size. As expected, IPC increased the levels of Akt phosphorylation during both the trigger and mediator phases. Interestingly, Akt phosphorylation during both phases was completely abrogated by PI3K inhibition during just the trigger phase or the mediator phase, suggesting the existence of a memory effect. In contrast, one of the kinases downstream of the PI3K/Akt pathway, GSK3β, was phosphorylated only during the trigger phase after IPC. PTEN was phosphorylated during both the trigger and mediator phases, sut was only PI3K-dependent of PI3K. IPC increase ERK phosphorylation during both phases, but was only PI3K-dependent during the trigger phase. Finally, STAT3, the kinase mediator of the SAFE pathway, was activated by IPC in both the trigger phase and mediator phase, and this phosphorylation was independent of PI3K activity. All these observations are as summarized in Figure 6-6.



Figure 6-6: Summary of findings

IPC increased the levels of Akt phosphorylation during both the trigger and mediator phases. On the contrary, GSK3β was phosphorylated only during the trigger phase. The phosphatase PTEN was phosphorylated during both the trigger and mediator phases after IPC and this was not affected by PI3K inhibition. ERK was phosphorylated by IPC during both phases, but was only PI3K-dependent during the trigger phase. STAT3 was activated in both the trigger and mediator phases, and this phosphorylation was independent of PI3K.

6.5.1 Role of PI3K in the protective effect of IPC at the trigger phase and at reperfusion

IPC protects against myocardial IRI by activation of the RISK pathway (10,155). The data being presented in this chapter confirm the pivotal role of PI3K as mediator of IPC, as its pharmacological inhibition either during the trigger phase or at reperfusion abolished the IS-limiting effect provided by IPC. It has to be taken into account that wortmannin is a cell-permeable fungal metabolite that acts as a selective and irreversible inhibitor of the PI3K catalytic activity that has been widely used in pharmacological cardioprotection studies, although similar results have also been demonstrated using the reversible inhibitor LY294002 (155).

The fundamental concept of the RISK pathway has been described previously in section 1.6, but may be briefly summarized in two ways: 1) short-term activation of these kinases is protective triggering prosurvival pathways, whilst long-term activation may have detrimental effects such as cell growth and hypertrophic tissue (101,181); and 2) their activation occurs both during the preconditioning phase (275) and at reperfusion (89), also known as the trigger and the mediator phase, respectively. These two phases are crucial to mediate protection, as both of them can be pharmacologically intervened (159). Dissecting the key signalling events occurring at both phases when abolishing PI3K phosphorylation is of the utmost importance, as the IPC signalling architecture can be extrapolated to most cardioprotective therapies (78).

PI3K-Akt, one of the parallel cascades involving the RISK pathway, has been described to activate a kinases cascade. The activation of PI3K by IPC promotes the phosphorylation of PDK1, which in turn activates Akt in order to subsequently recruit a wide range of pro-survival downstream targets such a GSK3β, p70s6k and eNOS(186). On the contrary, PTEN counter-regulates the action of PI3K by dephosphorylating its product phosphatidylinositol(3,4,5)phosphate (abbreviated as PIP3). The activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway inhibits mPTP opening, which is considered the major downstream end-effector of the RISK pathway (10,254).

6.5.2 Impact of PI3K inhibition in IPC activated signalling cascades

Akt is a serine/threonine protein kinase. Its activity is primarily controlled by PI3K and PTEN through the modulation of PIP3 levels (295). Full activation of Akt happens through the phosphorylation of a Thr-308 residue in the catalytic domain by PDK1 and a Ser-473 residue by mTOR2, whilst its inactivation is mediated through dephosphorylation of the two regulatory sites by the serine-threonine phosphatase PP2A. Akt is widely used as surrogate marker for PI3K activation (296). Akt phosphorylation at both residues was abrogated in all preconditioned hearts treated with wortmannin. Therefore, in preconditioned hearts treated with the PI3K inhibitor, the abolishment of IS-sparing effect was mirrored by lack of Akt phosphorylation.

GSK3 β is a serine/threonine kinase that has been proposed to be the downstream point of convergence of the RISK pathway, which when phosphorylated (and thus inhibited) at serine-9 by Akt in reponse to PIP3 increase (293), inhibits the mPTP opening (297), enhancing cell survival (164). Our data suggest that GSK3 β is phosphorylated at the trigger phase as a consequence of PI3K activation, but this status is lost at the early reperfusion stage. In agreement with our results, *Tong et al.* (293) have reported increased phosphorylated levels of GSK3 β following an IPC protocol, which were blocked by wortmannin. Moreover, pretreatment with GSK3 β inhibitors also mimicked the protective effect of IPC through a reduction on myocardial IS(293). In another study, pharmacologic and genetic ablation of GSK3 β failed to abrogate the protective effect conferred by IPC (297). Similarly, mice with a knockin of GSK3 β mutated at ser9 and ser21 remained amenable to protection by IPC (164). Overall, it seems that inhibition of GSK3 β may play an important role during the IPC protocol, but not afterwards. However, future studies need to clarify the contentius role of GSK3 β in cardioprotection.

The activation of prosurvival protein kinases has been studied in great detail in the context of preconditioning. However, little is known about the role of their counter-regulator phosphatases in this setting. Inhibition of phosphatases (PP1 and PP2A) during the preconditioning phase have been shown to abolish the protective effect of preconditioning, whilst its activation during reperfusion improved protection in preconditioned hearts (298). The ability to up-regulate the RISK pathway by the use of

phosphatase inhibitors during the early reperfusion phase remains largely unexplored despite being an attractive approach to limiting IRI.

PTEN is a dual lipid and protein phosphatase that antagonizes PI3K/AKT signalling pathway. Whereas PI3K activity results in an increased production of the second messenger PIP3 to activate the prosurvival downstream cascade, PTEN dephosphorylates PIP3 to PIP2 to downregulate Akt activation. The phosphorylated form of PTEN is considered inactive. After dephosphorylation, PTEN is activated but is also degraded rapidly as its half-life is substantially reduced (299). Therefore, the phosphorylation (inactivation) of PTEN should be expected to induce cardioprotection following an IRI insult, whilst its dephosphorylated (activated) status should be expected to be detrimental (300,301). Interestingly, our results suggest that IPC induces inhibition of negative regulator PTEN. This observation is in line with the study of Cai and Semenza who identified a reduction in the activity of PTEN following IRI in an isolated perfused rat heart model (299). In the same vein, PTEN haploinsufficiency in mice has been shown to reduce the threshold of protection in IPC (281). This result suggest that IPC not only activates prosurvival kinases, but also inhibits their major counter-regulators (i.e. PTEN, PP1 and PP2A). Additionally, IPC-mediated PTEN phosphorylation appears to be independent of PI3K, suggesting that both activation of PI3K and inactivation of PTEN can work in unison, which may suggest that pharmacological intervention of both proteins at the same time may produce synergistic effect in the context of cardioprotection. Further studies need to be undertaken to explore this hypothesis.

6.5.3 Impact of PI3K inhibition in IPC activated ERK and STAT3

The molecular pathways involved in cardioprotection have been reported as highly interactive (78). Within the RISK pathway, some studies have suggested crosstalk between the PI3K-Akt and the ERK1/2 cascades (102). Our study shows that ERK is phosphorylated following an IPC stimulus, but partially inhibited after the administration of the PI3K inhibitor wortmannin. These results may suggest a PI3K predominance during the IPC early trigger phase, although they contrast with the lack of effect of the PI3K inhibitor on ERK phosphorylated levels at reperfusion. Using a pharmacological approach with specific PI3K and ERK inhibitors in the isolated perfused rat heart model, a previous study from The

Hatter Cardiovascular Institute suggested that the crosstalk between PI3K/Akt and ERK is not balanced, with the PI3K cascade playing a more determinant role in mediating cellular survival (102).

The SAFE pathway, which involves TNF α , JAK and STAT3, has been described as an alternative RISK-independent cascade mediating the cardioprotective effect elicited by IPC. The cardioprotective effect of STAT3 is believed to be partly related to its translocation to the mitochondria by modulating respiration and inhibiting the mPTP opening (302). Like the RISK pathway, the SAFE pathway is also activated during both the trigger and the mediator phase of reperfusion to protect the heart against IRI (92,95). In this study, STAT3 have demonstrated to be activated following an IPC protocol, irrespective of the inhibition of PI3K. Interestingly, upon administration of wortmannin, the protective effect elicited by IPC was lost despite the STAT3 pathway being activated. Our results differ from those described by Lecour et al. (95) in adult mouse cardiomyocytes, in which wortmannin administered during the IPC trigger phase decreased STAT-3 phosphorylation, abolishing the protection afforded by IPC. However, in our study the mean infarct size for hearts treated with PI3K inhibitor are approximately in a half-way point between the preconditioned and the non-preconditioned hearts. This difference has been enough to lose statistical significance, but one might speculate on the involvement of more than one signalling cascade to promote maximal protection, as it has been demonstrated that using a STAT-3 inhibitor also abolishes the protective effect of IPC (95). Rather than contradict, our results seems to complement the concept of having multiple protective pathways, namely both RISK and RISK-independent pathways. This may be important in establishing a multi-pathway stratagem when testing for further cardioprotective therapies (174).

In the light of these data, PI3K can be hypothesized to have a dominant role to mediate the IPC protective effect. On close examination, the activation of the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K has been demonstrated to control the serine phosphorylation of STAT3, a critical step for the formation of stable STAT3 homodimers (303). STAT3 activation has also been shown to be dependent on PI3K recruitment in endothelial cells subjected to hypoxia/reoxygenation injury (304), thus suggesting that PI3K can regulate STAT3 phosphorylation. Despite this evidence supporting a predominant role for PI3K in IPC, other alternative pathways have been demonstrated to be involved in a RISK-independent

manner. Hence, cardiac-specific STAT3 deficient mice have been unable to show Akt phosphorylation following an IPC stimulus, and the pharmacologic preconditioning induced by TNF α have demonstrated protection through STAT3 phosphorylation without involving PI3K activation (92). It is understood that the activation of both the RISK and the SAFE pathway can occur concomitantly either in IPC or in pharmacologic conditioning (103), as they are not mutually exclusive., although it is unknown whether activation of the two pathways provides an additive effect to maximize the protection.

6.5.4 Limitations

Only one PI3K inhibitor was used, and its effect when administered alone was not tested, although many previous studies have shown that wortmannin does not have major effects on myocardial IS and protein phosphorylation by itself (86,155). Wortmannin may inhibit other kinases such as myosin light chain kinase or PI 4-kinase at concentrations higher than that required for inhibition of PI3K. With regard to protein analyses, not all phosphorylated residues were studied here - ie PTEN possesses three phosphorylation sites (Ser380, Thr382, and Thr383) and STAT3 can be phosphorylated at both its serine 727 and tyrosine 705 residues. Of note, many other kinases and proteases remain to be explored in this setting.

6.5.5 Summary and conclusions

In summary, PI3K activity is required during both the trigger and mediator phases for IPC to limit the infarct size. IPC increased the levels of Akt phosphorylation during both the trigger and mediator phases and this effect was fully abrogated by PI3K inhibition in both phases, whilst its downstream GSK3β was phosphorylated only during the trigger phase after IPC. Both PTEN and STAT3 were phosphorylated during both the trigger and mediator phases after IPC, but this was independent of PI3K. IPC increase ERK phosphorylation during both phases, being only PI3K-dependent during the trigger phase.

In conclusion, the PI3K cascade has a central role within the RISK pathway. This pro-survival kinase cascade is considered a unifying signalling pathway, as it is recruited not only by IPC, but also by pharmacological agents (66). Further elucidation of the

mechanisms underlying the IPC-induced protective effect is expected to reveal novel targets to promote myocardial salvage. Particularly, those mediators activated at early reperfusion have the potential to be modulated by pharmacological agents to benefit patients undergoing acute myocardial infarction (174). In this respect, the study of PI3K isoforms appears of utmost importance to identify specific molecular targets in cardioprotection. As it happens with PKC isoforms, where the ε isoform has demonstrated to be protective in the mediator phase (hence targetable using a ε -PKC activator) and the δ isoform has shown to be deleterious in the trigger phase (then targetable using δ -PKC inhibitors) (165,166,305), it may well be that PI3K isoforms have also an antagonistic role in this setting. The next chapters focus on the role of a specific isoform of PI3 kinase in cardioprotection, namely the PI3K α

Chapter 7 DIFFERENTIAL PI3Kα AND PI3Kβ EXPRESSION IN HEART TISSUE AND CELLS

7.1 Background

Class I PI3K is a family of isoenzymes which produce the lipid second messenger PIP3 and transduce signals that control a variety of cellular events, such as cell survival. In the heart, multiple PI3K isoforms are expressed, each playing potentially distinct roles (207). Isoform selective inhibition is likely to show future important outcomes in the field of cardioprotection. Once the central role of PI3K in the cardioprotective effect conferred by IPC is elucidated (see Chapter 6), the question arises as to whether there is any isoformspecificity for the protective effect mediated by the RISK pathway.

As discussed in section 1.5.4, cardiomyocytes have largely been assumed to have a central role in cardioprotection. However, the premise of other cardiac cells either providing protection or being protected through cardioprotective interventions (i.e. conditioning phenomenon) seems equally plausible (121). Although the protective effect of the RISK pathway activation have been mostly attributed to occur in cardiomyocytes, little is known about its impact on other relevant cell types.

PI3K isoform expression in the heart has received little attention so far. The most highly expressed PI3K isoforms in the heart seems to be the α and β isoforms (206). Both α and β variants are expressed in both mouse cardiomyocytes (306) and endothelial cells (217), but no protein quantification have been reported to adequately compare their expression levels between cell types. Further, specific information is needed with regard to whether PI3K isoform expression pattern is comparable between species. In order to extrapolate future findings, differences in the expression of PI3K isoforms in mouse and human heart tissue should be brought into comparison; this information being largely lacking in the literature.

This chapter focuses upon the characterization of mouse PI3K α and β isoforms expression under basal conditions in both cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells (MCECs), as well as in both mouse and human heart tissue.

7.2 Research objectives and experimental aims

Are PI3Ka and PI3Kβ expressed in mouse and human tissue? In which cell types?

Hypothesis

To support the hypothesis that a given PI3K isoform protects the myocardium from IRI, it is necessary to first demonstrate its expression in the mouse cardiac tissue. To determine whether these results can potentially be extrapolated to the clinical arena, it is important to ascertain whether its expression occurs in heart human tissue. Furthermore to evaluate whether this effect is cardiomyocyte or endothelial cell-dependent, it is also required to study PI3K isoforms expression in both cell types.

Experimental aims

The aim of this section is to characterize the protein levels of both PI3K α and β in both mouse and human heart tissue as well as in both primary isolated cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells. Below is an overview of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question of this chapter:

<u>Aim 1:</u> Investigate the percentage of PI3Ka protein in mouse and human heart tissue as well as in primary isolated cardiomyocytes and endothelial mouse cardiac cells

 Collect protein from tissue/cell types not being subjected to IRI protocols and use Western blot analysis to measure protein basal levels of PI3Kα, running the samples alongside p110α purified protein to extrapolate and quantify the amount of protein in each sample.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Investigate the percentage of PI3K6 protein in mouse and human heart tissue as well as in primary isolated cardiomyocytes and endothelial mouse cardiac cells

 Collect protein from tissue/cell types not being subjected to IRI protocols and use Western blot analysis to measure protein basal levels of PI3Kβ, running the samples alongside p110β purified protein to extrapolate and quantify the amount of protein for each sample.

7.3 Methods

7.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

A total of 20 samples were used for this experiment:

- **1) Mouse heart tissue.** Five animals were perfused for 30 min in the Langendorff apparatus with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer, without applying any intervention.
- 2) Human heart tissue. Five right atrial appendage samples were collected from patients undergoing cannulation for cardiopulmonary bypass either for CABG or valve replacement at submerged in Tyrode's buffer for 30 min (see section 3.8 for further details).
- 3) Adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. Five samples of primary cardiomyocytes were isolated using liberase according to the protocol described in section 3.6. Once stabilized for 30 min, cells were collected for protein analysis.
- 4) Mouse cardiac endothelial cells (MCEC, immortalized line). Five samples of MCEC were passaged and subsequently cultured for 30 min according to the protocol described in section 3.7.

Once collected, samples were added to protein lysis buffer and the tissues were homogenized before proceeding to BCA protein quantification. Details on the Western blot protocol be found in section 3.9. A nitrocellulose blotting membrane (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, UK) was used for protein transfer. Primary antibodies used were: PI3 Kinase p110 α (Cell Signaling, #4249), PI 3-Kinase p110 β (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, sc-602) and anti-GAPDH (mAbcam 9484). The dilutions being used for each antibody were 1:1000, 1:500 and 1:20000, respectively.

7.3.2 Quantification of basal PI3Kα and PI3Kβ protein expression

In order to quantify protein expression, three different amounts of purified protein (1, 3 and 10 ng for PI3K α and 5, 10, 20 ng PI3K β , both obtained from Merck Millipore) were loaded in the gels alongside the samples of interest. After being transferred, membranes were probed with specific primary antibodies for PI3K α and PI3K β . For each membrane, PI3K α and PI3K β values were extrapolated using a linear regression. Results were expressed as a percentage of the amount of protein studied out of total protein loaded.

7.3.3 Data analysis

Western blot data is described as the percentage of the PI3K isoform ± SEM. Normal distribution of the data was determined using the Shapiro-Wilk test for both data sets. Highly skewed distributed data was compared using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test, whilst normal distributed data were compared using unpaired t test. STATA software, version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA) was used for the statistical analysis. GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) was used to perform the graphics.

7.4 Results

The basal expression of α and β isoforms of PI3K were studied in several tissues and cells. In order to assess the potential translation ability of subsequent results, we first examined the myocardial content of PI3K α and PI3K β in both mouse and human heart tissue. PI3K α is expressed in a similar proportion in both tissues (0.019 ± 0.003 % of total protein in the mouse sample was PI3K α , whilst 0.021 ± 0.004 % of total protein in the human tissue was PI3K α , P=0.767). In contrast, the myocardial content of PI3K β differed between groups, this isoform being having a ~3-fold increase in the mouse tissue (0.019 ± 0.003% for human tissue, P=0.039). Therefore, the α isoform of PI3K seem approximately equally abundant in both

tissues, unlike the β isoform which is further expressed in the mouse tissue. Figure 7-1 graphically illustrates these data, whilst Table 7-1 shows the overall raw data.

In order to study the type of cells potentially involved in PI3K α - and/or PI3K β mediated protective effect, the levels of these isoforms were then compared between adult ventricular mouse cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells. Using this quantitative approach, mouse cardiac endothelial cells demonstrated higher PI3K α levels in comparison to adult ventricular mouse cardiomyocytes (0.012 ± 0.001% of total protein was PI3K α for cardiomyocytes vs. 0.029 ± 0.009 % for endothelial cells, P=0.047). Interestingly, PI3K β levels in mouse cardiac endothelial cells were also higher when compared to adult ventricular mouse cardiomyocytes, following a similar pattern (0.010 ± 0.004 % of total protein was PI3K β for cardiomyocytes vs. 0.036 ± 0.004 % for endothelial cells, P=0.001). **PI3Kα** expression



PI3Kß expression



Figure 7-1: PI3K α and PI3K β expression

PI3K α expression in mouse and human tissues is depicted in panel A, whilst illustrated in panel B for cells. Panel C and D refer for PI3K β expression in tissues and cells respectively. Each bar represents an n=5. *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, and ns, non-significant.

	Mouse heart tissue	Human atrial tissue	P-value	Adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocite	Mouse cardiac endothelial cell line	P-value
ΡΙ3Κα (%)	0.019 ± 0.003	0.021 ± 0.004	0.767	0.012 ± 0.001	0.029 ± 0.009	0.047
ΡΙ3Κβ (%)	0.019 ± 0.005	0.006 ± 0.003	0.039	0.010 ± 0.004	0.036 ± 0.004	0.001

Table 7-1: Raw data for protein expression of PI3Kα and PI3Kβ

Raw data related to Figure 1A to D.

Results are presented as mean \pm SEM and expressed as percentage of protein (PI3K α or β) relative to total protein in the sample.

7.5 Discussion

The main findings of this study can be summarized as follows: (1) PI3K α is expressed in the same proportion in both mouse heart and human atrial tissue; (2) PI3K α levels are higher in mouse cardiac endothelial cells than in adult ventricular mouse cardiomyocytes; (3) PI3K β protein content is higher in mouse heart tissue than in human atrial tissue; and (4) PI3K β is expressed in higher amount in mouse cardiac endothelial cells than in adult ventricular mouse than in adult ventricular mouse cardiac endothelial cells than in mouse cardiac endothelial cells than in adult ventricular mouse cardiomyocytes.

As this PhD does not involve transgenic mice models (such as caPI3K α or dnPI3K α), but a more physiological approach using pharmacological inhibitors, it is important to actually quantify the expression of PI3K α and PI3K β isoforms in the heart. Future results on the α isoform can be reasonably extrapolated from mouse to human based on the presence of similar amounts of the isoform, whilst caution should be taken when extrapolating the results obtained exploring the role of PI3K β . In subsequent experiments, Akt instead of PI3K will be assessed to evaluate PI3K activation. This is because it would be needed a convenient read-out of PI3K activation, and expression levels do not necessarily reflect the activity. Moreover, the catalytic subunit (p110) of PI3K, which determines the isoform of the protein, is actually regulated by the regulatory subunit p85, which is phosphorylated when activated. Akt is a well-characterized shared target of PI3K, which is not isoform-specific. Therefore, Akt can be used routinely as a surrogate for PI3K activation and inhibition in line with most publications (194,212,225,307), and the PI3K isoform activity will be determined either using specific activators or inhibitors.

Beyond the importance of the comparison in the expression of PI3K α and PI3K β between mouse and human tissue, other relevant subjects needs to be discussed, such as the differential expression of PI3K isoforms in non-cardiac and cardiac cells and tissues, as well as the novel findings on PI3K isoforms specific sub-cellular location.

7.5.1 Differential PI3K isoform expression in non-cardiac cells and tissues

Vanhaesebroeck and colleagues have tried to gain insight into the apparent nonredundant biological roles of class IA PI3K isoforms assessing their absolute protein amount in several mouse tissues (206) including muscle, liver, fat brain and spleen. They determined that the most abundant catalytic subunits were p110 β (in liver, brain and fat) or p110 δ (in spleen), with a lower abundance of 110 α in most tissues tested (206). Unfortunately, they did not evaluate heart tissue. However, they observed two interesting findings in muscle tissue: (1) the absolute protein amount of PI3K in the muscle was clearly lower when compared with the rest of the tissues; and (2) the muscle was the only tissue showing PI3K α as the predominant isoform, followed at short distance by PI3K β . Taking this observation with caution due to the gap between skeletal and cardiac muscle tissue, our results can be considered in the same line. In a separate study examining the specificity of insulin for the PI3K α -Insulin receptor substrate activation, Foukas *et al.* performed quantitative immunoblot analysis of p110 α and p110 β expression in mouse liver, muscle and fat (202). They demonstrated that p110 α levels were twofold higher than p110 β in liver and muscle, but similar in adipose tissue.

7.5.2 Differential PI3K isoform expression in cardiac cells

Few publications have specifically determined the expression of PI3K isoforms in cardiac cell types. Two main studies have assessed differential PI3K isoform expression, one

in primary cardiomyocytes and the other in endothelial cells. Wenzel *et al.* demonstrated that all four class I PI3K isoforms are expressed in cardiomyocytes on the mRNA and protein level, although neither quantifications nor comparisons between levels of each isoform were performed (306). Vanhaesebroeck's group studied both the kinase activity and expression for each class IA isoform in mouse endothelial cells. They reported that p110 α kinase activity is particularly high when compared to other isoforms, and preferentially induced by tyrosine kinase ligands (insulin), whilst p110 β signals downstream of GPCR ligands, such as SDF1 α (217). Using a qualitative assessment, p110 α , p110 β and p110 δ protein expression of p110 α and p110 β , and a very low expression of p110 δ , particularly when these cells were compared with leukocytes (217).

In comparison to the aforementioned studies, our results offer a quantitative assessment of the PI3K α and PI3K β isoform and demonstrate that both isoforms are expressed in higher amount in mouse cardiac endothelial cells that in primary isolated cardiomyocytes.

7.5.3 Differential PI3K isoform sub-cellular location

Further layers of complexity can be added to PI3K isoform expression in cells by the existence of differences in their subcellular location and its degradation along an IRI insult.

Some publications suggest a differential subcellular location of PI3K isoforms. In mouse sympathetic and sensory neurons, p110 α have been found predominantly localized at the plasma membrane, whilst p110 β have been localized in the perinuclear region (308), therefore suggesting that the PI3K isoforms may be targeted to different subcellular organelles and may then mediate different physiological functions. In an *in vitro* cell model, Kumar et al. have suggested that nuclear, but not cytosolic PI3K β has an essential role in cell survival, through the association of the p85 β regulatory subunit with the p110 β catalytic subunit (220). Unfortunately, we did not test for the sub-cellular location of the PI3K α and PI3K β isoforms in our study.

The protein levels of the catalytic subunit p110y have been studied in a Langendorff mouse perfusion model at two time-points: following an

ischaemia/reperfusion insult and following an IPC stimulus. Interestingly, there was a drastic reduction in p110 γ following IRI. In contrast, there was less protein levels reduction with IPC, suggesting that a potential mechanism of myocardial IRI is the selective degradation of p110 γ , given that no changes in protein levels of other catalytic subunits p110 α and p110 β , or the class IA regulatory subunit p85 were observed following IRI or IPC (309).

7.5.4 Potential implications of the findings on cardioprotection

Temporally controlled overexpression of cardiac-specific PI3K α have demonstrated to enhance contractility in the Langendorff-perfused mouse model (228). Moreover, the PI3K α -Akt pathway can promote physiological exercise-induced growth (225). In a myocardial infarct-induced heart failure model, constitutively active PI3K α has demonstrated to improve left ventricular function when compared to controls (227). All these observations, on top of the results being exposed in this chapter, suggest that PI3K α may have a relevant role in cardioprotection. PI3K β is less expressed in human tissue, and therefore its future related results should be taken more cautiously if the aim is to translate the findings to the clinical setting.

7.5.5 Limitations

Western blot analyses were performed separately by two blocks according to isoform groups: samples for PI3K α were run in the same gels, whilst samples for PI3K β were run in separate gels. This means that, despite being a quantitative assessment, only samples which were run in the same gels should be strictly compared – hence the amount of protein can be compared within cells and tissues for each isoform, but not between groups (i.e. the amount of PI3K α should not be compared with PI3K β levels in a given cell or tissue). Moreover, it is needed to take into account that the PI3K antibodies used might have had different affinities for mouse and human PI3K isoforms, which would impact on the accuracy of the comparisons of isoform expression between human and mouse tissues presented above.

The method of protein quantification is based on a linear regression relationship between the amount of purified protein being loaded and their corresponding band intensity in the membrane. The values are extrapolated from this linear correlation and potentially subjected to some kind of systematic error. Therefore, differences between groups (i.e. mouse vs human heart tissue) should be more accurate than the absolute quantification of protein levels (i.e. 0.019 ± 0.003% for PI3K α levels in mouse heart tissue).

Human heart tissue was obtained from the right atrium. Patients with arrhythmias were excluded based on a previous publication demonstrating that PI3K activation in atrial appendages from patients with atrial fibrillation was lower compared with tissue from patients in sinus rhythm (310). Despite carefully selecting patients without arrhythmias, some might argue that left ventricular tissue would better represent the human model.

Caution should be taken when extrapolating the results on an immortalized cell line (mouse cardiac endothelial cells) to a more physiological setting.

In this chapter, the focus was on the comparison of the class IA PI3K isoforms p110 α and p110 β . There is nonetheless an additional class IA isoform, p110 δ , and the closely related class IB p110 γ isoform that should be also taken into account. Although interesting, this is beyond the scope of this thesis.

7.5.6 Summary and conclusions

To our knowledge, this is the first study reporting comparisons in protein levels of PI3K α and PI3K β between mouse and human heart tissue. PI3K α is expressed in a similar proportion in both mouse heart and human atrial tissue, whilst PI3K β protein content is higher in mouse heart tissue than in human atrial tissue. These observations set PI3K α as a potential target with translational value in cardioprotection.

Differences in protein levels between cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells have also been reported. In general, cardiac endothelial cells present a higher content of either PI3K α or PI3K β when compared with cardiomyocytes.

Chapter 8 ROLE OF PI3Kα IN ISCHAEMIC PRECONDITIONING

8.1 Background

Ischaemic preconditioning is a potent cellular endogenous protective mechanism consisting of transient cycles of sub-lethal coronary occlusion (ischaemia) and reperfusion (33). Its signalling architecture is considered the paradigm for cardioprotection (66) and has been extrapolated to most cardioprotective interventions.

The cellular mechanisms underlying the protection elicited by IPC against myocardial IRI have been the subject of intense research. Work has focused on identifying novel targets at different levels e.g triggers, mediators and end-effectors of IPC has been studied in the hope of producing agents mimicking their action. The mediators affording IPC have received special attention. Although several signal transduction pathways have been described (78,92), the RISK pathway is considered the central prosurvival kinase cascade mediating the IPC-induced protective effect. This pathway actually encompasses two parallel signalling cascades: PI3K-Akt and MEK1-ERK1/2 (66).

Within the RISK pathway, PI3K plays a dominant role in mediating the IPC protective effect, as illustrated in Chapter 6. Inhibitors of PI3K such as wortmannin (89) and LY294002 (155) have been very helpful for probing the function of PI3K in IPC, but as with all pharmacological inhibitor studies questions of specificity as to which specific isoform are being inhibited at the dosages being used are a concern. In recent years, isoform-specific PI3K inhibitors have been developed in the field of oncology (190) but these yet to been explored in the context of cardioprotection, which could aid in the development of PI3K isoform-specific agents enhancing such protection.

Class I PI3K is a family of lipid and protein kinases that phosphorylate PIP2 to form PIP3 to mediate cellular actions. Within this class, PI3K α and PI3K β are well expressed in the heart (see Chapter 7), the former binding RTKs and the latter both RTK and GCPRs. PI3K isoforms convey distinct roles in cardiac physiology. PI3K α has emerged as a key player in cardiac physiology, enhancing contractility (228,230), and promoting physiological exerciseinduced growth, but not pathological hypertrophy (226), whilst PI3K β has been mainly related to platelet biology (311).

In IPC, there is biphasic activation of PI3K signalling, first during the preconditioning cycles (or "trigger" phase) and then again during the first few minutes of reperfusion ("mediator" phase) (10,66,292). Insights into the role of PI3K isoforms in each phase can be gained by the use of isoform-specific pharmacological inhibitors (235–237). As it happens with PKC isoforms, where the ε isoform has demonstrated to be protective in the mediator phase (hence targetable using a ε -PKC activator) and the δ isoform has shown to be deleterious in the trigger phase (then targetable using δ -PKC inhibitors) (165,166,305), PI3K isoforms could potentially have either synergistic or antagonistic roles in IPC phases of cardioprotection.

Once having elucidated the role of PI3K in IPC as per Chapter 6 and the PI3K isoforms protein content in the heart as per Chapter 7, this chapter focuses on the identification of the specific role of PI3K α in the protective effect elicited by IPC.

8.2 Research objectives and experimental aims

Is PI3Kα involved in the cardioprotective effect elicited by IPC either in the "trigger" or the "mediator" phase?

<u>Hypothesis</u>

As demonstrated in Chapter 6, PI3K is involved in the IS-sparing effect of IPC in both the "trigger" and the "mediator" phase. The hypothesis is that PI3K α may have a different role (even antagonistic) in each crucial phase where the PI3K-Akt is activated following an IPC stimulus.

Experimental aims

The aim of this section is to systematically evaluate the role of PI3K α in IPC at both timepoints in both the *ex vivo* and *in vivo* models. Below is an overview of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question of this chapter:

<u>Aim 1:</u> Select PI3Kα inhibitors dose

• Collect protein from mouse hearts exposed to the PI3Kα canonical activator (insulin) and to several doses of two inhibitors to measure levels of Akt activation.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Investigate the role of PI3Ka in the IPC "trigger" phase in the ex vivo model

- Subject Langendorff-perfused mouse heart to ischaemia-reperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.
- <u>Aim 3:</u> Investigate the role of PI3Ka in the IPC "mediator" phase in the ex vivo model
 - Subject mouse Langendorff-perfused heart to ischaemia-reperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.
- <u>Aim 4:</u> Investigate the role of PI3Ka in the IPC "mediator" phase in the in the in vivo model
 - Subject mouse Langendorff-perfused heart to a non-recovery in vivo ischaemiareperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.
- <u>Aim 5:</u> Evaluate Akt activation following PI3Kα inhibition in both the IPC "trigger" phase the IPC "mediator" phase
 - Collect protein from Langendorff-perfused mouse hearts subjected to IPC protocols and use Western blot analysis to measure levels of Akt activation.

8.3 Methods

8.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

Below is an outline of the experimental designs being presented in this chapter. Further details and sample size estimations can be found subsequently in their corresponding figures and footnotes.

- 1) Selection of PI3Kα inhibitors dose. In order to study the role of PI3Kα in IPC using a pharmacologic approach, it is first necessary to determine the appropriate concentration of inhibitors that is effective in the Langendorff-perfused mouse heart model. The effect of PI3Kα inhibition was evaluated through its impact on Akt phosphorylation in response to the PI3Kα canonical activator, insulin. Langendorff-isolated mouse hearts were perfused during 15 min with modified Krebs and during 15 min more with one the following protocols using PI3Kα activator and inhibitors (3 animals per group): (1) Control (only modified Krebs); (2) Insulin 100 nM; (3) Insulin 100 nM with the co-administration of G326 1 μM; (5) Insulin 100 nM with the co-administration of G326 3 μM; (6) G326 3 μM; (7) Insulin 100 nM with the co-administration of BYL719 1 μM; (8) Insulin 100 nM with the co-administration of BYL719 3 μM; and (9) BYL719 3 μM. Samples were collected after finishing the protocol and processed to study Akt phosphorylation by Western blot analysis. Figure 8-1 illustrates the related study protocols.
- 2) PI3K α inhibition to abolish the IPC-induced cardioprotective effect on myocardial infarct size (*ex vivo*). In the Langendorff-perfused mouse model, isolated hearts subjected to 35 min ischaemia and 2 h reperfusion received either G326 or BYL719 during the IPC protocol (which consisted of 4-cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion), or at reperfusion. G326 and BYL719 concentrations (3 μ M) were chosen based on both previous publications (312–314) and in our dose-response characterization. Figure 8-2 and Figure 8-3, and their relevant footnotes summarize the study design for each set of experiments.
- 3) PI3Kα inhibition to block the IPC-induced cardioprotective effect (*in vivo*). We used an *in vivo* mouse model of myocardial infarction (40 min ischaemia and 120 min reperfusion) subjected to a 3-cycle IPC protocol, in the presence or absence of the PI3Kα inhibitor G326, administered through external jugular vein at reperfusion. Figure 8-4 outlines all the relevant information.
- 4) Impact of PI3Kα inhibition in IPC-induced Akt phosphorylation (*ex vivo*). In the Langendorff-perfused mouse model, hearts subjected to 15 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion, receiving either G326 or BYL719 during the IPC protocol or at

reperfusion. Akt phosphorylation were assessed separately for each set of experiments. Figure 8-5 and its corresponding footnote outlines the study design.



Figure 8-1: Overview of protocols aimed to select PI3Ka inhibitors dose

Overview of protocols performed to assess Akt phosphorylation using Western blot analysis. White empty boxes represent periods of perfusion with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg, whilst white written boxes represent periods of perfusion with the same buffer and the corresponding drug. No protocol of ischaemia/reperfusion injury was applied. Arrows represent the moment where samples were collected.

Akt and ERK phosphorylation levels were systematically studied in nine separate groups: (1) vehicle control; (2) insulin 100 nM; (3) insulin 100 nM in hearts pre-treated with wortmannin 100 nM; (4) insulin 100 nM in in hearts pre-treated with G-326 1 μ M; (5) insulin 100 nM in in hearts pre-treated with G-326 3 μ M; (6) BYL7193 μ M without insulin; (7) insulin 100 nM in in hearts pre-treated with BYL719 1 μ M; (8) insulin 100 nM in in hearts pre-treated with G-326 3 μ M; (7) insulin 100 nM in in hearts pre-treated with BYL719 1 μ M; (8) insulin 100 nM in in hearts pre-treated with G-326 3 μ M; and (9) BYL719 3 μ M without insulin.

A sample size of 3 animals/group was pre-defined considering both the exploratory purpose of the experiment and the principles of the 3Rs (Replacement, Reduction and Refinement) for humane animal research.


Figure 8-2: Study design for the assessment of PI3Ka inhibition during the IPC protocol

Overview of the Langendorff-perfused mouse protocols aimed to determine the effect on infarct size of PI3K α inhibition at the "trigger phase" in preconditioned hearts. A black box represents a period of ischaemia and a white box represents a period of perfusion with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg.

Following 20 min stabilization, six different experimental protocols were tested: (1) vehicle control; (2) IPC 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion per cycle; (3) G326 3 μ M administered during 60 min; (4) IPC 4 cycles in the context of G326 3 μ M administered during the stabilization period and IPC protocol; (5) BYL719 3 μ M administered during 60 min; and (6) IPC 4 cycles in the context of BYL719 3 μ M administered during the stabilization period.

Based on previous results from our laboratory, the sample size for this experiment was estimated for performing a two-sided test for k-independents samples (ANOVA) following 5 pairwise comparisons (18% minimum expected effect size, common SD of 8%, α =0.05 and β =0.15, ~15% expected losses). Therefore, 42 animals were allocated according to a prespecified randomization sequence (seed 588130, STATA software version 13.1). Three animals were excluded as they failed to meet inclusion criteria, hence each group included 6-7 animals.



Figure 8-3: Study design for the assessment of preconditioned hearts with PI3K α inhibition at reperfusion

Overview of the Langendorff-perfused mouse protocols aimed to determine the effect on infarct size of PI3K α inhibition at the "mediator" phase in preconditioned hearts. A black box represents a period of ischaemia and a white box represents a period of perfusion with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg.

Following 20 min stabilization, six different experimental protocols were tested: (1) vehicle control; (2) IPC 4 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion per cycle; (3) G326 3 μ M administered upon reperfusion for 30 min; (4) IPC 4 cycles plus G326 3 μ M administered at reperfusion for 30 min; (5) BYL719 3 μ M administered upon reperfusion for 30 min; and (6) IPC 4 cycles in the context of BYL719 3 μ M administered at reperfusion for 30 min.

Based on previous results from our laboratory, the sample size for this experiment was estimated for performing a two-sided test for k-independents samples (ANOVA) following 5 pairwise comparisons (18% minimum expected effect size, common SD of 8%, α =0.05 and β =0.20). In order to produce groups with equal numbers, animals were randomized after checking for the exclusion criteria. Therefore, 30 animals (n=5/group) were allocated according to a pre-specified randomization sequence (seed 93055, STATA software version 13.1). Two animals were excluded as they failed to meet inclusion criteria.



Figure 8-4: Study design for infarct size assessment protocols in preconditioned hearts in

the context of PI3Ka inhibitors at the "mediator" phase (in vivo model)

Overview of the protocols related to the in vivo mouse model of ischaemia/reperfusion injury aimed to determine the effect on infarct size of PI3K α inhibition at the "mediator" phase in preconditioned hearts. A black box represents a period of LAD occlusion (ischaemia) and a white box represents a period of LAD-non-occlusion (perfusion/reperfusion).

Following 20 min stabilization, four different experimental protocols were tested: (1) vehicle control; (2) IPC 3 cycles of 5 min ischaemia and 5 min reperfusion per cycle in the LAD; (3) IPC 3 cycles plus G326 3 μ M administered at reperfusion; and (4) G326 3 μ M administered at reperfusion.

IPC was induced by applying 3 cycles of 5 minutes ischaemia and 5 minutes reperfusion in the LAD. Vehicle control and IPC mice received 50 μ l of 6% DMSO in saline (vehicle). G326 was dissolved in DMSO and injected via external jugular vein (6 μ g per ~25g mouse) at reperfusion in groups 3 and 4.

Based on our previous experience and the results in the *ex vivo* model, the sample size for this experiment was pre-defined in six animals per group. Animals were randomized accordingly until reaching the planned sample size. Seven animals were excluded as they failed to meet inclusion criteria. A total of 33 mice were used for infarct experiments and were randomly assigned to treatment group. Seven mice died during the procedure and were therefore excluded from analyses (3 in control group, 3 in IPC and 1 in IPC+G326), hence each group included six animals.



Figure 8-5: Study design and protocols to collect tissue for Western blot analyses to

evaluate the role of PI3Ka in ischaemic preconditioning

Overview of protocols performed to assess Akt and ERK phosphorylation using Western blot analysis. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia, white boxes represent periods of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg and coloured boxes represent the perfusion of a given drug (turquoise for G326 and salmon for BYL719). Arrows represent the moment where samples were collected (in red all samples collected after IPC protocol, known as "trigger" phase; in green all samples collected at reperfusion, known as "mediator" phase).

Akt and ERK phosphorylation levels were systematically studied in two sections. In the first, samples were collected after finishing the IPC protocol (see red arrows in figure) and were classified into four groups: (1) vehicle control; (2) IPC 4 cycles; (3) IPC 4 cycles in the context of G326 3 μ M; and (4) IPC 4 cycles in the context of BYL719 3 μ M. In the second section, samples were collected after finishing a short protocol of ischaemia-reperfusion injury (see green arrows in figure) and were classified into six groups: (1) control; (2) IPC 4 cycles; (3) IPC 4 cycles with the administration of G326 3 μ M during the "trigger" phase; (4) IPC 4 cycles with the administration of BYL719 3 μ M during the "trigger" phase; (5) IPC 4 cycles with the administration of G326 3 μ M during the "mediator" phase; and (6) IPC 4 cycles with the administration of BYL719 3 μ M during the "mediator" phase.

A sample size of 5 animals/group was pre-defined in line with convention (257). Hearts were randomly assigned to each rig using a reproducible randomization sequence (seed 224466 for STATA version 13.1).

8.3.2 Data analysis

Infarct size data is expressed as mean±SEM, whilst protein phosphorylation data is reported in increase fold. Normal distribution of the data was determined using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Continuous data were compared either using one-way analysis of variance if normally distributed, or using the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test if highly skewed distributed. P-values for post hoc pairwise comparisons to the control group were adjusted using the Dunnett's test if normally distributed, or the Dunn's test if non-normally distributed. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. STATA software version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA), SPSS Statistics version 21 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) and GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) were used to perform the analyses and the graphics.

8.4 Results

8.4.1 Selection of PI3Kα inhibitors dose

To select adequate doses of PI3K α inhibitors to be used, we applied a dose-response curve using G326 and BYL719, two distinct PI3K α -selective inhibitors in the context of stimulation with insulin, a known canonical activator of PI3K α . The results of these experiments indicate that the higher dose (3 μ M) of each drug is enough to inhibit Akt(Ser473) and Akt(Thr308) phosphorylation, when co-administered with its activator insulin. Hence, a similar phosphorylation to that observed without insulin or in presence of a pan-PI3K inhibitor, is observed when applying 3 μ M of the specific PI3K α inhibitors (Figure 8-6). We therefore used these concentrations in the next experiment, either before or after global ischaemia/reperfusion to determine the relevance of the PI3K α isoform phosphorylation in preconditioning.



Figure 8-6: Effect of PI3Ka inhibitors on Akt phosphorylation

Panel A and B displays the effect of PI3K α inhibitors on Akt phosphorylation(Ser473) and Akt phosphorylation(Thr308), respectively. Panel C displays a representative example of Western blot

Bar graph showing the percentage of phosphorylation increased in all groups compared to the control group, expressed as mean \pm SEM (% of relative protein phosphorylation, normalized by its total), n=3 mice per group. Non-statistical differences were detected after using the Dunnett's post-hoc test. **P<0.01; ***P<0.001

Abbreviations: B, BYL719; C, control; G, G326; I, insulin, W, wortmannin.

8.4.2 PI3Kα inhibition in IPC

In the isolated Langendorff-perfused *ex vivo* mouse model, IPC reduced myocardial IS compared to control (49±4% vs 23±2%, P<0.001). When PI3Kα inhibition was undertaken <u>during the IPC protocol</u>, protection was not abolished neither with G326 (26±3%, P<0.001) nor with BYL719 (25±3%, P<0.001) (Figure 8-7). Neither drug affected IS on its own (G326: 52±4%, P<0.959; BYL719: 48±5%, P<0.997). In contrast, these same isoform inhibitors did block protection when given <u>at reperfusion</u> (G326: 50±3% and BYL719 47±4%, both non-significant when compared to their control group) (Figure 8-8).

This latter observation was confirmed in the *in vivo* setting when using the PI3K α isoform inhibitor at reperfusion to block IPC protection (control 56±5% vs IPC+G326 60±5%, P=0.931, whilst IPC 29±6%, P=0.003) (Figure 8-9).

	Control	IPC	G326 3µm	IPC + G326	BYL719 3µm	IPC + BYL719
PI3Kα inhibition during IPC <i>ex</i> <i>vivo</i> ()	49.4±3.5	23.0± 1.8***	52.3±3.5	25.5±3.2***	47.9±4.5	25.0±3.0***
PI3Kα inhibition at reperfusion ex <i>vivo</i> ()	47.4±4.8	19.2±2.7	46.5±4.7	50.2±3.2	49.9±3.7	46.9±3.9
PI3Kα inhibition at reperfusion <i>in</i> <i>vivo</i> ()	56.3±4.6	29.4±5.8**	59.7±4.9	56.7±4.9		

Table 8-1 summarizes the results of this section.

Table 8-1: Raw data on myocardial infarct size following IPC and PI3Kα inhibition

Results are presented as mean ± SEM and comparisons were made against the corresponding control group (*P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001).





Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean ± SEM and circles represent individual animal data.



Figure 8-8: Impact on myocardial infarct size of PI3Ka inhibition at reperfusion (ex vivo)

Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean \pm SEM and circles represent individual animal data.



Figure 8-9: Impact on myocardial infarct size of PI3Kα inhibition at reperfusion *(in vivo)*

Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean \pm SEM and circles represent individual animal data.

8.4.3 Akt phosphorylation following PI3Kα inhibition in preconditioned hearts

In isolated Langendorff-perfused hearts, IPC increased Akt phosphorylation both after finishing the IPC protocol and at reperfusion (Figure 8-10). Unlike the results observed with regard to myocardial infarct size, PI3K α inhibition blocked Akt phosphorylation also at both phases of PI3K activation.



Figure 8-10: Akt phosphorylation following PI3Kα inhibition in preconditioned hearts

Panels A, C and E illustrate Akt activity measured *after IPC* in the presence or absence of PI3K α inhibitors (ie: during the "trigger" phase), whilst Panels B, D and F illustrate Akt activity measured *at reperfusion* following PI3K α inhibition during either the trigger phase only ("drug + IPC"), or at reperfusion ("IPC + drug").

8.5 Discussion

The main objective of this chapter was to assess whether PI3K α inhibitors BYL719 and G326 abrogate the cardioprotective effect of IPC either in the trigger or the mediator phase of its biphasic response. Using a targeted pharmacological approach, we have shown that the PI3K α isoform is required during the reperfusion phase to reduce myocardial infarct size, as it has been demonstrated with IPC in both the *ex vivo* and the *in vivo* model of myocardial infarction. Interestingly, IPC-induced protection was not abolished when PI3K α inhibitors were administered during the trigger phase despite the phosphorylation of AKT being inhibited.

8.5.1 PI3K isoforms in IPC

PI3K activation is crucial in IPC-induced cardioprotection (Chapter 6). Despite the great body of evidence demonstrating the importance of PI3K as mediator of IPC, very little information is available on the particular roles played by its different isoforms in ischaemic conditioning. In the past, the signalling pathways recruited by IPC have been dissected using pharmacological approaches with broad-spectrum PI3K inhibitors wortmannin and LY294002, which when applied abrogated the IPC-induced protective effect (74,155). Both agents are highly selective for PI3K (315), although neither drug is isoform-specific. The specific role of the PI3K isoforms initiating receptor-mediating signalling in IPC have received little attention to date, these studies being based on genetically modified animal models. The number of pharmacological PI3K α inhibitors that have been developed to treat cancer (231) have provided a unique tool to explore the role of this isoform in myocardial IRI and IPC.

In the field of cardiovascular physiology and disease, PI3K α has been the focus of research in the subject of cardiac growth. McMullen's group have actively investigated this topic, concluding that PI3K α -Akt promotes physiological exercise-induced growth, but antagonize pathological growth in a model of pressure overload or a transgenic mouse model of dilated cardiomyopathy (223–226). Interestingly, both the cardiac growth and pro-survival actions have been intimately related in the kinases being recruited in cardioprotection. In fact, Akt and ERK awoke the interest by Yellon's group about 15 years

ago due to their dual activity (see the origins of the RISK pathway in section 1.6.1). Following the same reasoning, PI3K α isoform, which is known to have an important role in cardiac growth, becomes an attractive target to be used acutely in the setting of cardioprotection.

To our knowledge, there is only one study evaluating the importance of PI3K α in the context of myocardial infarction. In a heart failure model induced by myocardial infarction, Lin *et al.* have demonstrated that increased PI3K α activity can protect the heart against left ventricular dysfunction following a chronic myocardial infarction (227). Of note, this study was not evaluating PI3K α after an IRI insult, but its role in improving the subsequent pathological remodelling and heart failure that results from the chronic coronary occlusion without reperfusion (227). In this study, caPI3K α mice demonstrated less function impairment when compared to controls (227). Our observations showing that PI3K α can reduce myocardial infarction, and their observation demonstrating that the activation PI3K α can improve ventricular remodelling in the infarct tissue appears to be additive. In a sense, PI3K α has been demonstrated to be protective acutely (against IRI) and chronically (against negative myocardial remodelling).

It is important to take into account that other PI3K isoforms have been postulated to play a relevant role in IPC. PI3Ky has been shown to mediate the IPC-protective effect elicited by IPC. First, Tong *et al.* observed that transgenic mice with cardiac-specific overexpression of a catalytically inactive mutant PI3Ky lose the protective effect conferred by IPC (232). Later, Ban *et al.* confirmed the importance of the PI3Ky signalling cascade in IPC using PI3Ky knockout mice (PI3Ky^{-/-}) in a Langendorff-based model. They observed that mice lacking the γ isoform which underwent IPC resulted in a poorer functional recovery and greater tissue injury (measured by LDH release) compared to their wild-type and PI3Ky^{-/-} counterparts. Based on the importance of GPCR in IPC and the well-known protective effect of adenosine through GPCRs, they also studied the adenosine-mediated pharmacological preconditioning, suggesting PI3Ky as its main mediator (309). To put the counterpoint, they also demonstrated in the same article that mice expressing a cardiacspecific kinase-deleted PI3K α (PI3K α DN) were resistant to IRI, showing an already "preconditioned" status. This paper, which contradicts most of the results being exposed in these chapter, has several limitations: (1) the endpoint demonstrating myocardial injury was not infarct size, but a less robust endpoint of functional recovery and LDH release, which cannot be fully correlated with the gold-standard infarct size as reported in Chapter 4; (2) In PI3K $\gamma^{-/-}$ mice, IPC resulted in a statistically significant increase in LDH release compared to their PI3K $\gamma^{-/-}$ littermates not subjected to IPC, therefore suggesting that IPC is deleterious in the absence of the γ isoform; and (3) the compensatory role of other isoforms cannot be ruled out in such a transgenic model, as the targeted isoform is chronically removed from their natural environment. Unlike genetic approaches, pharmacological strategies are able to provide novel information by permitting temporally restricted inhibition during either the trigger phase or at reperfusion. As IPC is mostly mediated by GPCR ligands at the trigger phase and the genetically modified animals have "chronically" deleted PI3K γ , we might speculate that PI3K γ , which involves GPCR-ligand activation, may mediate IPC in the "trigger phase", whilst PI3K α , which involves tyrosine kinase activation, mediates IPC at reperfusion. Further studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

8.5.2 PI3Kα activity is abrogated at both IPC phases

Due to the technical challenges of directly measuring the PI3K product, PIP3, the phosphorylation of the downstream effector Akt has historically been used to indirectly assess the activity of PI3K, based on the assumption that this readout is proportional to PIP3 levels (312). In this study, Akt is used as a surrogate for PI3K activation and inhibition in line with published previous publications (194,212,225,307).

In this study, PI3Kα inhibitors did not abrogate the myocardial IS-limiting effect of IPC when used before index ischaemia, although they abolished its effect when used at reperfusion. In contrast, Akt phosphorylation was abrogated when PI3Kα was inhibited either before or after index ischaemia. This apparent conflicting data deserves further discussion. Assuming that the specific-PI3Kα inhibitors do not block other isoforms, it might happen that PI3Kα-induced Akt phosphorylation is not relevant to promote myocardial salvage during the trigger phase.

According to the results reported in Chapter 6, PI3K mediates both the trigger and the mediator phase of IPC. The primary action of PI3K is to rise PIP3 levels, which in turn

activates PDK1 and MTORC2 to actually phosphorylate Akt. It may well happen that the increase of PIP3 following PI3K activation by IPC do not only translate in Akt phosphorylation (which might be irrelevant in this phase), but in other unrevealed cellular mechanisms.

8.5.3 Limitations

These data predominantly rely on pharmacological manipulation, with all the inherent problems of target selectivity (199). Although it could be argued that genetically-modified animal models could also have been used to further examine the role of PI3K α this would not have been possible due to the chronic deletion of the protein which would not allow us to focus on specific phases of the conditioning process - i.e. before ischemia and at reperfusion. To overcome the risk of off-target effects with inhibitors, we used two structurally unrelated inhibitors and saw the same results.

8.5.4 Conclusions

Our present results on the isoform specificity of PI3K in IPC strongly suggest that PI3K α is critical for IPC-induced heart protection against IRI. In the *ex vivo* model of myocardial infarction, it has been demonstrated that PI3K α is required during the IPC reperfusion phase to reduce myocardial infarct size, whilst this same isoform is not mediating the effect during the trigger phase. The importance of PI3K α activation at reperfusion in IPC was confirmed in the *in vivo* setting.

Chapter 9 PI3Kα PHARMACOLOGICAL ACTIVATION AT REPERFUSION

9.1 Background

The ability to manipulate and up-regulate the RISK pathway during the early reperfusion phase may provide a potential approach to limiting reperfusion-induced cell death. From early studies, insulin has been shown to to mimic the IPC protective effect, hence becoming a promising pharmacological agent in the field of cardioprotection (316,317).

Insulin has been demonstrated to promote myocardial salvage when administered at reperfusion through the activation of the pro-survival kinase PI3K (86). The broadspectrum PI3K inhibitor wortmannin has been useful to implicate PI3K as the main mechanism of the insulin-induced cardioprotective effect, either in *in vitro* model using rat neonatal cardiomyocytes subjected to simulated hypoxia/reoxygenation (318), the *ex vivo* model of Langendorff-perfused rat heart (86) and the *in vivo* rat model of acute myocardial infarction (319).

Importantly PI3K α (and not PI3K β) has been identified as primarily responsible for the effects of insulin signalling (311). Despite PI3K β often being expressed at higher levels in insulin-responsive tissues (202), Foukas *et al.* reported an isoform-selective role of PI3K α in insulin-responsive tissues (202), Foukas *et al.* reported an isoform-selective role of PI3K α . The underlying mechanism proposed was a selective recruitment and activation of the catalytic subunit p110 α over p110 β to insulin receptor complexes (202). Knight *et al.* (203) used pharmacological tools to reach similar conclusions regarding the selectivity of insulin for PI3K α signalling - when adipocyte cells were stimulated with insulin, Akt phosphorylation still occurred despite PI3K β pharmacological inhibition (203). Further, Jia *et al.* observed little impact on Akt phosphorylation in response to insulin stimulation in mouse embryonic fibroblasts lacking PI3K β (212). Taken together, the findings of these studies support the concept of insulin activating Akt through PI3K α , with no involvement of PI3K β . After having elucidated the central role of PI3K α in IPC in Chapter 8, this chapter focuses on the ability to protect the heart against IRI with PI3K α activation at reperfusion.

9.2 Research aims and objectives

Can myocardial infarct size be reduced by targeting PI3K α through its canonical activator at reperfusion?

Hypothesis

Activating PI3K α activity upon reperfusion will phosphorylate Akt and therefore reduce myocardial infarct size.

Experimental aims

The overall objective of this chapter was to evaluate whether the pharmacological activation of PI3K α through the exogenous administration of its canonical activator (insulin) confers a protective effect. Below is an outline of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question of this chapter:

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Assess the role of PI3Kα activation to protect the heart against IRI using both its canonical activator and its specific inhibitor
 - Subject mouse Langendorff-perfused hearts to ischaemia-reperfusion and subsequently quantify myocardial infarct size.
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Demonstrate Akt phosphorylation in response to PI3Ka pharmacological activation and inhibition
 - Collect protein from mouse Langendorff-perfused hearts subjected to ischaemia followed by reperfusion, and use Western blot analyses to measure phosphorylation levels of Akt and ERK.

9.3 Methods

9.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

A total of 43 animals were used, although 3 hearts were excluded before randomization as they failed the predefined exclusion criteria (see below). Therefore, 41 animals were randomly allocated to treatment groups in two separate experiments:

- Study of infarct size. Twenty-six animals were used to study the effect on myocardial IS of PI3Kα activation through insulin and PI3Kα inhibition through G326, at the dose determined in Chapter 8. Figure 9-1 presents an overview of the study protocols.
- **2)** Study of phosphorylated protein levels. Fifteen animals were used to study the phosphorylated levels of Akt and ERK following PI3Kα pharmacological activation and inhibition, as summarized in Figure 9-2.

Animals used were male C57BL/6 mice (9-12 weeks, 24-28 g weight), all of them obtained pathogen free from one supplier and housed under identical conditions. G326 was obtained from Genentech through the Cancer Institute at UCL. Insulin solution human was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and its concentration dose was chosen based on previous publications (74,86). Dimethyl sulfoxide from BDH (Poole, UK) was used as the solvent for G326, as well as a vehicle control for the rest of the groups.

Details on the protocol of both the ex vivo Langendorff-perfused mouse heart model and the Western blot technique being developed can be found in section 0 and section 3.9, respectively. Regarding the latter, proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose blotting membrane (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, UK) using wet transfer and primary antibodies used were acquired either from Abcam, in the case of the loading control anti-GAPDH (mAbcam, #9484), or from Cell Signaling Technology: Akt (#9272), Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (#9271) and Phospho-Akt (Thr308) (#2965).



Figure 9-1: Study design and protocols aimed to evaluate the effect on myocardial infarct

size of PI3K α activation and inhibition in an *ex vivo* model of IRI

Overview of the Langendorff-perfused mouse heart protocols aimed to determine the effect on infarct size of PI3K α activation at reperfusion. A black box represents a period of ischaemia and a white box represents a period of perfusion with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg. Following 20 min stabilization, four different experimental protocols were tested: 1) control; 2) bradykinin (well accepted pharmacological positive control)(252) for 30 min; 3) insulin (PI3K α canonical activator) at a 5 mU/mL concentration for 30 min; and 4) insulin 5 mU/mL and G326 3 μ M co-administered upon reperfusion for 30 min.

Colour code: coloured boxes represent the perfusion of a given drug (orange for bradykinin, yellow for insulin and turquoise for the co-administration of insulin and G326).

	Ν	
Control	5	20' 15' 5'
Insulin 5 mU/mL	5	20' 15' 5'
Insulin 5 mU/mL + G326 3 μM	5	20' 15' 5'

Figure 9-2: Study design for Akt and ERK phosphorylation analysis using Western blot

Three different experimental protocol were tested: 1) control; 2) Insulin 5 mU/mL at reperfusion for 5 min reperfusion; and 3) Insulin 5 mU/mL with the co-administration of the PI3K α inhibitor G326 3 μ M at reperfusion for 5 min reperfusion. Black boxes represent periods of ischaemia and white boxes represent periods of perfusion with Krebs-Henseleit buffer at 80 mm Hg. Green arrows depict the time-point of sample collection.

9.3.2 Sample size

The sample size for the experiment aimed to evaluate myocardial infarct size was estimated for performing a two-sided test for k-independents samples (ANOVA) following 3 pairwise comparisons (15% minimum expected effect size, common SD of 8%, α =0.05 and β =0.20, ~15% expected losses). Therefore, 28 animals were allocated according to a prespecified randomization sequence (seed 9147, STATA software version 13.1). Two animals were excluded as they failed to meet inclusion criteria, hence each group included 6-7 animals.

For Western blot experiments, a sample size of 5 animals/group was pre-defined in line with convention (257). Hearts were randomly assigned to each rig using a reproducible randomization sequence (seed 333 for STATA version 13.1).

9.3.3 Data analysis

Normal distribution of each data subset was confirmed using the Shapiro-Wilk method and continuous data were therefore compared using one-way analysis of variance followed by post hoc pairwise comparisons to the control group using the Dunnett's test. All values are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean. A P-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) was used to perform both the analysis and the graphics.

9.4 Results

Once having established that PI3K α is necessary to mediate the protection provided by preconditioning in Chapter 8, we evaluated whether activation of PI3K α at reperfusion was sufficient to elicit a protective effect and examined whether insulin would mimic the cardioprotective effect afforded by IPC. When given at reperfusion, the canonical PI3K α activator (insulin) reduced myocardial IS compared to control (25±2 vs 55±4%, P<0.001) and this protection was abolished by G326 (48±3%, P=0.687 compared to control), as depicted in Figure 9-3. Accordingly, Akt was activated by insulin and blocked when G326 was co-administered at reperfusion following a protocol of IRI (Figure 9-4).



Figure 9-3: Impact of pharmacological PI3K α activation at reperfusion on myocardial infarct size

Scatter dot blots: black lines represent mean \pm SEM and circles represent individual animal data. When compared to control group (55.3 \pm 4.37), myocardial infarct size was significantly smaller with the administration of insulin (24.5 \pm 1.98, P<0.001) or the positive control bradykinin (22.4 \pm 2.67, P<0.001). The co-dministration of G326 and insulin abrogated the cardioprotective effect of the latter (48.4 \pm 2.66, P=0.687).





Panels A and B illustrate Western blot analyses for Akt(S473) and Akt(T308) respectively. Compared to control, insulin increased 10.0 ± 2.2 –fold and 9.6 ± 2.0 -fold Akt(S473) and Akt(T308) respectively, although this effect was abolished with the co-administration of G326 (0.4 ± 0.1 –fold and 0.3 ± 0.6 -fold, respectively) *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, and ns, non-significant.

9.5 Discussion

The main findings of this study can be summarized as follows: (1) the exogenous administration of the PI3K α canonical activator (insulin) at reperfusion reduced myocardial infarct size; (2) this cardioprotective effect was abolished with the co-administration of a PI3K α specific inhibitor; and (3) the PI3K α -induced protective effect is associated with Akt phosphorylation.

9.5.1 Insulin in previous cardioprotective studies: an historical perspective

The potential therapeutic use of insulin to protect ischaemic cardiomyocytes was proposed several decades ago by Sodi Pallares (320). This protective effect was first attributed to its ability to modulate glucose metabolism. The infusion of glucose-insulinpotassium (GIK), known as metabolic cocktail, was evaluated in acute myocardial infarction experimental models under the hypothesis that GIK reduces free fatty acids metabolism, therefore providing an optimal metabolic milieu to resist both ischaemic and reperfusion injury (321). However, research from Yellon, Jonassen and colleagues demonstrated later a "metabolically-independent" mechanism of GIK in protecting the heart. They hypothesized that the mitogen insulin, itself, promotes tolerance against IRI through the activation of innate cell-survival pathways in the heart, such as PI3K-Akt (316).

The case for insulin in cardioprotection greatly evolved at the turn of the century. In 1999, Baines *et al.* demonstrated that the activation of the insulin receptor reduced myocardial infarct size in the isolated rabbit heart when initiated at reperfusion and suggested the involvement of PI3K (74). In 2000, Jonassen and co-workers compared the temporal effects of administering GIK in an *in vivo* rat model of myocardial infarction and found that GIK therapy given at the onset of reperfusion reduced infarct size to the same extent as when GIK was administered throughout the entire ischaemia/reperfusion period (322). The same year (2000), Jonassen & Yellon demonstrated in simulated ischaemia/reoxygenation experiments in rat neonatal cardiomyocytes that the administration of insulin at the onset of reoxygenation enhances myocardial cell viability through anti-apoptotic effects mediated via tyrosine kinase and PI3K signalling pathways (318). In 2001, the same group demonstrated that insulin (and not glucose) was the major component of the metabolic cocktail conferring cardioprotection, as they replaced glucose by pyruvate in the buffer of their isolated rat heart model of IRI (86). They also demonstrated that early administration of insulin during reperfusion (first 15 min) is enough to elicit protection against IRI (86). Taken together, these studies brought into question the exclusivity of the metabolic hypothesis concerning GIK combination's cardioprotective effects and placed insulin as an independent cardioprotective therapy.

The contribution of the data being presented in this chapter to this story is modest. In our study, PI3K α has been revealed to be the specific PI3K isoform mediating the cardioprotective effect of insulin. On one hand, it was already known that insulin phosphorylated Akt through PI3K α (202,203). On the other hand, it was also known that insulin was a cardioprotective agent (319,323–325). Using broad-spectrum PI3K inhibitors, it was demonstrated that this protective effect was mediated through PI3K α in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* models (319,322). To our knowledge, this is the first study using a specific PI3K α inhibitor to block the protective effect elicited by insulin against IRI.

9.5.2 Insulin: lost in translation?

A number of early clinical studies evaluating the effect of the metabolic cocktail yielded promising results in the "pre-reperfusion era", and a subsequent meta-analysis suggested that GIK therapy may reduce in-hospital mortality after acute myocardial infarction (326). In fact, this meta-analysis suggested that GIK could save 49 lives per 1000 patients treated for myocardial infarction (316,326). However, subsequent clinical trials failed to demonstrate the effect of insulin in the setting of acute myocardial infarction (327).

The cardioprotective potential of the GIK cocktail was examined in the large multicentred randomized clinical trial comprising 20,201 patients undergoing PCI or thrombolysis for an STEMI, and was found to confer no beneficial effect in terms of mortality, cardiac arrest, cardiogenic shock and re-infarction at 30 days (328). This ambitious attempt to test the efficacy of GIK in acute myocardial infarction patients has been criticised for many reasons (reviewed elsewhere by Apstein & Opie) (329), the main being: (1) 17% of patients did not receive reperfusion therapy, (2) GIK was started late and often post-reperfusion; and (3) the overall mortality was abnormally high (Killip class I reperfused patients presented with a mortality rate of 7.1%), six-fold higher than in contemporary studies (329).

The Immediate Myocardial Metabolic Enhancement During Initial Assessment and Treatment in Emergency Care (IMMEDIATE) trial recruited patients with suspected acute coronary syndrome and randomized them to GIK or placebo during transfer to the hospital. This trial also failed to demonstrate efficacy in its primary endpoint, although in the subgroup of patients presenting with STEMI, GIK significantly reduced cardiac magnetic resonance-evaluated infarct size (330).

In parallel to these clinical studies, further experimental research has been carried to assess the cardioprotective effect of insulin. In studies published in 2015 and 2017, insulin has been demonstrated to be effective in the swine model of IRI (331,332). Interestingly, one of these studies have shown insulin to have additive effects with remote ischaemic conditioning on infarct size reduction (332). The fact that we have identified PI3K α to mediate the insulin-induced protective effect can move the focus from the use of insulin (a "dirty" drug with many side-effects, such as hypoglycaemia, hypokalemia, and catecholamine elevation) to the development of pharmacological agents specifically targeting PI3K α . We are not proposing insulin to come to the fore again, but to take advantage of the the overwhelming evidence demonstrating its protective effect to further improve how to target its downstream signalling.

9.5.3 Limitations

These data entirely rely on a pharmacological approach, with all the inherent problems of target selectivity (199). Glucose could be replaced by pyruvate in the Krebs buffer to ensure insulin was the only protective agent, as Jonassen *et al.* did before (86). However, we preferred to be consistent with our isolated mouse heart model and infuse the same buffer that was administered in other experiments.

9.5.4 Conclusions

Taken together the conclusions drawn from Chapter 8 and Chapter 9, this thesis is the first example to show that PI3K α is necessary and sufficient to confer cardioprotection: it is necessary for IPC to mediate cardioprotection, and it is sufficient for its activator insulin to promote myocardial salvage against IRI. The development of therapeutic agents that target downstream insulin-activated signalling molecules should be expected to promote myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction.

Chapter 10 MECHANISM AND CLINICAL POTENTIAL UNDERLYING THE PROTECTIVE EFFECT OF PI3Kα

10.1 Background

Insulin has cardioprotective effects against myocardial IRI, as demonstrated in Chapter 9. Although the impact of insulin on cell viability has been studied in rat neonatal cardiomyocytes (318) and primary isolated cardiomyocytes (324) subjected to simulated hypoxia/reoxygenation, it has been always assumed that cardioprotective therapies, such as insulin, target mostly cardiomyocytes, although other cardiac cells may play an important role. In the same way, it has been always assumed that the signalling cascade orchestrating the cardioprotective effect of insulin in mouse models can be extrapolated to human models, although little is known in this regard.

Understanding the intracellular signalling pathways that control cardiomyocyte survival has been the focus of research in cardioprotection for many years. The endeffector of cardioprotection, namely the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) has been identified as the molecule where several pathways eventually converge to protect against myocardial IRI (83,333). The mPTP is a non-specific pore of the inner mitochondrial membrane, which on opening causes cell death. Opening the mPTP permits water and solutes to enter the mitochondria, increasing matrix volume, and rupturing the outer mitochondrial membrane, leading to release of intermembrane cytochrome C release, which in turn initiates the necrosis and apoptosis. Further, its opening uncouples mitochondria, leading to ATP hydrolysis and collapse of the mitochondrial membrane potential (87). The mPTP is closed during ischaemia and only opens in the first few minutes of reperfusion, when the conditions for its opening are present: high concentration of mitochondrial calcium, ATP depletion, oxidative increase and increased matrix pH (84,109). The mPTP has been considered the central end-effector of the cell death-induced by IRI. It was initially shown that inhibiting mPTP opening at reperfusion with pharmacological agents (cyclosporine A and sanglifehrin-A) was protective (112,113). IPC was then shown to also have a protective effect which was mediated through mPTP inhibition (84,87). Later, it was demonstrated that the activation of PI3K-Akt pro-survival kinase pathway inhibits the

opening of the mPTP (254). Taken together, there is solid evidence demonstrating the link between the activation of these prosurvival kinase pathways (i.e. RISK pathway) and the mPTP to protect from myocardial IRI.

This chapter focuses upon elucidating whether PI3Kα can be manipulated in two cardiac cell types, as well as in human heart tissue. Further, the role of the end-effector mPTP following PI3Kα activation was also evaluated.

10.2 Research objectives and experimental aims

Is PI3Ka activated in both cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells?

Is the mPTP the end-effector of the cardioprotective effect of PI3K?

Are these findings of potential clinical relevance?

Hypothesis

Activating PI3K α activity upon reperfusion phosphorylates downstream Akt and therefore reduces myocardial infarct size. The hypotheses we investigated are: (1) PI3K α activation occurs specifically in either cardiomyocytes or MCECs, or non-specifically in both; (2) mPTP is the end-effector of the PI3K α -Akt cascade; and (3) PI3K α can be activated not only in mouse hearts, but also in human heart tissue.

Experimental aims

To investigate the pharmacological activation of PI3K α in several cell types and tissues, as well as mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore inhibition being a potential end-effector. Below is an outline of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question studied:

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Assess whether PI3Kα can be activated in both primary adult mouse cardiomyocyte and mouse cardiac endothelial cells (immortalized cell line)
 - Apply a pharmacological approach with both PI3Kα activator and inhibitor in both cell types, and use Western blot analyses to measure phosphorylation levels of Akt.
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Determine the effect of PI3Kα activation and inhibition on the susceptibility of cardiomyocytes to form the mPTP.
 - Use the TMRM-based confocal assay to quantify the time taken for the mPTP to open in isolated mouse cardiomyocytes in the context of a pharmacological approach with PI3Kα canonical activator and high-specific inhibitor.
- <u>Aim 3:</u> Assess whether the overall results can potentially be extrapolated to humans, activating and inhibiting PI3Kα in both mouse and human heart tissue.
 - Apply a pharmacologic approach with both PI3Kα activator and inhibitor in both cell types, and use Western blot to measure phosphorylation levels of Akt.

10.3 Methods

10.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

The experiments in these chapter can be outlined in three blocks:

- **1) PI3Kα** activation in cardiomyocytes and MCECs. Akt phosphorylation was evaluated by Western blot analyses after the pharmacological activation and inhibition of PI3Kα in the following cell types:
 - Adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. Five samples of primary cardiomyocytes were isolated using liberase according to the protocol described in section 3.6. Once stabilized for 30 min, cells incubated for 15 min according to the following interventions: (1) vehicle control (0.01%)

DMSO); (2) Insulin (5 mUI/I); (3) Insulin 5 mUI/I with 30 min pretreatment G326 3 μ M; and (4) G326 3 μ M.

- Mouse cardiac endothelial cells (MCEC, immortalized line). Five samples of MCEC were passaged and subsequently cultured according to the protocol described in section 3.7. Prior to being subjected to pharmacologic stimulation, MCECs were deprived of serum for 2 h. As with cardiomyocytes, MCECs were incubated for 15 min with: (1) vehicle control (0.01% DMSO); (2) Insulin (5 mUI/I); (3) Insulin 5 mUI/I with 30 min pretreatment G326 3 μM; and (4) G326 3 μM.
- 2) PI3Kα translational ability. Akt phosphorylation was evaluated by Western blot analyses after the pharmacological activation and inhibition of PI3Kα in the following tissues:
 - Mouse heart tissue. Five mouse Langendorff-perfused hearts were stabilized for 20 min using the Langendorff apparatus and then perfused for 15 min with: (1) vehicle control (DMSO) perfusion; (2) Insulin (5 mUl/I); (3) Insulin 5 mUl/I and G326 3 μM; and (4) G326 3 μM.
 - Human heart tissue. Five right atrial appendage samples were collected from patients undergoing cannulation for cardiopulmonary bypass either for CABG or valve replacement (see section 3.8 for further details). After being collected in the operating theatre, human atrial tissue was dissected into four pieces and swiftly submerged in previously oxygenated Tyroids' modified buffer (118.5 mM NaCl, 24.8 mM NaHCO3, 4.7 mM KCl, 1.44 mM MgSO4.7H2O, 1.2 mM K2HPO4, 1.8 mM CaCl2, 10 mM pyruvate, 10 mM D-Glucose) for 30 min in the presence of: (1) vehicle control (DMSO); (2) Insulin (5 mUl/l); (3) Insulin 5 mUl/l and G326 3 µM; and (4) G326 3 µM. Of note, the tissue was not perfused, but superfused and under ongoing temporal hypoxia.

Once collected, samples from the above blocks were added to protein lysis buffer and the tissues were homogenized before proceeding to BCA protein quantification. Details on the Western blot protocol be found in section 3.9. A nitrocellulose blotting membrane (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, UK) was used for protein transfer. Primary antibodies used were Akt (#9272, Cell Signaling Technology), Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (#9271, Cell Signaling Technology), and anti-GAPDH (#9484, Abcam).

3) Impact of PI3K α activation on the end-effector mPTP. The sensitivity of the mPTP to opening was assayed using a well-characterised and reproducible cellular model of ROS-mediated mPTP opening (334), described in detail in section 3.10. Adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes were isolated as described. Live cardiomyocytes were incubated with the fluorescent dye TMRM at 12 μ M for 15 min in Hepes based recording buffer (NaCl 156 mM, KCl 3 mM, MgSO4.7H20 2 mM, K2HPO4 1.25 mM, CaCl2 2 mM, HEPES 10 mM and D-Glucose 10 mM; pH 7.4), then washed and randomly treated for 15 min into the following groups: (1) Vehicle control; (2) insulin 5 mU/mL; (3) insulin 5 mU/mL with G326 3 μ M; and (4) G326 3 μ M alone. Once washed for a second time, mouse cardiomyocytes were stimulated with laser illumination and imaged using confocal microscopy. The time to reach half peak signal was recorded in seconds and compared across groups. A total of 19 ± 2 cardiomyocytes were analyzed for each intervention in each experiment (n=8 mice).

10.3.2 Sample size and data analysis

The sample size for the assay evaluating the sensitivity of the mPTP to opening was estimated for performing a two-sided test for k-independents samples (ANOVA) following 3 pairwise comparisons (25% minimum expected effect size, common SD of 15%, α =0.05 and β =0.20). Therefore, 8 successful cardiomyocyte isolations were needed to make solid conclusions. Three isolations were needed to set up the model, and three further isolations were excluded to either poor quality or quantity. For Western blot analyses, a sample size of 5 per group was pre-defined in line with convention (257).

Normal distribution of each data subset was tested using graphical methods and the Kolmogorov –Smirnov method. All values are presented as mean ± standard error of the

mean. If normally distributed, continuous data were compared using one-way analysis of variance followed by post hoc pairwise comparisons to the control group using the Dunnett's test. If highly skewed distributed, the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test was used with subsequent post hoc pairwise comparisons to the control group adjusted by the Dunn's test. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) was used to perform both the analyses and the graphics.

10.4 Results

10.4.1 PI3Kα can be activated in mouse cardiomyocytes and cardiac endothelial cells

Once the central role of PI3K α in cardioprotection had been established, we aimed to study whether the activation of the α isoform of PI3K was specific for cardiomyocytes or whether it could be extended to the mouse cardiac endothelial cells. As illustrated in Figure 10-1A and Figure 10-1B, PI3K α activation was approximately twofold higher in the immortalized endothelial cells compared to the primary isolated cardiomyocytes. These results are in accordance with the higher protein content demonstrated in MCECs in Chapter 7.

10.4.2 PI3K α can be activated in mouse and atrial human tissue

In order to assess the potential translation ability of PI3Kα activation, we collected human right atrial appendage samples and tested whether the PI3Kα pathway could be stimulated (patient baseline characteristics are outlined in Table 10-1). Human tissue was proven to respond to PI3Kα activation and inhibition, although to a less extent that the mouse heart tissue (Figure 10-1C and Figure 10-1D). Of note, the human tissue was not perfused, but superfused, and under ongoing temporal hypoxia whilst being transferred to the laboratory (Akt was therefore already activated in controls), whilst mouse heart tissue was perfused with modified Krebs buffer and controlled under non-ischaemic conditions.

10.4.3 PI3Kα activation delays the mPTP opening

The sensitivity of the mPTP to opening was assayed in adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes using a well-characterized cellular model of ROS-mediated mPTP opening. In the presence of insulin, the time taken to induce mPTP opening (a surrogate for cell death) was significantly increased compared to the control (571±30 s vs 459±25 s, P< 0.013), whilst the treatment with the PI3K α inhibitor G326 no longer delayed the time taken to induce mPTP opening (455±24 s, P=0.999) (Figure 10-2). The drug had no effect on its own (467±25 s, P=0.993). These results suggest that PI3K α kinase cascade promotes cardiomyocyte survival through the inhibition of the end-effector, mPTP.



Figure 10-1: Pharmacological PI3Ka activation in cells and tissues

A pharmacological approach with the PI3K α canonical activator and the G326 α -specific inhibitor was applied in adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes (Panel A), mouse cardiac endothelial cells (Panel B), isolated-perfused mouse heart tissue (Panel C) and human atrial tissue (Panel D). *P<0.05, **P<0.01, ***P<0.001, and ns, non-significant.



Figure 10-2: Effect of PI3K α activation and inhibition on mPTP opening in primary isolated

mouse cardiomyocytes

This figure depicts the graphical representation of the calculated time for mPTP opening in each group. Isolated mouse cardiomyocytes were loaded with 12 μ M TMRM, and randomized into 4 groups (control; insulin 5 mU/mL; insulin 5 mU/mL in G326 3 μ M pre-treated cells; and G326 3 μ M; n=8/group) and exposed to constant confocal laser illumination. *p<0.05.

	Total patients (n=5)		
Age	64.2 ± 18.6		
Gender (male)	4 (80%)		
Diabetes mellitus	1 (20%)		
Dyslipidemia	2 (40%)		
Hypertension	5 (100%)		
Smoking history	1 (20%)		
Prior cardiovascular disease	2 (40%)		
Preserved LVEF (>50%)	4 (80%)		
Sinus rhythm	5 (100%)		
Surgery			
CABG	3 (60%)		
AVR	1 (20%)		
CABG + AVR	1 (20%)		
Medications			
Beta blocker	4 (80%)		
ACE inhibitor	2 (40%)		
Calcium channel blocker	1 (20%)		
Statin	4 (80%)		
Antiplatelet therapy	4 (80%)		

Table 10-1: Patient baseline characteristics

Data expressed as number (%) or mean ± SD.

AVR, aortic valve replacement; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction.

10.5 Discussion

The main findings of this study can be summarized as follows: (1) PI3Kα canonical activator (insulin) increased the phosphorylation of Akt, which was abolished using the specific-PI3Kα inhibitor G326, in both primary cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells; (2) in adult mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes, PI3Kα activation delays the mPTP opening time, which is abolished using the specific-PI3Kα inhibitor G326; and (3) PI3Kα can potentially be activated in human heart tissue.

10.5.1 PI3Kα can be modulated in both cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells

As discussed in Chapter 10, insulin has previously demonstrated to mediate its cardioprotective effect through PI3K in *in vitro* (318), *ex vivo* (86) and *in vivo* models (319). Broad-spectrum PI3K inhibitors have been used to evaluate this acute effect. At cellular level, insulin can protect rat neonatal cardiomyocytes (318) and primary isolated cardiomyocytes (324) subjected to simulated hypoxia/reoxygenation. There is little information regarding the specific role of the endothelial cells in the insulin-induced protective effect, although the involvement of the eNOS isoform (highly expressed in these cells) in *in vivo* experiments suggest its potential implication. In this study, we have demonstrated that PI3K α can be modulated (activated and inhibited) in primary isolated cardiomyocytes and immortalized mouse cardiac endothelial cells, although we lack evidence on to wehter insulin increases cell viability in MCECs.

The next step was to study the impact of PI3Kα activation in cell survival through its end-effector mPTP. In 2006, work carried out in The Hatter Cardiovascular Institute unveiled the relationship between the activation of the pro-survival kinase pathway by insulin and the probability of mPTP opening upon reperfusion. Using TMRM to induce oxidative stress in primary isolated adult rat ventricular cardiomyocyctes, they demonstrated that insulin delays mPTP opening and that this effect is prevented by wortmannin or by LY294002 (broad-spectrum PI3K inhibitors), by SH-6 (Akt inhibitor) and by L-NAME (inhibitor of nitric oxide production) (254). Further, the expression of a dominant negative construct of Akt abolished the effect of insulin in delaying mPTP
opening in a cardiac cell line (HL-1) and the overexpression of constitutively active Akt was sufficient to mimic the insulin-induced effect (254). Taken together, this seminal study linked the pro-survival pathway PI3K-Akt (considered a mediator according to the signal transduction pattern of cardioprotection described in section 1.5.1) and the mPTP (considered an end-effector). Our modest contribution to this story is to have taken advantage of the both the reports linking insulin with PI3K α (202,203) and the development of PI3K α specific inhibitors (231) to selectively target this isoform. Our results suggest that PI3K α signalling promotes cardiomyocyte survival through the inhibition of the end-effector mPTP. In a simulated model of reperfusion injury, PI3K α activation impacts on mPTP opening, delaying cell death.

10.5.2 PI3Kα fits the translational RISK profile for cardioprotection

The translational perspective of our results are highlighted by the observation that PI3K α is expressed in human heart tissue and can be stimulated by its canonical activator. Given that this isoform is involved in the cardioprotection rendered by IPC and insulin at reperfusion, future therapeutic strategies could selectively target this α isoform of PI3K to enhance its protective effect against IRI. Thus, further studies with specific PI3K α activators should be tested in both small- and large-animal models, before being eventually translated in STEMI patients who undergo coronary revascularization.

10.5.3 Limitations

The sensitivity of the TMRM assay simulates the ROS-mediated mPTP opening that occurs at reperfusion. Although this model has been widely used in this context (254,334), it could be argued that does not represent a true physiological scenario. Further, the TMRM model is known to have an usually high biological variation, particularly relying on the quality of the cells being isolated.

Human heart tissue was obtained from the right atrium. Despite carefully selecting patients without arrhythmias, we appreciate that left ventricular tissue would better represent the human model. Caution should be taken when extrapolating the results on an immortalized cell line (mouse cardiac endothelial cells) to a more physiological setting.

10.5.4 Conclusions

PI3K α activation can be modulated in both primary cardiomyocytes and mouse cardiac endothelial cells, demonstrating its protective effect to be mediated through the delay in mPTP opening. Interestingly, PI3K α can be activated in human heart tissue.

Chapter 11 IS THERE A ROLE FOR PI3Kβ? A PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATION

11.1 Background

The class IA PI3K family is composed by PI3K α , PI3K β and PI3K δ . Whilst the two former are ubiquitously expressed, the latter is more abundant in hematopoietic cells (335). Despite the similarity in sequence and regulatory subunits, the catalytic subunit p110 α and p110 β have distinct functions. Their different role in cell function can be explained by their differential expression between tissues, their subcellular location and their lipid-kinase properties, as explained in section 1.7.4. Importantly, PI3K β can be engaged either by RTK and GPCRs, whilst PI3K α activation is exclusively mediated through RTK receptors. Further, there is growing evidence that PI3K β is synergistically activated by both receptors, acting in concert for cooperative signalling of (210).

In previous chapters, insulin has been studied as PI3K α canonical activator, phosphorylating the p110 α catalytic subunit and enhancing Akt activity through RTK signalling. In contrast, in studies in mouse embryonic fibroblasts, PI3K β has been shown to be insensitive to activation by growth factors that act through classical RTK signalling, such as insulin, but has been demonstrated to mediate PI3K signalling downstream of certain GCPR ligands, such as Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF1 α) (191,208,210,212).

SDF-1 α (or CXCL12) is a chemokine of 10 kDa that is induced by hypoxia and recruits stem cells, but also has been demonstrated to be cardioprotective against IRI, particularly through its receptor CXCR4 (336). Using an elegant approach, Yellon and colleagues reported that: (1) remote ischaemic conditioning increased SDF-1 α plasma levels; (2) the exogenous administration of SDF1 α increases functional recovery in an *ex vivo* rat papillary muscle; and (3) this protective effect was mediated through CXCR4, as it can be blocked using the CXCR4 inhibitor AMD3100 (337). In other studies, Hu *et al.*, not only demonstrated SDF1 α release in isolated cardiomyocytes following an hypoxia/reoxygenation insult, but also reported that the exogenous administration of 25 nmol/l of SDF1 α for 10 min results in increased phosphorylation of Akt (338). In chronic infarct models (coronary occlusion without reperfusion), the intracardiac injection of SDF1 α has been demonstrated to increase angiogenesis through a PI3K-Akt mediated mechanism

(339), whilst the overexpression of SDF1 α through adeno-associated virus has been shown to enhance cardiac stem cells migration and engraftment, and reduce infarcted size via CXCR4/PI3K pathway (340). Furthermore, Yellon & colleagues also demonstrated to mimic the protective effect elicited by IPC with the administration of SDF1 α in a model of simulated IRI using isolated human atrial trabeculae muscle (341). Altogether, there is a growing body of evidence demonstrating that SDF1 α is cardioprotective, and that this protection might be conferred through Akt activation.

As exposed in the previous two paragraphs, SDF-1 α has been demonstrated in separate studies to both activate Akt through PI3K β and to be cardioprotective, hence suggesting a potential link between PI3K β and cardioprotection, SDF1 α . This would be reinforced by the fact that IPC is believed to be mostly mediated by GPCRs, rather than RTKs.

The role of PI3K α in cardioprotection has been described in Chapters 8 to 10. The focus of this chapter is to begin to try and understand whether there is a possible role for PI3K β in cardioprotection. We sought to do this by using the potential PI3K β agonist, SDF1 α , as a means of elucidating a potential role for PI3 kinase β .

11.2 Research objectives and experimental aims

Is SDF1α able to activate AKT through PI3Kβ?

Hypothesis

In order to test the role of PI3K β in cardioprotection, it is needed to demonstrate an adequate pharmacological activation and inhibition of this kinase. SDF1 α has been described as PI3K β activator(191,217), therefore the hypothesis was to demonstrate the activation of Akt (as surrogate for PI3K β) following the administration of SDF1 α .

Experimental aims

To preliminary investigate PI3K β activation with the purpose of subsequently testing PI3K β specific inhibitors when available. Below is an overview of the main aims, including the proposed models related to the research question of this chapter:

- <u>Aim 1:</u> Demonstrate Akt phosphorylation in response to PI3K6 activation using SDF1α in mouse isolated Langendorff-perfused hearts
 - Apply two separate doses of SDFα in Langendorff-perfused mouse hearts and use Western blot analyses to measure phosphorylation levels of Akt.
- <u>Aim 2:</u> Demonstrate Akt phosphorylation in response to PI3K6 activation using SDF1 α in a mouse cardiac endothelial cell line
 - Apply two separate doses of SDFα in mouse cardiac endothelial cells (immortalized line) and use Western blot analyses to measure phosphorylation levels of Akt.

11.3 Methods

11.3.1 Experimental design and study protocols

Two experimental groups were performed to study Akt phosphorylation:

- Mouse heart tissue. Nine male C57BL/6 mice (9-12 weeks, 24-28 g weight) were perfused for 15 min in the Langendorff apparatus with modified Krebs-Henseleit buffer, and subsequently randomized to 15 min extra perfusion with: (1) vehicle control; (2) SDF 25 ng/mL; and (3) SDF 100 ng/mL.
- 2) Mouse cardiac endothelial cells (MCEC, immortalized line). Three passages of MCEC were cultured and randomized into the following groups (1) vehicle control;
 (2) SDF 25 ng/mL for 5 min; (3) SDF 100 ng/mL for 5 min; (4) SDF 25 ng/mL for 15 min; and (5) SDF 100 ng/mL for 15 min.

Once collected, the samples were introduced into protein lysis buffer, the tissue was homogenized and the protein extracted from either cells or tissue and analysed via the BCA method. Details on protein quantification and Western blot protocol can be found in section 3.9. Proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose blotting membrane (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, UK) using wet transfer. The primary antibodies used were acquired either from Abcam, in the case of the loading control anti-GAPDH (mAbcam, #9484), or from Cell Signaling Technology: Akt (#9272), Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (#9271) and Phospho-Akt (Thr308) (#2965). Recombinant human SDF-1α was obtained from Miltenyi Biotec Inc.

The concentration of SDF-1 α used in these cardioprotective studies was 25 ng/mL (337,341,342). A higher concentration was also tested based on the assumption that a higher concentration may be required to allow sufficient activation in an *ex vivo* model.

11.3.2 Data analysis

Normal distribution of each data subset was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk method. Data was non-normally distributed, therefore the non-parametric Kruskal–Wallis test was used to compare means. As none of the comparisons resulted in statistical significance, no further post hoc tests were performed. All values are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean. A P-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. STATA software, version 13.1 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA) and GraphPad Prism version 6.00 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla California, USA) were used to perform the analysis and the graphics.

11.4 Results

The results of the protein analyses are depicted in Figure 11-1 for mouse cardiac tissue and Figure 11-2 for mouse cardiac endothelial cells, and a breakdown of the results can be found in the corresponding footnote. Overall, SDF1 α does not increase Akt phosphorylation.



Figure 11-1: Akt response to SDF1 α in mouse cardiac tissue

Bar graph shows the percentage of phosphorylation in all groups compared to the control group, expressed as mean ± SEM (percentage of relative phosphorylation), n=3 per group. For Akt(S473) phosphorylation (panel A), the fold-increase of SDF1 α groups when compared to vehicle control was: SDF1 α 25 ng/mL 0.9 ± 0.5 and SDF1 α 100 ng/mL 1.1 ± 0.5 (P=0.301). For Akt(T308) phosphorylation (panel B), the fold-increase of SDF1 α groups when compared to vehicle control was: SDF1 α 25 ng/mL 0.8 ± 0.2 and SDF1 α 100 ng/mL 1.1 ± 0.4 (P=0.252).



Figure 11-2: Akt response to SDF1a in mouse cardiac endothelial cells

Bar graph shows the percentage of phosphorylation in all groups compared to the control group, expressed as mean \pm SEM (percentage of relative phosphorylation), n=3 per group. For Akt(S473) phosphorylation, the fold-increase of SDF1 α groups when compared to vehicle control was: SDF1 α 25 ng/mL (5 min) 1.1 \pm 0.3, SDF1 α 100 ng/mL (5 min) 0.6 \pm 0.1, SDF1 α 25 ng/mL (15 min) 1.0 \pm 0.2, and SDF1 α 100 ng/mL (15 min) 1.1 \pm 0.2 (P=0.429).

11.5 Discussion

This chapter aimed to lay the ground to investigate the role of PI3K β in cardioprotection in the future studies. However, these preliminary experiments failed to demonstrate SDF1 α as a reliable agonist of PI3K β at the doses used in the isolated perfused mouse heart and the mouse endothelial cell line. Further experiments will be needed to determine a reliable PI3K β agonist (or an appropriate SDF1 α dose), and then to elucidate the appropriate concentration of the PI3K β inhibitors (i.e. TGX-155).

Although the sample size for each group is small; these being only preliminary results, there is no hint towards SDF1 α being a good PI3K β activator. To interpret these results, several considerations need to be taken into account, such as the dose of SDF1 α , the tissue and cell type being tested and the features of PI3K β activation.

There is solid evidence demonstrating that SDF1 α is cardioprotective (336– 338,341). Despite the aforementioned study published by Hu *et al.* demonstrating Akt activation following the exogenous administration of SDF1 α in primary cardiomyocytes (338), others have involved further mechanisms to justify the protective effect elicited by SDF1 α . Huang *et al.* found that SDF1 α improves functional recovery in isolated mouse hearts subjected to IRI through the upregulation of STAT3 (342), a central mediator of the SAFE pathway (81). Interestingly, in this study they failed to demonstrate either an increase in Akt phosphorylation or attenuation of the protective effect using the PI3K pan-inhibitor LY294002 (342). In an *ex vivo* Langendorff model of IRI, Jang *et al.* demonstrated both myocardial infarct size reduction and ERK activation at early reperfusion with the administration of SDF1 α given 10 min before reperfusion to 30 min after (343). Therefore, these results should not be interpreted as SDF1 α not being cardioprotective, but rather not activating Akt at the doses being given.

The doses of SDF1 α tested in this study (25 ng/mL and 100 ng/mL) were based on what had previously been reported in the literature. Previous publications can be classified into those proving SDF-1 α as a cardioprotective therapy and those demonstrating the interaction SDF-1 α -PI3K β through a GPCR, but no publications reporting PI3K β as mediator for SDF1 α -induced protective effect has to date been published. Those studies focused on testing the cardioprotective effect of SDF1 α used a dose of 25 ng/mL dissolved in saline

vehicle, although other have used lower amounts of the chemokine when applied to cardiomyocytes (338). Huang et al. (342) in a Langendorff-perfused mouse heart model undertook a dose-response curve using doses of 5, 15 and 25 ng/mL of SDF1 α , eventually selecting the latter. In studies undertaken in the Hatter Cardiovascular Institute using a superfused human atrial trabeculae, 25 ng/mL of SDF-1α also proved to be protective (341). On the other hand, those studies using SDF-1 α as tool to describe PI3K β signalling features have applied a dose of 30 ng/mL in a variety of cells (191,217), which are within the range of the doses being tested here. Interestingly, these studies have shown SDF1 α to activate the PI3Kß pathway in NIH 3T3 mouse embryonic fibroblast cells (191) and in aortic ring tissue (217). In the former study, SDF-1 α increased the phosphorylation of Akt, which was abolished by the application of either the pan-specific PI3K inhibitor LY294002 and the PI3K β inhibitor TGX-155, therefore suggesting a predominant PI3K β effect, whilst in the same setting, insulin also activated Akt, and this effect was abolished by the broadspectrum PI3K inhibitor, but not by the PI3K β inhibitor, therefore suggesting that the β isoform is not involved in the insulin Akt-mediated effect (191). In the latter study , SDF1 α was demonstrated to induce microvessel outgrowth of aortic rings through p110ß and downstream Akt activation, without involving p110 α (217). Although our results do not point towards the same conclusions, it may well be that SDF1 α , at these doses, only activates PI3KB in certain cell types and tissues (i.e. different expression or receptor sensitivity), whilst different doses are required in the heart.

Since SDF1a is only a GPCR ligand, stimulating this receptor may not be sufficient to activate PI3K β . As described in other settings, the synergistic action of both RTK and GPCRs might be required to activate PI3K β (209,210,214). Finally, it should not be ruled out that SDF1 α does not activate PI3K β . Other GPCRs ligands which have demonstrated to mediate the activation of Akt through PI3K β could potentially be tested, such as sphingosine-1-phosphate and lysophosphatidic acid (191). If one of them are shown to activate Akt, a set of experiments with pan-specific PI3K inhibitors (i.e. wortmannin) and PI3K β -specific inhibitors (i.e. TGX155) should be carried out to determine the specific dose required for PI3K β inhibition to be eventually tested, in experiments testing cardioprotective therapies such as ischaemic preconditioning.

If the role of specific PI3K isoforms are determined by their predominant expression in the tissue, rather than by its biochemical differences amongst other isoforms, then PI3K α should play a central role when compared to PI3K β . The relative low levels of the PI3K β isoform shown in Chapter 7, and particularly the differences in PI3K β expression between mouse and human heart tissues, are not at this stage indicative for PI3K β having relevant role of in human tissue.

11.5.1 Limitations

Only two doses were applied in these experiments. It is unknown whether a longer (or shorter) period of SDF1 α exposure might change the results. The small sample size should be taken into account when interpreting these results.

11.5.2 Conclusions

SDF-1 α does not activate Akt at 25 ng/mL and 100 ng/mL neither in Langendorffperfused isolated mouse heart nor in mouse cardiac endothelial cells. The potential for the PI3K β isoform is still unclear and requires much further studying including a need to identify a reliable PI3K β activator in this setting.

Chapter 12 OVERALL CONCLUSIONS

12.1 Summary of findings

Acute myocardial infarction is the leading causes of mortality and morbidity worldwide. To improve clinical outcomes in patients with myocardial infarction, we need to both improve the implementation and timings of reperfusion therapy and to address the paradoxical injury induced by reperfusion. The use of cardioprotective interventions administered as adjunct to reperfusion in this regard are an unmet clinical need.

Ischaemic preconditioning is the most powerful cardioprotective intervention known and its underlying signalling has become the paradigm for cardioprotection. The infarct size-sparing effect elicited by IPC is mediated by endogenous pro-survival signalling pathways, such as the RISK pathway, which encompasses both PI3K and ERK cascades. The aim of this project was to investigate the role of the specific PI3K α isoform in cardioprotection.

Before studying the role of PI3K α , we first provide a thorough characterization of the ischaemia/reperfusion model in the *ex vivo* Langendorff-perfused isolated mouse heart model, dissecting the contribution of the length of ischaemia and reperfusion to the final myocardial infarct size. Then, we undertook a systematic analysis of the kinases involved within the PI3K-Akt pathway including an assessment of the phosphatase, PTEN, concluding that PI3K plays a pivotal role in the protective effect elicited by IPC.

Before evaluating the protective effect of PI3K α against IRI, we quantified the protein levels of the two main cardiac isoforms. To our knowledge, this thesis provides the first quantification of the amount of PI3K α and PI3K β in mouse and human heart tissue, as well as the comparison between endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes. Importantly, the protein levels of PI3K α are comparable between mouse and human heart tissue, whilst human tissue expresses proportionally less PI3K β compared with mouse.

In subsequent experiments, we demonstrated that PI3K α is critical for IPC-induced heart protection against IRI. In the *ex vivo* model of myocardial infarction, we showed that

PI3K α is required during the IPC reperfusion phase to reduce myocardial infarct size, whilst this same isoform is not mediating the effect during the trigger phase. The importance of PI3K α activation at reperfusion in IPC was confirmed in the *in vivo* setting. Using insulin as canonical activator, we also showed that PI3K α is not only necessary for IPC to confer cardioprotection, but sufficient for its activator to promote myocardial salvage against IRI.

Furthermore, we also confirmed that PI3K α activation delays mPTP opening in primary isolated cardiomyocytes. Finally, we showed that PI3K α can be modulated in both cardiomyocytes and immortalized mouse cardiac endothelial cells, as well as in mouse and human heart tissue. This last observation highlights the potential ability of PI3K α to be translated into the clinical setting.

In regards to SDF1 α , further experiments are indeed required to strengthen our preliminary data. Nonetheless, although our results do not challenge the fact that SDF1 α has cardioprotective properties, they suggest that this effect is not mediated by Akt, and therefore it seems very unlikely to be mediated by PI3K β .

12.2 Clinical implications

The translational outlook of our results is highlighted by the observation that PI3K α is expressed in human heart tissue and can be modulated by its canonical activator. Taking into account that this isoform is mediating the IPC-induced protective effect against IRI, and its activation through insulin at reperfusion is sufficient to confer cardioprotecton, future therapeutic strategies could selectively target this α isoform of PI3K to enhance its activity promoting myocardial salvage. Further studies with specific PI3K α activators should be tested in large-animal models, before being eventually translated in STEMI patients who undergo coronary revascularization.

12.3 Further investigations & future directions

Use of genetically modified animal models

This thesis predominantly relies on pharmacological manipulation, with all the inherent problems of target selectivity (199). Confirming these results in genetically-modified animal models would make our conclusions more solid, although this type of approach would not allow us to focus on specific phases of the conditioning process - i.e. before ischemia and at reperfusion.

Linking PI3K α activation to the protection elicited by remote ischaemic conditioning

We have demonstrated in the current study that, within the RISK pathway, PI3K α plays a major role in the cardioprotective effect of both ischaemic preconditioning and insulin administration. There is solid evidence demonstrating that remote ischaemic conditioning consistently results in activation of the RISK pathway (344), although the mechanisms underlying the effect afforded by remote conditioning are overall less known. Further research needs to be undertaken to conduct a solid approach demonstrating that this other form of conditioning is also mediated by PI3K α . This would broaden the clinical interest on this particular isoform, as remote conditioning has a great potential to be translated into the clinical setting.

Development of specific pharmacological agents targeting PI3Ka at reperfusion

In this thesis, insulin has been used as canonical activator for PI3K α . Taken into account that this metabolic agent has multiple targets and can be considered a "dirty" drug with many side-effects (i.e. hypoglycaemia, hypokalemia, and catecholamine elevation), it would be useful to actually develop a pharmacological agent specifically targeting PI3K α . The focus of this thesis is not to return life to insulin as a cardioprotective agent, but to take advantage of the overwhelming evidence demonstrating its protective effect to further improve how to target its downstream signalling.

Effects of the upregulation or abolishment of other isoforms on ischaemia/reperfusion experimental models

If an alternative ligand to SDF1 α is found to activate Akt through PI3K β , it would be interesting to evaluate its potential cardioprotective role, and if proved, whether using a combination of the two isoforms is additive. Considering that mostly GPCRs mediate the protective effect of the autocoids released by IPC, it would be actually very interesting to study whether either PI3K β or PI3K γ (both of them downstream of GCPRs) are also involved in the "trigger" phase of IPC. One might speculate that activating both GPCRs and RTK can act synergistically to promote myocardial salvage against IRI.

REFERENCES

- Roth GA, Johnson C, Abajobir A, Abd-Allah F, Abera SF, Abyu G, Ahmed M, Aksut B, Alam T, Alam K, Alla F, Alvis-Guzman N, Amrock S, Ansari H, Ärnlöv J, Asayesh H, Atey TM, Avila-Burgos L, Awasthi A, Banerjee A, Barac A, Bärnighausen T, Barregard L, Bedi N, Belay Ketema E, Bennett D, Berhe G, Bhutta Z, Bitew S, Carapetis J, et al. Global, Regional, and National Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases for 10 Causes, 1990 to 2015. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017;**70**:1–25.
- Nichols M, Townsend N, Scarborough P, Rayner M. Cardiovascular disease in Europe 2014: epidemiological update. *Eur Heart J* 2014;35:2950–2959.
- Global Burden of Disease Study 2013 Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* 2015;**386**:743–800.
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, Ferranti S de, Després J-P, Fullerton HJ, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Liu S, Mackey RH, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER, Moy CS, Muntner P, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2015;**131**:e29-322.
- 5. Werf F Van de. The history of coronary reperfusion. *Eur Heart J* 2014;**35**:2510–2515.
- Ibáñez B, Heusch G, Ovize M, Werf F Van de. Evolving Therapies for Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65:1454–1471.
- Keeley EC, Boura JA, Grines CL. Primary angioplasty versus intravenous thrombolytic therapy for acute myocardial infarction: a quantitative review of 23 randomised trials. *Lancet* 2003;**361**:13–20.
- Montecucco F, Carbone F, Schindler TH. Pathophysiology of ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: novel mechanisms and treatments. *Eur Heart J* 2016;**37**:1268–1283.
- 9. Fröhlich GM, Meier P, White SK, Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial reperfusion

injury: Looking beyond primary PCI. *Eur Heart J* 2013;**34**:1714–1724.

- 10. Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Myocardial reperfusion injury. *N Engl J Med* 2007;**357**:1121–1135.
- 11. Rossello X, Pocock SJ, Julian DG. Long-Term Use of Cardiovascular Drugs. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2015;**66**:1273–1285.
- Setoguchi S, Glynn RJ, Avorn J, Mittleman MA, Levin R, Winkelmayer WC. Improvements in long-term mortality after myocardial infarction and increased use of cardiovascular drugs after discharge: a 10-year trend analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;51:1247–1254.
- Ovize M, Thibault H, Przyklenk K. Myocardial conditioning: Opportunities for clinical translation. *Circ Res* 2013;**113**:439–450.
- 14. Yeh RW, Normand S-LT, Wang Y, Barr CD, Dominici F. Geographic disparities in the incidence and outcomes of hospitalized myocardial infarction: does a rising tide lift all boats? *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2012;**5**:197–204.
- 15. World-Health-Organization. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2014. http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd-status-report-2014/en/.
- Pedersen F, Butrymovich V, Kelbæk H, Wachtell K, Helqvist S, Kastrup J, Holmvang L, Clemmensen P, Engstrøm T, Grande P, Saunamäki K, Jørgensen E. Short- and longterm cause of death in patients treated with primary PCI for STEMI. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;64:2101–2108.
- Yusuf S, Reddy S, Ounpuu S, Anand S. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: Part II: variations in cardiovascular disease by specific ethnic groups and geographic regions and prevention strategies. *Circulation* 2001;**104**:2855–2864.
- 18. Li J, Li X, Wang Q, Hu S, Wang Y, Masoudi FA, Spertus JA, Krumholz HM, Jiang L, China PEACE Collaborative Group. ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in China from 2001 to 2011 (the China PEACE-Retrospective Acute Myocardial Infarction Study): a retrospective analysis of hospital data. *Lancet* 2015;**385**:441– 451.
- 19. Kristensen SD, Laut KG, Fajadet J, Kaifoszova Z, Kala P, Mario C Di, Wijns W, Clemmensen P, Agladze V, Antoniades L, Alhabib KF, Boer M-J De, Claeys MJ,

Deleanu D, Dudek D, Erglis A, Gilard M, Goktekin O, Guagliumi G, Gudnason T, Hansen KW, Huber K, James S, Janota T, Jennings S, Kajander O, Kanakakis J, Karamfiloff KK, Kedev S, Kornowski R, et al. Reperfusion therapy for ST elevation acute myocardial infarction 2010/2011: current status in 37 ESC countries. *Eur Heart J* 2014;**35**:1957–1970.

- Menees DS, Peterson ED, Wang Y, Curtis JP, Messenger JC, Rumsfeld JS, Gurm HS. Door-to-balloon time and mortality among patients undergoing primary PCI. N Engl J Med 2013;369:901–909.
- 21. Miura T, Yellon DM, Hearse DJ, Downey JM. Determinants of infarct size during permanent occlusion of a coronary artery in the closed chest dog. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1987;**9**:647–654.
- Reimer KA, Lowe JE, Rasmussen MM, Jennings RB. The wavefront phenomenon of ischemic cell death. 1. Myocardial infarct size vs duration of coronary occlusion in dogs. *Circulation* 1977;**56**:786–794.
- Maroko PR, Kjekshus JK, Sobel BE, Watanabe T, Covell JW, Ross J, Braunwald E. Factors influencing infarct size following experimental coronary artery occlusions. *Circulation* 1971;43:67–82.
- 24. Stone GW, Selker HP, Thiele H, Patel MR, Udelson JE, Ohman EM, Maehara A, Eitel I, Granger CB, Jenkins PL, Nichols M, Ben-Yehuda O. Relationship Between Infarct Size and Outcomes Following Primary PCI: Patient-Level Analysis From 10 Randomized Trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;67:1674–1683.
- 25. McAlindon E, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Suleiman MS, Baumbach A. Infarct size reduction in acute myocardial infarction. *Heart* 2015;**101**:155–160.
- Bolli R, Becker L, Gross G, Mentzer R, Balshaw D, Lathrop DA. Myocardial protection at a crossroads: the need for translation into clinical therapy. *Circ Res* 2004;**95**:125– 134.
- 27. Rentrop KP, Feit F. Reperfusion therapy for acute myocardial infarction: Concepts and controversies from inception to acceptance. *Am Heart J* 2015;**170**:971–980.
- Heusch G. Cardioprotection: chances and challenges of its translation. *Lancet* 2013;**381**:166–175.

- 29. Jennings RB, Sommers HM, Smyth GA, Flack HA, Lin H. Myocardial necrosis induced by temporary occlusion of a coronary artery in the dog. *Arch Pathol* 1960;**70**:68–78.
- Jennings RB. Historical perspective on the pathology of myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Circ Res* 2013;113:428–438.
- Braunwald E, Kloner RA. Myocardial reperfusion: a double-edged sword? J Clin Invest 1985;76:1713–1719.
- Maroko PR, Libby P, Ginks WR, Bloor CM, Shell WE, Sobel BE, Ross J. Coronary artery reperfusion. I. Early effects on local myocardial function and the extent of myocardial necrosis. *J Clin Invest* 1972;**51**:2710–2716.
- Murry CE, Jennings RB, Reimer KA. Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation* 1986;**74**:1124–1136.
- 34. Marber MS, Latchman DS, Walker JM, Yellon DM. Cardiac stress protein elevation 24 hours after brief ischemia or heat stress is associated with resistance to myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 1993;88:1264–1272.
- Przyklenk K, Bauer B, Ovize M, Kloner RA, Whittaker P. Regional ischemic 'preconditioning' protects remote virgin myocardium from subsequent sustained coronary occlusion. *Circulation* 1993;87:893–899.
- Schulman D, Latchman DS, Yellon DM. Urocortin protects the heart from reperfusion injury via upregulation of p42/p44 MAPK signaling pathway. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol* 2002;**283**:H1481–H1488.
- Zhao Z-Q, Corvera JS, Halkos ME, Kerendi F, Wang N-P, Guyton RA, Vinten-Johansen J. Inhibition of myocardial injury by ischemic postconditioning during reperfusion: comparison with ischemic preconditioning. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2003;**285**:H579-88.
- 38. De-Luca G, Suryapranata H, Ottervanger JP, Antman EM. Time delay to treatment and mortality in primary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction: every minute of delay counts. *Circulation* 2004;**109**:1223–1225.
- 39. Gersh BJ, Stone GW, White HD, Holmes DR. Pharmacological facilitation of primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute myocardial infarction: is the slope of the curve the shape of the future? JAMA 2005;293:979–986.

- 40. Bulluck H, Hausenloy DJ. Ischaemic conditioning: are we there yet? *Heart* 2015;**101**:1067–1077.
- Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Ischaemic conditioning and reperfusion injury. Nat Rev Cardiol 2016;13:193–209.
- 42. Kloner RA. No-reflow phenomenon: maintaining vascular integrity. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* **16**:244–250.
- Wever KE, Hooijmans CR, Riksen NP, Sterenborg TB, Sena ES, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Warlé MC. Determinants of the Efficacy of Cardiac Ischemic Preconditioning: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Animal Studies. *PLoS One* 2015;**10**:e0142021.
- Wever KE, Menting TP, Rovers M, Vliet JA van der, Rongen GA, Masereeuw R, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Hooijmans CR, Warlé M. Ischemic Preconditioning in the Animal Kidney, a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Eltzschig HK, ed. *PLoS One* 2012;**7**:e32296.
- 45. Birnbaum Y, Hale SL, Kloner RA. Ischemic preconditioning at a distance: reduction of myocardial infarct size by partial reduction of blood supply combined with rapid stimulation of the gastrocnemius muscle in the rabbit. *Circulation* 1997;**96**:1641–1646.
- Bromage DI, Pickard JMJ, Rossello X, Ziff OJ, Burke N, Yellon DM, Davidson SM. Remote ischaemic conditioning reduces infarct size in animal in vivo models of ischaemia-reperfusion injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cardiovasc Res* 2016;**113**:288–297.
- 47. Pryds K, Terkelsen CJ, Sloth AD, Munk K, Nielsen SS, Schmidt MR, Bøtker HE. Remote ischaemic conditioning and healthcare system delay in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. *Heart* 2016;**102**:1023–1028.
- Staat P, Rioufol G, Piot C, Cottin Y, Cung TT, L'Huillier I, Aupetit J-F, Bonnefoy E, Finet G, André-Fouët X, Ovize M. Postconditioning the human heart. *Circulation* 2005;112:2143–2148.
- 49. Thibault H, Piot C, Staat P, Bontemps L, Sportouch C, Rioufol G, Cung TT, Bonnefoy E, Angoulvant D, Aupetit J-F, Finet G, André-Fouët X, Macia JC, Raczka F, Rossi R, Itti R,

Kirkorian G, Derumeaux G, Ovize M. Long-term benefit of postconditioning. *Circulation* 2008;**117**:1037–1044.

- Freixa X, Bellera N, Ortiz-Pérez JT, Jiménez M, Paré C, Bosch X, De-Caralt TM, Betriu A, Masotti M. Ischaemic postconditioning revisited: lack of effects on infarct size following primary percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur Heart J* 2012;**33**:103–112.
- Sörensson P, Saleh N, Bouvier F, Böhm F, Settergren M, Caidahl K, Tornvall P, Arheden H, Rydén L, Pernow J. Effect of postconditioning on infarct size in patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction. *Heart* 2010;**96**:1710–1715.
- 52. Hausenloy DJ, Candilio L, Evans R, Ariti C, Jenkins DP, Kolvekar S, Knight R, Kunst G, Laing C, Nicholas J, Pepper J, Robertson S, Xenou M, Clayton T, Yellon DM, ERICCA Trial Investigators. Remote Ischemic Preconditioning and Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery. N Engl J Med 2015;**373**:1408–1417.
- 53. Meybohm P, Bein B, Brosteanu O, Cremer J, Gruenewald M, Stoppe C, Coburn M, Schaelte G, Böning A, Niemann B, Roesner J, Kletzin F, Strouhal U, Reyher C, Laufenberg-Feldmann R, Ferner M, Brandes IF, Bauer M, Stehr SN, Kortgen A, Wittmann M, Baumgarten G, Meyer-Treschan T, Kienbaum P, Heringlake M, Schön J, Sander M, Treskatsch S, Smul T, Wolwender E, et al. A Multicenter Trial of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning for Heart Surgery. N Engl J Med 2015;**373**:1397–1407.
- 54. Hausenloy DJ, Mwamure PK, Venugopal V, Harris J, Barnard M, Grundy E, Ashley E, Vichare S, Salvo C Di, Kolvekar S, Hayward M, Keogh B, MacAllister RJ, Yellon DM. Effect of remote ischaemic preconditioning on myocardial injury in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2007;**370**:575–579.
- 55. Bøtker HE, Kharbanda R, Schmidt MR, Bøttcher M, Kaltoft AK, Terkelsen CJ, Munk K, Andersen NH, Hansen TM, Trautner S, Lassen JF, Christiansen EH, Krusell LR, Kristensen SD, Thuesen L, Nielsen SS, Rehling M, Sørensen HT, Redington AN, Nielsen TT. Remote ischaemic conditioning before hospital admission, as a complement to angioplasty, and effect on myocardial salvage in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2010;**375**:727–734.
- 56. Yellon DM, Ackbarkhan AK, Balgobin V, Bulluck H, Deelchand A, Dhuny MR, Domah

N, Gaoneadry D, Jagessur RK, Joonas N, Kowlessur S, Lutchoo J, Nicholas JM, Pauvaday K, Shamloll O, Walker JM, Hausenloy DJ. Remote Ischemic Conditioning Reduces Myocardial Infarct Size in STEMI Patients Treated by Thrombolysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2015;**65**:2764–2765.

- 57. Hausenloy DJ, Kharbanda R, Rahbek Schmidt M, Møller UK, Ravkilde J, Okkels Jensen L, Engstrøm T, Garcia Ruiz JM, Radovanovic N, Christensen EF, Sørensen HT, Ramlall M, Bulluck H, Evans R, Nicholas J, Knight R, Clayton T, Yellon DM, Bøtker HE. Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in patients presenting with an ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur Heart J* 2015;**36**:1846–1848.
- Andreka G, Vertesaljai M, Szantho G, Font G, Piroth Z, Fontos G, Juhasz ED, Szekely L, Szelid Z, Turner MS, Ashrafian H, Frenneaux MP, Andreka P. Remote ischaemic postconditioning protects the heart during acute myocardial infarction in pigs. *Heart* 2007;93:749–752.
- 59. Eitel I, Stiermaier T, Rommel KP, Fuernau G, Sandri M, Mangner N, Linke A, Erbs S, Lurz P, Boudriot E, Mende M, Desch S, Schuler G, Thiele H. Cardioprotection by combined intrahospital remote ischaemic perconditioning and postconditioning in ST-elevation myocardial infarction: the randomized LIPSIA CONDITIONING trial. *Eur Heart J* 2015;
- Babu GG, Walker JM, Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. Peri-procedural myocardial injury during percutaneous coronary intervention: an important target for cardioprotection. *Eur Heart J* 2011;**32**:23–31.
- Rossello X, Yellon DM. A critical review on the translational journey of cardioprotective therapies! Int J Cardiol 2016;220:176–184.
- Rossello X, Yellon DM. Cardioprotection: The Disconnect Between Bench and Bedside. *Circulation* 2016;**134**:574–575.
- Hausenloy DJ, Baxter G, Bell R, Bøtker HE, Davidson SM, Downey J, Heusch G, Kitakaze M, Lecour S, Mentzer R, Mocanu MM, Ovize M, Schulz R, Shannon R, Walker M, Walkinshaw G, Yellon DM. Translating novel strategies for cardioprotection: the Hatter Workshop Recommendations. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2010;**105**:677–686.

- 64. Kloner RA, Hale SL, Dai W, Shi J. Cardioprotection: Where to from here? *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2017;**31**:53–61.
- 65. Hausenloy DJ, Erik Botker H, Condorelli G, Ferdinandy P, Garcia-Dorado D, Heusch G, Lecour S, Laake LW Van, Madonna R, Ruiz-Meana M, Schulz R, Sluijter JPG, Yellon DM, Ovize M. Translating cardioprotection for patient benefit: Position paper from the Working Group of Cellular Biology of the Heart of the European Society of Cardiology. *Cardiovasc Res* 2013;**98**:7–27.
- 66. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Preconditioning and postconditioning: united at reperfusion. *Pharmacol Ther* 2007;**116**:173–191.
- Yellon DM, Alkhulaifi AM, Pugsley WB. Preconditioning the human myocardium. Lancet 1993;342:276–277.
- Bell RM, Yellon DM. There is more to life than revascularization: therapeutic targeting of myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Ther* 2011;**29**:e67-79.
- 69. Krieg T, Qin Q, Philipp S, Alexeyev MF, Cohen M V, Downey JM. Acetylcholine and bradykinin trigger preconditioning in the heart through a pathway that includes Akt and NOS. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2004;**287**:H2606-11.
- Liu GS, Thornton J, Winkle DM Van, Stanley AW, Olsson RA, Downey JM. Protection against infarction afforded by preconditioning is mediated by A1 adenosine receptors in rabbit heart. *Circulation* 1991;84:350–356.
- 71. Goto M, Liu Y, Yang XM, Ardell JL, Cohen M V, Downey JM. Role of bradykinin in protection of ischemic preconditioning in rabbit hearts. *Circ Res* 1995;**77**:611–621.
- 72. Schultz JE, Rose E, Yao Z, Gross GJ. Evidence for involvement of opioid receptors in ischemic preconditioning in rat hearts. *Am J Physiol* 1995;**268**:H2157-61.
- Schultz JE, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Morphine mimics the cardioprotective effect of ischemic preconditioning via a glibenclamide-sensitive mechanism in the rat heart. *Circ Res* 1996;**78**:1100–1104.
- 74. Baines CP, Wang L, Cohen M V, Downey JM. Myocardial protection by insulin is dependent on phospatidylinositol 3-kinase but not protein kinase C or KATP channels in the isolated rabbit heart. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1999;**94**:188–198.

- 75. Thirunavukkarasu M, Juhasz B, Zhan L, Menon VP, Tosaki A, Otani H, Maulik N. VEGFR1 (Flt-1+/-) gene knockout leads to the disruption of VEGF-mediated signaling through the nitric oxide/heme oxygenase pathway in ischemic preconditioned myocardium. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2007;**42**:1487–1495.
- 76. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. The second window of preconditioning (SWOP) where are we now? *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2010;**24**:235–254.
- 77. Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. The therapeutic potential of ischemic conditioning: an update. *Nat Rev Cardiol* 2011;**8**:619–629.
- Heusch G. Molecular basis of cardioprotection: signal transduction in ischemic pre-, post-, and remote conditioning. *Circ Res* 2015;**116**:674–699.
- 79. Cohen M V, Downey JM. Signalling pathways and mechanisms of protection in preand postconditioning: historical perspective and lessons for the future. *Br J Pharmacol* 2015;**172**:1913–1932.
- Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Reperfusion injury salvage kinase signalling: taking a RISK for cardioprotection. *Heart Fail Rev* 2007;12:217–234.
- 81. Lecour S. Multiple protective pathways against reperfusion injury: a SAFE path without Aktion? *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2009;**46**:607–609.
- Cohen M V, Downey JM. Cardioprotection: spotlight on PKG. Br J Pharmacol 2007;152:833–834.
- Heusch G, Boengler K, Schulz R. Inhibition of mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening: the Holy Grail of cardioprotection. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2010;**105**:151– 154.
- Hausenloy DJ, Ong S-B, Yellon DM. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore as a target for preconditioning and postconditioning. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2009;**104**:189–202.
- Hausenloy D, Wynne A, Duchen M, Yellon D. Transient mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening mediates preconditioning-induced protection. *Circulation* 2004;**109**:1714–1717.
- 86. Jonassen AK, Sack MN, Mjøs OD, Yellon DM. Myocardial protection by insulin at reperfusion requires early administration and is mediated via Akt and p70s6 kinase

cell-survival signaling. Circ Res 2001;89:1191–1198.

- Hausenloy DJ, Maddock HL, Baxter GF, Yellon DM. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening: a new paradigm for myocardial preconditioning? *Cardiovasc Res* 2002;**55**:534–543.
- 88. Hausenloy DJ, Barrabes JA, Botker HE, Davidson SM, Lisa F Di, Downey J, Engstrom T, Ferdinandy P, Carbrera-Fuentes HA, Heusch G, Ibanez B, Iliodromitis EK, Inserte J, Jennings R, Kalia N, Kharbanda R, Lecour S, Marber M, Miura T, Ovize M, Perez-Pinzon MA, Piper HM, Przyklenk K, Schmidt MR, Redington A, Ruiz-Meana M, Vilahur G, Vinten-Johansen J, Yellon DM, Garcia-Dorado D. Ischaemic conditioning and targeting reperfusion injury: a 30 year voyage of discovery. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2016;**111**:70.
- Hausenloy DJ, Tsang A, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Ischemic preconditioning protects by activating prosurvival kinases at reperfusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2005;**288**:H971-6.
- Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. New directions for protecting the heart against ischaemia
 reperfusion injury: targeting the Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase (RISK) pathway. 2004;61:448–460.
- 91. Bell RM, Yellon DM. Atorvastatin, administered at the onset of reperfusion, and independent of lipid lowering, protects the myocardium by up-regulating a prosurvival pathway. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:508–515.
- 92. Lecour S, Suleman N, Deuchar GA, Somers S, Lacerda L, Huisamen B, Opie LH. Pharmacological preconditioning with tumor necrosis factor-alpha activates signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 at reperfusion without involving classic prosurvival kinases (Akt and extracellular signal-regulated kinase). *Circulation* 2005;**112**:3911–3918.
- Lecour S. Activation of the protective Survivor Activating Factor Enhancement (SAFE) pathway against reperfusion injury: Does it go beyond the RISK pathway? J Mol Cell Cardiol 2009;47:32–40.
- 94. Lacerda L, Somers S, Opie LH, Lecour S. Ischaemic postconditioning protects against reperfusion injury via the SAFE pathway. *Cardiovasc Res* 2009;**84**:201–208.

- 95. Suleman N, Somers S, Smith R, Opie LH, Lecour SC. Dual activation of STAT-3 and Akt is required during the trigger phase of ischaemic preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res* 2008;**79**:127–133.
- 96. Heusch G, Musiolik J, Gedik N, Skyschally A. Mitochondrial STAT3 activation and cardioprotection by ischemic postconditioning in pigs with regional myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *Circ Res* 2011;**109**:1302–1308.
- 97. Lamont KT, Somers S, Lacerda L, Opie LH, Lecour S. Is red wine a SAFE sip away from cardioprotection? Mechanisms involved in resveratrol- and melatonin-induced cardioprotection. *J Pineal Res* 2011;**50**:374–380.
- Frias MA, Pedretti S, Hacking D, Somers S, Lacerda L, Opie LH, James RW, Lecour S.
 HDL protects against ischemia reperfusion injury by preserving mitochondrial integrity. *Atherosclerosis* 2013;**228**:110–116.
- Heusch G, Musiolik J, Kottenberg E, Peters J, Jakob H, Thielmann M. STAT5 Activation and Cardioprotection by Remote Ischemic Preconditioning in HumansNovelty and Significance. *Circ Res* 2012;**110**:111–115.
- 100. Davidson SM, Yellon DM. STAT5 fits the RISK profile for cardioprotection. *JAK-STAT* 2012;**1**:73–76.
- 101. Kunuthur SP, Mocanu MM, Hemmings BA, Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. The Akt1 isoform is an essential mediator of ischaemic preconditioning. *J Cell Mol Med* 2012;**16**:1739–1749.
- 102. Hausenloy DJ, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Cross-talk between the survival kinases during early reperfusion: its contribution to ischemic preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res* 2004;**63**:305–312.
- 103. Somers SJ, Frias M, Lacerda L, Opie LH, Lecour S. Interplay between SAFE and RISK pathways in sphingosine-1-phosphate-induced cardioprotection. *Cardiovasc drugs Ther* 2012;**26**:227–237.
- Hunter DR, Haworth RA. The Ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. I.
 The protective mechanisms. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1979;195:453–459.
- Haworth RA, Hunter DR. The Ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria. II.
 Nature of the Ca2+ trigger site. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 1979;195:460–467.

- Hunter DR, Haworth RA. The Ca2+-induced membrane transition in mitochondria.
 III. Transitional Ca2+ release. Arch Biochem Biophys 1979;195:468–477.
- 107. Baines CP, Kaiser RA, Purcell NH, Blair NS, Osinska H, Hambleton MA, Brunskill EW, Sayen MR, Gottlieb RA, Dorn GW, Robbins J, Molkentin JD. Loss of cyclophilin D reveals a critical role for mitochondrial permeability transition in cell death. *Nature* 2005;**434**:658–662.
- 108. Zorov DB, Filburn CR, Klotz LO, Zweier JL, Sollott SJ. Reactive oxygen species (ROS)induced ROS release: a new phenomenon accompanying induction of the mitochondrial permeability transition in cardiac myocytes. *J Exp Med* 2000;**192**:1001–1014.
- Crompton M. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. *Biochem J* 1999;**341**:233–249.
- 110. Hausenloy DJ, Maddock HL, Baxter GF, Yellon DM. Paradigm shifts in cardioprotection research: the importance of the MPTP as a therapeutic target: AUTHORS' RETROSPECTIVE. Cardiovasc Res 2012;96:160–164.
- 111. Hausenloy DJ, Lim SY, Ong S-G, Davidson SM, Yellon DM. Mitochondrial cyclophilin-D as a critical mediator of ischaemic preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res* 2010;88:67–74.
- 112. Hausenloy DJ, Duchen MR, Yellon DM. Inhibiting mitochondrial permeability transition pore opening at reperfusion protects against ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Cardiovasc Res* 2003;**60**:617–625.
- 113. Skyschally A, Schulz R, Heusch G. Cyclosporine A at reperfusion reduces infarct size in pigs. *Cardiovasc drugs Ther* 2010;**24**:85–87.
- 114. Piot C, Croisille P, Staat P, Thibault H, Rioufol G, Mewton N, Elbelghiti R, Cung TT, Bonnefoy E, Angoulvant D, Macia C, Raczka F, Sportouch C, Gahide G, Finet G, André-Fouët X, Revel D, Kirkorian G, Monassier J-P, Derumeaux G, Ovize M. Effect of cyclosporine on reperfusion injury in acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 2008;**359**:473–481.
- 115. Mewton N, Croisille P, Gahide G, Rioufol G, Bonnefoy E, Sanchez I, Cung TT, Sportouch C, Angoulvant D, Finet G, André-Fouët X, Derumeaux G, Piot C, Vernhet H, Revel D, Ovize M. Effect of cyclosporine on left ventricular remodeling after

reperfused myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:1200–1205.

- 116. Cung T-T, Morel O, Cayla G, Rioufol G, Garcia-Dorado D, Angoulvant D, Bonnefoy-Cudraz E, Guérin P, Elbaz M, Delarche N, Coste P, Vanzetto G, Metge M, Aupetit J-F, Jouve B, Motreff P, Tron C, Labeque J-N, Steg PG, Cottin Y, Range G, Clerc J, Claeys MJ, Coussement P, Prunier F, Moulin F, Roth O, Belle L, Dubois P, Barragan P, et al. Cyclosporine before PCI in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 2015;**373**:1021–1031.
- 117. Ottani F, Latini R, Staszewsky L, La-Vecchia L, Locuratolo N, Sicuro M, Masson S, Barlera S, Milani V, Lombardi M, Costalunga A, Mollichelli N, Santarelli A, De-Cesare N, Sganzerla P, Boi A, Maggioni A Pietro, Limbruno U. Cyclosporine A in Reperfused Myocardial Infarction: The Multicenter, Controlled, Open-Label CYCLE Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;67:365–374.
- 118. Atar D, Arheden H, Berdeaux A, Bonnet J-L, Carlsson M, Clemmensen P, Cuvier V, Danchin N, Dubois-Randé J-L, Engblom H, Erlinge D, Firat H, Halvorsen S, Hansen HS, Hauke W, Heiberg E, Koul S, Larsen A-I, Le-Corvoisier P, Nordrehaug JE, Paganelli F, Pruss RM, Rousseau H, Schaller S, Sonou G, Tuseth V, Veys J, Vicaut E, Jensen SE. Effect of intravenous TRO40303 as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction: MITOCARE study results. *Eur Heart J* 2015;**36**:112–119.
- 119. Heusch G. CIRCUS: a kiss of death for cardioprotection? *Cardiovasc Res* 2015;**108**:215–216.
- Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Targeting Myocardial Reperfusion Injury -- The Search Continues. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1073–1075.
- 121. Bell RM, Yellon DM. Conditioning the whole heart--not just the cardiomyocyte. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2012;**53**:24–32.
- 122. Banerjee I, Fuseler JW, Price RL, Borg TK, Baudino TA. Determination of cell types and numbers during cardiac development in the neonatal and adult rat and mouse. *AJP Hear Circ Physiol* 2007;**293**:H1883–H1891.
- Brutsaert DL, Keulenaer GW De, Fransen P, Mohan P, Kaluza GL, Andries LJ, Rouleau JL, Sys SU. The cardiac endothelium: functional morphology, development, and physiology. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* **39**:239–262.

- 124. O SJ, Zellner JL, Cox MH, Hebbar L, Brothers TE, Mukherjee R, Tempel GE, Dorman BH, Crawford FA, Spinale FG. Contributory mechanisms for the beneficial effects of myocyte preconditioning during cardioplegic arrest. *Circulation* 1996;**94**:II389-97.
- Teng R, Calvert JW, Sibmooh N, Piknova B, Suzuki N, Sun J, Martinez K, Yamamoto M, Schechter AN, Lefer DJ, Noguchi CT. Acute erythropoietin cardioprotection is mediated by endothelial response. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2011;**106**:343–354.
- 126. Wang P, Gallagher KP, Downey JM, Cohen M V. Pretreatment with endothelin-1 mimics ischemic preconditioning against infarction in isolated rabbit heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1996;28:579–588.
- 127. Minshall RD, Nakamura F, Becker RP, Rabito SF. Characterization of bradykinin B2 receptors in adult myocardium and neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. *Circ Res* 1995;**76**:773–780.
- Wall TM, Sheehy R, Hartman JC. Role of bradykinin in myocardial preconditioning. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 1994;270:681–689.
- 129. Bell RM, Yellon DM. Bradykinin limits infarction when administered as an adjunct to reperfusion in mouse heart: the role of PI3K, Akt and eNOS. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2003;35:185–193.
- Mankad PS, Amrani M, Rothery S, Severs NJ, Yacoub MH. Relative susceptibility of endothelium and myocardial cells to ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Acta Physiol Scand* 1997;161:103–112.
- Shirai T, Rao V, Weisel RD, Ikonomidis JS, Li RK, Tumiati LC, Merante F, Mickle DA. Preconditioning human cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1998;115:210–219.
- 132. Kuzner J, Drevensek G, Gersak B, Budihna M. Hypoxic and pharmacological preconditioning preserves vasomotor response of porcine coronary artery. *Pol J Pharmacol* 56:789–797.
- 133. Iwakura K, Ito H, Kawano S, Shintani Y, Yamamoto K, Kato A, Ikushima M, Tanaka K, Kitakaze M, Hori M, Higashino Y, Fujii K. Predictive factors for development of the no-reflow phenomenon in patients with reperfused anterior wall acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001;38:472–477.

- Yang X-M, Liu Y, Cui L, Yang X, Liu Y, Tandon N, Kambayashi J, Downey JM, Cohen M
 V. Platelet P2Y₁₂ blockers confer direct postconditioning-like protection in reperfused rabbit hearts. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther* 2013;**18**:251–262.
- 135. Yang X-M, Cui L, Alhammouri A, Downey JM, Cohen M V. Triple therapy greatly increases myocardial salvage during ischemia/reperfusion in the in situ rat heart. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2013;**27**:403–412.
- 136. Bell RM, Sivaraman V, Kunuthur SP, Cohen M V, Downey JM, Yellon DM. Cardioprotective Properties of the Platelet P2Y12 Receptor Inhibitor, Cangrelor: Protective in Diabetics and Reliant Upon the Presence of Blood. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2015;**29**:415–418.
- 137. Garcia-Prieto J, Villena-Gutierrez R, Gomez M, Bernardo E, Pun-Garcia A, Garcia-Lunar I, Crainiciuc G, Fernandez-Jimenez R, Sreeramkumar V, Bourio-Martinez R, Garcia-Ruiz JM, Valle AS del, Sanz-Rosa D, Pizarro G, Fernendez-Ortiz A, Hidalgo A, Fuster V, Ibanez B. Neutrophil stunning by metoprolol reduces infarct size. *Nat Commun* 2017;**8**:14780.
- 138. Currie RW, Karmazyn M, Kloc M, Mailer K. Heat-shock response is associated with enhanced postischemic ventricular recovery. *Circ Res* 1988;**63**:543–549.
- 139. Knowlton AA, Brecher P, Apstein CS. Rapid expression of heat shock protein in the rabbit after brief cardiac ischemia. *J Clin Invest* 1991;**87**:139–147.
- 140. Kuzuya T, Hoshida S, Yamashita N, Fuji H, Oe H, Hori M, Kamada T, Tada M. Delayed effects of sublethal ischemia on the acquisition of tolerance to ischemia. *Circ Res* 1993;**72**:1293–1299.
- 141. Kis A, Yellon DM, Baxter GF. Second window of protection following myocardial preconditioning: an essential role for PI3 kinase and p70S6 kinase. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2003;**35**:1063–1071.
- 142. Bell R, Clarck J, Hearse D, Shattock M. Reperfusion kinase phosphorylation is essential but not sufficient in the mediation of pharmacological preconditioning: Characterisation in the bi-phasic profile of early and late protection. *Cardiovasc Res* 2007;**73**:153–163.
- 143. Williams RP, Manou-Stathopoulou V, Redwood SR, Marber MS. 'Warm-up Angina':

harnessing the benefits of exercise and myocardial ischaemia. *Heart* 2014;**100**:106–114.

- 144. Herrett E, Bhaskaran K, Timmis A, Denaxas S, Hemingway H, Smeeth L. Association between clinical presentations before myocardial infarction and coronary mortality: a prospective population-based study using linked electronic records. *Eur Heart J* 2014;**35**:2363–2371.
- 145. Heusch G, Gersh BJ. The pathophysiology of acute myocardial infarction and strategies of protection beyond reperfusion: a continual challenge. *Eur Heart J* 2017;**38**:774–784.
- McCully JD, Wakiyama H, Hsieh Y-J, Jones M, Levitsky S. Differential contribution of necrosis and apoptosis in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2004;**286**:H1923-35.
- 147. Heusch G. Treatment of Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury by Ischemic and Pharmacological Postconditioning. *Compr Physiol* 2015;**5**:1123–1145.
- Amgalan D, Pekson R, Kitsis RN. Troponin Release Following Brief Myocardial Ischemia. JACC Basic to Transl Sci 2017;2:118–121.
- Konstantinidis K, Whelan RS, Kitsis RN. Mechanisms of cell death in heart disease.
 Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2012;32:1552–1562.
- 150. Mocanu MM, Baxter GF, Yellon DM. Caspase inhibition and limitation of myocardial infarct size: protection against lethal reperfusion injury. *Br J Pharmacol* 2000;**130**:197–200.
- 151. Weil BR, Young RF, Shen X, Suzuki G, Qu J, Malhotra S, Canty JM. Brief Myocardial Ischemia Produces Cardiac Troponin I Release and Focal Myocyte Apoptosis in the Absence of Pathological Infarction in Swine. JACC Basic to Transl Sci 2017;2:105– 114.
- 152. Jaffe AS. Another Unanswerable Question. JACC Basic to Transl Sci 2017;2:115–117.
- Hausenloy DJ, Tsang A, Yellon DM. The Reperfusion Injury Salvage Kinase Pathway: A Common Target for Both Ischemic Preconditioning and Postconditioning. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 2005;15:69–75.
- 154. Fryer RM, Pratt PF, Hsu AK, Gross GJ. Differential activation of extracellular signal

regulated kinase isoforms in preconditioning and opioid-induced cardioprotection. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2001;**296**:642–649.

- 155. Mocanu MM, Bell RM, Yellon DM. PI3 kinase and not p42/p44 appears to be implicated in the protection conferred by ischemic preconditioning. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2002;34:661–668.
- 156. Yang X-M, Proctor JB, Cui L, Krieg T, Downey JM, Cohen M V. Multiple, brief coronary occlusions during early reperfusion protect rabbit hearts by targeting cell signaling pathways. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2004;**44**:1103–1110.
- 157. Da-Silva R, Grampp T, Pasch T, Schaub MC, Zaugg M. Differential activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases in ischemic and anesthetic preconditioning. *Anesthesiology* 2004;**100**:59–69.
- 158. Tong H, Chen W, London RE, Murphy E, Steenbergen C. Preconditioning enhanced glucose uptake is mediated by p38 MAP kinase not by phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *J Biol Chem* 2000;**275**:11981–11986.
- 159. Solenkova N V, Solodushko V, Cohen M V, Downey JM. Endogenous adenosine protects preconditioned heart during early minutes of reperfusion by activating Akt. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 2006;**290**:H441-9.
- 160. Tsang A, Hausenloy DJ, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Postconditioning: A Form of 'Modified Reperfusion' Protects the Myocardium by Activating the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase-Akt Pathway. *Circ Res* 2004;**95**:230–232.
- Franke TF. Intracellular signaling by Akt: bound to be specific. Sci Signal 2008;1:pe29.
- 162. Matsuda T, Zhai P, Maejima Y, Hong C, Gao S, Tian B, Goto K, Takagi H, Tamamori-Adachi M, Kitajima S, Sadoshima J. Distinct roles of GSK-3alpha and GSK-3beta phosphorylation in the heart under pressure overload. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2008;**105**:20900–20905.
- 163. Gomez L, Paillard M, Thibault H, Derumeaux G, Ovize M. Inhibition of GSK3 by Postconditioning Is Required to Prevent Opening of the Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore During Reperfusion. *Circulation* 2008;**117**:2761–2768.
- 164. Nishino Y, Webb IG, Davidson SM, Ahmed AI, Clark JE, Jacquet S, Shah AM, Miura T,

Yellon DM, Avkiran M, Marber MS. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inactivation is not required for ischemic preconditioning or postconditioning in the mouse. *Circ Res* 2008;**103**:307–314.

- 165. Inagaki K, Churchill E, Mochlyrosen D. Epsilon protein kinase C as a potential therapeutic target for the ischemic heart. *Cardiovasc Res* 2006;**70**:222–230.
- Inagaki K. Additive Protection of the Ischemic Heart Ex Vivo by Combined Treatment With -Protein Kinase C Inhibitor and -Protein Kinase C Activator. *Circulation* 2003;**108**:869–875.
- 167. Bose AK, Mocanu MM, Carr RD, Brand CL, Yellon DM. Glucagon-like peptide 1 can directly protect the heart against ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Diabetes* 2005;**54**:146–151.
- 168. Bullard AJ, Govewalla P, Yellon DM. Erythropoietin protects the myocardium against reperfusion injury in vitro and in vivo. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2005;**100**:397–403.
- 169. Yang X-M, Philipp S, Downey JM, Cohen M V. Atrial natriuretic peptide administered just prior to reperfusion limits infarction in rabbit hearts. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2006;**101**:311–318.
- 170. Bromage DI, Yellon DM. The pleiotropic effects of metformin: time for prospective studies. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2015;**14**:109.
- Messaoudi S El, Rongen GA, Boer RA de, Riksen NP. The cardioprotective effects of metformin. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2011;**22**:445–453.
- 172. Hausenloy DJ, Whittington HJ, Wynne AM, Begum SS, Theodorou L, Riksen N, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors and GLP-1 reduce myocardial infarct size in a glucose-dependent manner. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* 2013;**12**:154.
- 173. Wynne AM, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Pioglitazone mimics preconditioning in the isolated perfused rat heart: a role for the prosurvival kinases PI3K and P42/44MAPK. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* 2005;**46**:817–822.
- 174. Hausenloy DJ, Garcia-Dorado D, Bøtker HE, Davidson SM, Downey J, Engel FB, Jennings R, Lecour S, Leor J, Madonna R, Ovize M, Perrino C, Prunier F, Schulz R, Sluijter JPG, Van-Laake LW, Vinten-Johansen J, Yellon DM, Ytrehus K, Heusch G,

Ferdinandy P. Novel targets and future strategies for acute cardioprotection: Position Paper of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on Cellular Biology of the Heart. *Cardiovasc Res* 2017;**113**:564–585.

- 175. Lønborg J, Kelbæk H, Vejlstrup N, Bøtker HE, Kim WY, Holmvang L, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Saunamäki K, Terkelsen CJ, Schoos MM, Køber L, Clemmensen P, Treiman M, Engstrøm T. Exenatide reduces final infarct size in patients with ST-segmentelevation myocardial infarction and short-duration of ischemia. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2012;**5**:288–295.
- 176. Lønborg J, Vejlstrup N, Kelbæk H, Bøtker HE, Kim WY, Mathiasen AB, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Saunamäki K, Clemmensen P, Holmvang L, Thuesen L, Krusell LR, Jensen JS, Køber L, Treiman M, Holst JJ, Engstrøm T. Exenatide reduces reperfusion injury in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J* 2012;**33**:1491–1499.
- 177. Ibanez B, Prat-González S, Speidl WS, Vilahur G, Pinero A, Cimmino G, García MJ, Fuster V, Sanz J, Badimon JJ. Early metoprolol administration before coronary reperfusion results in increased myocardial salvage: analysis of ischemic myocardium at risk using cardiac magnetic resonance. *Circulation* 2007;**115**:2909– 2916.
- 178. Ibanez B, Macaya C, Sánchez-Brunete V, Pizarro G, Fernández-Friera L, Mateos A, Fernández-Ortiz A, García-Ruiz JM, García-Álvarez A, Iñiguez A, Jiménez-Borreguero J, López-Romero P, Fernández-Jiménez R, Goicolea J, Ruiz-Mateos B, Bastante T, Arias M, Iglesias-Vázquez JA, Rodriguez MD, Escalera N, Acebal C, Cabrera, José aAValenciano J, Pérez de Prado A, Fernández-Campos MJ, Casado I, García-Rubira JC, García-Prieto J, Sanz-Rosa D, Cuellas C, Hernández-Antolín R, et al. Effect of early metoprolol on infarct size in ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention: the Effect of Metoprolol in Cardioprotection During an Acute Myocardial Infarction (METOCARD-CNIC). *Circulation* 2013;**128**:1495–1503.
- 179. Pizarro G, Fernández-Friera L, Fuster V, Fernández-Jiménez R, García-Ruiz JM, García-Álvarez A, Mateos A, Barreiro M V, Escalera N, Rodriguez MD, Miguel A de, García-Lunar I, Parra-Fuertes JJ, Sánchez-González J, Pardillos L, Nieto B, Jiménez A,

Abejón R, Bastante T, Martínez de Vega V, Cabrera JA, López-Melgar B, Guzman G, García-Prieto J, Mirelis JG, Zamorano JL, Albarrán A, Goicolea J, Escaned J, Pocock S, et al. Long-term benefit of early pre-reperfusion metoprolol administration in patients with acute myocardial infarction: results from the METOCARD-CNIC trial (Effect of Metoprolol in Cardioprotection During an Acute Myocardial Infarction). *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2014;**63**:2356–2362.

- 180. Kitakaze M, Asakura M, Kim J, Shintani Y, Asanuma H, Hamasaki T, Seguchi O, Myoishi M, Minamino T, Ohara T, Nagai Y, Nanto S, Watanabe K, Fukuzawa S, Hirayama A, Nakamura N, Kimura K, Fujii K, Ishihara M, Saito Y, Tomoike H, Kitamura S. Human atrial natriuretic peptide and nicorandil as adjuncts to reperfusion treatment for acute myocardial infarction (J-WIND): two randomised trials. *Lancet* 2007;**370**:1483–1493.
- 181. Nagoshi T, Matsui T, Aoyama T, Leri A, Anversa P, Li L, Ogawa W, Del-Monte F, Gwathmey JK, Grazette L, Hemmings BA, Hemmings B, Kass DA, Champion HC, Rosenzweig A. PI3K rescues the detrimental effects of chronic Akt activation in the heart during ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Clin Invest 2005;115:2128–2138.
- 182. Haq S, Choukroun G, Lim H, Tymitz KM, Del-Monte F, Gwathmey J, Grazette L, Michael A, Hajjar R, Force T, Molkentin JD. Differential activation of signal transduction pathways in human hearts with hypertrophy versus advanced heart failure. *Circulation* 2001;**103**:670–677.
- 183. Ross AM, Gibbons RJ, Stone GW, Kloner R a, Alexander RW. A randomized, doubleblinded, placebo-controlled multicenter trial of adenosine as an adjunct to reperfusion in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction (AMISTAD-II). J Am Coll Cardiol 2005;45:1775–1780.
- 184. Kloner RA, Forman MB, Gibbons RJ, Ross AM, Alexander RW, Stone GW. Impact of time to therapy and reperfusion modality on the efficacy of adenosine in acute myocardial infarction: the AMISTAD-2 trial. *Eur Heart J* 2006;**27**:2400–2405.
- 185. García-Ruiz JM, Fernández-Jiménez R, García-Alvarez A, Pizarro G, Galán-Arriola C, Fernández-Friera L, Mateos A, Nuno-Ayala M, Aguero J, Sánchez-González J, García-Prieto J, López-Melgar B, Martínez-Tenorio P, López-Martín GJ, Macías A, Pérez-Asenjo B, Cabrera JA, Fernández-Ortiz A, Fuster V, Ibáñez B. Impact of the Timing of

Metoprolol Administration During STEMI on Infarct Size and Ventricular Function. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016;**67**:2093–2104.

- Oudit GY, Penninger JM. Cardiac regulation by phosphoinositide 3-kinases and PTEN. Cardiovasc Res 2009;82:250–260.
- Ghigo A, Li M. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase: friend and foe in cardiovascular disease.
 Front Pharmacol 2015;6:169.
- 188. Sivaraman V, Mudalagiri NR, Salvo C Di, Kolvekar S, Hayward M, Yap J, Keogh B, Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM. Postconditioning protects human atrial muscle through the activation of the RISK pathway. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2007;**102**:453–459.
- Vanhaesebroeck B, Guillermet-Guibert J, Graupera M, Bilanges B. The emerging mechanisms of isoform-specific PI3K signalling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2010;**11**:329– 341.
- 190. Vanhaesebroeck B, Whitehead MA, Piñeiro R. Molecules in medicine mini-review: isoforms of PI3K in biology and disease. *J Mol Med (Berl)* 2016;**94**:5–11.
- 191. Guillermet-Guibert J, Bjorklof K, Salpekar A, Gonella C, Ramadani F, Bilancio A, Meek S, Smith AJH, Okkenhaug K, Vanhaesebroeck B. The p110beta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase signals downstream of G protein-coupled receptors and is functionally redundant with p110gamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2008;105:8292–8297.
- 192. Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Wynshaw-Boris A, Nussbaum RL. Proliferative defect and embryonic lethality in mice homozygous for a deletion in the p110alpha subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. J Biol Chem 1999;274:10963–10968.
- Bi L, Okabe I, Bernard DJ, Nussbaum RL. Early embryonic lethality in mice deficient in the p110β catalytic subunit of PI 3-kinase. *Mamm Genome* 2002;13:169–172.
- 194. Vanhaesebroeck B, Ali K, Bilancio A, Geering B, Foukas LC. Signalling by PI3K isoforms: insights from gene-targeted mice. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2005;**30**:194–204.
- 195. Shioi T, Kang PM, Douglas PS, Hampe J, Yballe CM, Lawitts J, Cantley LC, Izumo S. The conserved phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway determines heart size in mice. *EMBO J* 2000;**19**:2537–2548.
- 196. Shiraishi I, Melendez J, Ahn Y, Skavdahl M, Murphy E, Welch S, Schaefer E, Walsh K,

Rosenzweig A, Torella D, Nurzynska D, Kajstura J, Leri A, Anversa P, Sussman MA. Nuclear Targeting of Akt Enhances Kinase Activity and Survival of Cardiomyocytes. *Circ Res* 2004;**94**:884–891.

- Shiojima I, Walsh K. Regulation of cardiac growth and coronary angiogenesis by the Akt/PKB signaling pathway. *Genes Dev* 2006;**20**:3347–3365.
- 198. Wang J, Gray NS. SnapShot: Kinase Inhibitors I. *Mol Cell* 2015;58:708.e1.
- 199. Arrowsmith CH, Audia JE, Austin C, Baell J, Bennett J, Blagg J, Bountra C, Brennan PE, Brown PJ, Bunnage ME, Buser-Doepner C, Campbell RM, Carter AJ, Cohen P, Copeland RA, Cravatt B, Dahlin JL, Dhanak D, Edwards AM, Frederiksen M, Frye S V, Gray N, Grimshaw CE, Hepworth D, Howe T, Huber KVM, Jin J, Knapp S, Kotz JD, Kruger RG, et al. The promise and peril of chemical probes. *Nat Chem Biol* 2015;**11**:536–541.
- 200. Beeton CA, Chance EM, Foukas LC, Shepherd PR. Comparison of the kinetic properties of the lipid- and protein-kinase activities of the p110alpha and p110beta catalytic subunits of class-la phosphoinositide 3-kinases. *Biochem J* 2000;**350 Pt** 2:353–359.
- 201. Hirsch E, Braccini L, Ciraolo E, Morello F, Perino A. Twice upon a time: PI3K's secret double life exposed. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2009;**34**:244–248.
- 202. Foukas LC, Claret M, Pearce W, Okkenhaug K, Meek S, Peskett E, Sancho S, Smith AJH, Withers DJ, Vanhaesebroeck B. Critical role for the p110alpha phosphoinositide-3-OH kinase in growth and metabolic regulation. *Nature* 2006;**441**:366–370.
- 203. Knight ZA, Gonzalez B, Feldman ME, Zunder ER, Goldenberg DD, Williams O, Loewith R, Stokoe D, Balla A, Toth B, Balla T, Weiss WA, Williams RL, Shokat KM. A Pharmacological Map of the PI3-K Family Defines a Role for p110? in Insulin Signaling. *Cell* 2006;**125**:733–747.
- 204. Martin V, Guillermet-Guibert J, Chicanne G, Cabou C, Jandrot-Perrus M, Plantavid M, Vanhaesebroeck B, Payrastre B, Gratacap M-P. Deletion of the p110beta isoform of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in platelets reveals its central role in Akt activation and thrombus formation in vitro and in vivo. *Blood* 2010;**115**:2008–2013.
- 205. Laurent P-A, Séverin S, Hechler B, Vanhaesebroeck B, Payrastre B, Gratacap M-P. Platelet PI3Kβ and GSK3 regulate thrombus stability at a high shear rate. *Blood* 2015;**125**:881–888.
- 206. Geering B, Cutillas PR, Nock G, Gharbi SI, Vanhaesebroeck B. Class IA phosphoinositide 3-kinases are obligate p85-p110 heterodimers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 2007;**104**:7809–7814.
- 207. Damilano F, Perino A, Hirsch E. PI3K kinase and scaffold functions in heart. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 2010;**1188**:39–45.
- 208. Ciraolo E, Iezzi M, Marone R, Marengo S, Curcio C, Costa C, Azzolino O, Gonella C, Rubinetto C, Wu H, Dastrù W, Martin EL, Silengo L, Altruda F, Turco E, Lanzetti L, Musiani P, Rückle T, Rommel C, Backer JM, Forni G, Wymann MP, Hirsch E. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110beta activity: key role in metabolism and mammary gland cancer but not development. *Sci Signal* 2008;**1**:ra3.
- 209. Burke JE, Williams RL. Synergy in activating class I PI3Ks. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2015;**40**:88–100.
- 210. Kulkarni S, Sitaru C, Jakus Z, Anderson KE, Damoulakis G, Davidson K, Hirose M, Juss J, Oxley D, Chessa TAM, Ramadani F, Guillou H, Segonds-Pichon A, Fritsch A, Jarvis GE, Okkenhaug K, Ludwig R, Zillikens D, Mocsai A, Vanhaesebroeck B, Stephens LR, Hawkins PT. PI3Kβ plays a critical role in neutrophil activation by immune complexes. *Sci Signal* 2011;**4**:ra23.
- 211. Houslay DM, Anderson KE, Chessa T, Kulkarni S, Fritsch R, Downward J, Backer JM, Stephens LR, Hawkins PT. Coincident signals from GPCRs and receptor tyrosine kinases are uniquely transduced by PI3Kβ in myeloid cells. *Sci Signal* 2016;**9**:ra82.
- 212. Jia S, Liu Z, Zhang S, Liu P, Zhang L, Lee SH, Zhang J, Signoretti S, Loda M, Roberts TM, Zhao JJ. Essential roles of PI(3)K-p110beta in cell growth, metabolism and tumorigenesis. *Nature* 2008;454:776–779.
- Dhand R, Hiles I, Panayotou G, Roche S, Fry MJ, Gout I, Totty NF, Truong O, Vicendo P, Yonezawa K. PI 3-kinase is a dual specificity enzyme: autoregulation by an intrinsic protein-serine kinase activity. *EMBO J* 1994;13:522–533.
- 214. Kubo H, Hazeki K, Takasuga S, Hazeki O. Specific role for p85/p110beta in GTP-

binding-protein-mediated activation of Akt. *Biochem J* 2005;**392**:607–614.

- 215. Meier TI, Cook JA, Thomas JE, Radding JA, Horn C, Lingaraj T, Smith MC. Cloning, expression, purification, and characterization of the human Class Ia phosphoinositide 3-kinase isoforms. *Protein Expr Purif* 2004;**35**:218–224.
- Foukas LC, Beeton CA, Jensen J, Phillips WA, Shepherd PR. Regulation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase by its intrinsic serine kinase activity in vivo. *Mol Cell Biol* 2004;24:966–975.
- 217. Graupera M, Guillermet-Guibert J, Foukas LC, Phng L-K, Cain RJ, Salpekar A, Pearce W, Meek S, Millan J, Cutillas PR, Smith AJH, Ridley AJ, Ruhrberg C, Gerhardt H, Vanhaesebroeck B. Angiogenesis selectively requires the p110alpha isoform of PI3K to control endothelial cell migration. *Nature* 2008;**453**:662–666.
- 218. Perino A, Ghigo A, Ferrero E, Morello F, Santulli G, Baillie GS, Damilano F, Dunlop AJ, Pawson C, Walser R, Levi R, Altruda F, Silengo L, Langeberg LK, Neubauer G, Heymans S, Lembo G, Wymann MP, Wetzker R, Houslay MD, Iaccarino G, Scott JD, Hirsch E. Integrating cardiac PIP3 and cAMP signaling through a PKA anchoring function of p110y. *Mol Cell* 2011;**42**:84–95.
- 219. Marques M, Kumar A, Cortes I, Gonzalez-Garcia A, Hernandez C, Moreno-Ortiz MC, Carrera AC. Phosphoinositide 3-Kinases p110 and p110 Regulate Cell Cycle Entry, Exhibiting Distinct Activation Kinetics in G1 Phase. *Mol Cell Biol* 2008;**28**:2803–2814.
- 220. Kumar A, Redondo-Muñoz J, Perez-García V, Cortes I, Chagoyen M, Carrera AC. Nuclear but not cytosolic phosphoinositide 3-kinase beta has an essential function in cell survival. *Mol Cell Biol* 2011;**31**:2122–2133.
- 221. Ghigo A, Morello F, Perino A, Damilano F, Hirsch E. Specific PI3K isoform modulation in heart failure: lessons from transgenic mice. *Curr Heart Fail Rep* 2011;**8**:168–175.
- 222. Crackower MA, Oudit GY, Kozieradzki I, Sarao R, Sun H, Sasaki T, Hirsch E, Suzuki A, Shioi T, Irie-Sasaki J, Sah R, Cheng H-YM, Rybin VO, Lembo G, Fratta L, Oliveira-dos-Santos AJ, Benovic JL, Kahn CR, Izumo S, Steinberg SF, Wymann MP, Backx PH, Penninger JM. Regulation of myocardial contractility and cell size by distinct PI3K-PTEN signaling pathways. *Cell* 2002;**110**:737–749.
- 223. McMullen JR, Shioi T, Huang W-Y, Zhang L, Tarnavski O, Bisping E, Schinke M, Kong

S, Sherwood MC, Brown J, Riggi L, Kang PM, Izumo S. The insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor induces physiological heart growth via the phosphoinositide 3-kinase(p110alpha) pathway. *J Biol Chem* 2004;**279**:4782–4793.

- 224. Weeks KL, Gao X, Du X-J, Boey EJH, Matsumoto A, Bernardo BC, Kiriazis H, Cemerlang N, Tan JW, Tham YK, Franke TF, Qian H, Bogoyevitch MA, Woodcock EA, Febbraio MA, Gregorevic P, McMullen JR. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110α is a master regulator of exercise-induced cardioprotection and PI3K gene therapy rescues cardiac dysfunction. *Circ Heart Fail* 2012;**5**:523–534.
- 225. McMullen JR, Amirahmadi F, Woodcock EA, Schinke-Braun M, Bouwman RD, Hewitt KA, Mollica JP, Zhang L, Zhang Y, Shioi T, Buerger A, Izumo S, Jay PY, Jennings GL. Protective effects of exercise and phosphoinositide 3-kinase(p110) signaling in dilated and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 2007;**104**:612–617.
- 226. McMullen JR, Shioi T, Zhang L, Tarnavski O, Sherwood MC, Kang PM, Izumo S. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase(p110alpha) plays a critical role for the induction of physiological, but not pathological, cardiac hypertrophy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003;**100**:12355–12360.
- 227. Lin RCY, Weeks KL, Gao XM, Williams RBH, Bernardo BC, Kiriazis H, Matthews VB, Woodcock EA, Bouwman RD, Mollica JP, Speirs HJ, Dawes IW, Daly RJ, Shioi T, Izumo S, Febbraio MA, Du XJ, McMullen JR. PI3K(p110) Protects Against Myocardial Infarction-Induced Heart Failure: Identification of PI3K-Regulated miRNA and mRNA. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2010;**30**:724–732.
- 228. Yano N, Tseng A, Zhao TC, Robbins J, Padbury JF, Tseng Y-T. Temporally controlled overexpression of cardiac-specific PI3Kalpha induces enhanced myocardial contractility--a new transgenic model. *AJP Hear Circ Physiol* 2008;**295**:H1690– H1694.
- 229. Liang W, Oudit GY, Patel MM, Shah AM, Woodgett JR, Tsushima RG, Ward ME, Backx PH. Role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase {alpha}, protein kinase C, and L-type Ca2+ channels in mediating the complex actions of angiotensin II on mouse cardiac contractility. *Hypertension* 2010;**56**:422–429.
- 230. Lu Z, Jiang Y-P, Wang W, Xu X-H, Mathias RT, Entcheva E, Ballou LM, Cohen IS, Lin RZ. Loss of cardiac phosphoinositide 3-kinase p110 alpha results in contractile

dysfunction. Circulation 2009;120:318-325.

- 231. McMullen JR, Jay PY. PI3K(p110alpha) inhibitors as anti-cancer agents: minding the heart. *Cell Cycle* 2007;**6**:910–913.
- 232. Tong H, Rockman HA, Koch WJ, Steenbergen C, Murphy E. G protein-coupled receptor internalization signaling is required for cardioprotection in ischemic preconditioning. *Circ Res* 2004;**94**:1133–1141.
- 233. Maffei A, Cifelli G, Carnevale R, Iacobucci R, Pallante F, Fardella V, Fardella S, Hirsch E, Lembo G, Carnevale D. PI3Kγ Inhibition Protects Against Diabetic Cardiomyopathy in Mice. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* 2017;**70**:16–24.
- 234. Ytrehus K. The ischemic heart--experimental models. *Pharmacol Res* 2000;**42**:193–203.
- 235. Furet P, Guagnano V, Fairhurst RA, Imbach-Weese P, Bruce I, Knapp M, Fritsch C, Blasco F, Blanz J, Aichholz R, Hamon J, Fabbro D, Caravatti G. Discovery of NVP-BYL719 a potent and selective phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase alpha inhibitor selected for clinical evaluation. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 2013;**23**:3741–3748.
- 236. Fritsch C, Huang A, Chatenay-Rivauday C, Schnell C, Reddy A, Liu M, Kauffmann A, Guthy D, Erdmann D, De-Pover A, Furet P, Gao H, Ferretti S, Wang Y, Trappe J, Brachmann SM, Maira S-M, Wilson C, Boehm M, Garcia-Echeverria C, Chene P, Wiesmann M, Cozens R, Lehar J, Schlegel R, Caravatti G, Hofmann F, Sellers WR. Characterization of the novel and specific PI3Kα inhibitor NVP-BYL719 and development of the patient stratification strategy for clinical trials. *Mol Cancer Ther* 2014;**13**:1117–1129.
- 237. Heffron TP, Heald RA, Ndubaku C, Wei B, Augistin M, Do S, Edgar K, Eigenbrot C, Friedman L, Gancia E, Jackson PS, Jones G, Kolesnikov A, Lee LB, Lesnick JD, Lewis C, McLean N, Mörtl M, Nonomiya J, Pang J, Price S, Prior WW, Salphati L, Sideris S, Staben ST, Steinbacher S, Tsui V, Wallin J, Sampath D, Olivero AG. The Rational Design of Selective Benzoxazepin Inhibitors of the α-Isoform of Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Culminating in the Identification of (S)-2-((2-(1-IsopropyI-1H-1,2,4-triazoI-5-yI)-5,6-dihydrobenzo[f]imidazo[1,2-d][1,4]oxazepin-9-yI)oxy)propanamide (GDC-0326). J Med Chem 2016;59:985–1002.
- 238. Bell RM, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Retrograde heart perfusion: the Langendorff

technique of isolated heart perfusion. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2011;50:940–950.

- 239. Minhaz U, Koide S, Shohtsu A, Fujishima M, Nakazawa H. Perfusion delay causes unintentional ischemic preconditioning in isolated heart preparation. *Basic Res Cardiol* **90**:418–423.
- 240. Langendorff O. Untersuchungen am uberlebenden saugethierherzen. *Pflugers Arch* 1895;**61**:291–332.
- 241. Armitage WJ, Pegg DE. An evaluation of colloidal solutions for normothermic perfusion of rabbit hearts: an improved perfusate containing haemaccel. *Cryobiology* 1977;**14**:428–434.
- 242. Hale L, Kloner A. Myocardial temperature in acute myocardial infarction: protection with mild regional hypothermia. *Am J Physiol* 1997;**273**:H220-7.
- 243. Erlinge D. A Review of Mild Hypothermia as an Adjunctive Treatment for ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction. *Ther Hypothermia Temp Manag* 2011;**1**:129–141.
- 244. Sumeray MS, Yellon DM. Ischaemic preconditioning reduces infarct size following global ischaemia in the murine myocardium. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1998;**93**:384–390.
- 245. Klein HH, Puschmann S, Schaper J, Schaper W. Vircho Archiv A The Mechanism of the Tetrazolium Reaction in Identifying Experimental Myocardial Infarction. *Virchows Arch [Pathol Anat]* 1981;**393**:287–297.
- Fishbein MC, Meerbaum S, Rit J, Lando U, Kanmatsuse K, Mercier JC, Corday E, Ganz W. Early phase acute myocardial infarct size quantification: validation of the triphenyl tetrazolium chloride tissue enzyme staining technique. *Am Heart J* 1981;101:593–600.
- 247. Khaliulin I, Parker JE, Halestrap AP. Consecutive pharmacological activation of PKA and PKC mimics the potent cardioprotection of temperature preconditioning. *Cardiovasc Res* 2010;**88**:324–333.
- 248. Povlsen JA, Løfgren B, Dalgas C, Jespersen NR, Johnsen J, Bøtker HE. Frequent biomarker analysis in the isolated perfused heart reveals two distinct phases of reperfusion injury. *Int J Cardiol* 2014;**171**:9–14.
- 249. Fernández-Jiménez R, Silva J, Martínez-Martínez S, López-Maderuelo MD, Nuno-Ayala M, García-Ruiz JM, García-Álvarez A, Fernández-Friera L, Pizarro TG, García-

Prieto J, Sanz-Rosa D, López-Martin G, Fernández-Ortiz A, Macaya C, Fuster V, Redondo JM, Ibanez B. Impact of left ventricular hypertrophy on troponin release during acute myocardial infarction: new insights from a comprehensive translational study. *J Am Heart Assoc* 2015;**4**:e001218.

- Starnes JW. Effect of storage conditions on lactate dehydrogenase released from perfused hearts. *Int J Cardiol* 2008;**127**:114–116.
- Sumeray MS, Yellon DM. Characterisation and validation of a murine model of global ischaemia-reperfusion injury. *Mol Cell Biochem* 1998;186:61–68.
- 252. Rossello X, Burke N, Stoppe C, Bernhagen J, Davidson SM, Yellon DM. Exogenous Administration of Recombinant MIF at Physiological Concentrations Failed to Attenuate Infarct Size in a Langendorff Perfused Isolated Mouse Heart Model. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2016;**30**:445–453.
- 253. García-Prieto J, García-Ruiz JM, Sanz-Rosa D, Pun A, García-Alvarez A, Davidson SM, Fernández-Friera L, Nuno-Ayala M, Fernández-Jiménez R, Bernal JA, Izquierdo-Garcia JL, Jimenez-Borreguero J, Pizarro G, Ruiz-Cabello J, Macaya C, Fuster V, Yellon DM, Ibanez B. β3 adrenergic receptor selective stimulation during ischemia/reperfusion improves cardiac function in translational models through inhibition of mPTP opening in cardiomyocytes. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2014;**109**:422.
- 254. Davidson SM, Hausenloy D, Duchen MR, Yellon DM. Signalling via the reperfusion injury signalling kinase (RISK) pathway links closure of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore to cardioprotection. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2006;**38**:414–419.
- 255. Festing MFW, Altman DG. Guidelines for the Design and Statistical Analysis of Experiments Using Laboratory Animals. *ILAR J* 2002;**43**:244–258.
- 256. Eicken H. Six red flags for suspect work. 2013;3–4.
- 257. Curtis MJ, Bond RA, Spina D, Ahluwalia A, Alexander SPA, Giembycz MA, Gilchrist A, Hoyer D, Insel PA, Izzo AA, Lawrence AJ, MacEwan DJ, Moon LDF, Wonnacott S, Weston AH, McGrath JC. Experimental design and analysis and their reporting: new guidance for publication in BJP. *Br J Pharmacol* 2015;**172**:3461–3471.
- 258. Kilkenny C, Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. Improving bioscience

research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. *PLoS Biol* 2010;**8**:e1000412.

- 259. Lecour S, Bøtker HE, Condorelli G, Davidson SM, Garcia-Dorado D, Engel FB, Ferdinandy P, Heusch G, Madonna R, Ovize M, Ruiz-Meana M, Schulz R, Sluijter JPG, Laake LW Van, Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. ESC working group cellular biology of the heart: position paper: improving the preclinical assessment of novel cardioprotective therapies. *Cardiovasc Res* 2014;**104**:399–411.
- 260. Sutherland FJ, Hearse DJ. The isolated blood and perfusion fluid perfused heart. *Pharmacol Res* 2000;**41**:613–627.
- 261. Sharma V, Kearney MT, Davidson SM, Yellon DM. Endothelial insulin resistance protects the heart against prolonged ischemia-reperfusion injury but does not prevent insulin transport across the endothelium in a mouse Langendorff model. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 2014;19:586–591.
- 262. Bell RM, Smith CCT, Yellon DM. Nitric oxide as a mediator of delayed pharmacological (A(1) receptor triggered) preconditioning; is eNOS masquerading as iNOS? Cardiovasc Res 2002;53:405–413.
- Skyschally A, Van-Caster P, Iliodromitis EK, Schulz R, Kremastinos DT, Heusch G. Ischemic postconditioning: experimental models and protocol algorithms. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2009;**104**:469–483.
- 264. Wang QD, Swärdh A, Sjöquist PO. Relationship between ischaemic time and ischaemia/reperfusion injury in isolated Langendorff-perfused mouse hearts. Acta Physiol Scand 2001;171:123–128.
- 265. Headrick JP, Peart J, Hack B, Flood A, Matherne GP. Functional properties and responses to ischaemia-reperfusion in Langendorff perfused mouse heart. *Exp Physiol* 2001;**86**:703–716.
- 266. Bell RM. The role of nitric oxide in myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury. University College London; 2001.
- 267. Siddall HK. The role of PTEN in cardioprotection against ischaemia-reperfusion injury. University College London; 2009.
- 268. Cox DR. Planning of Experiments. Wiley; 1992.

- Redel A, Jazbutyte V, Smul TM, Lange M, Eckle T, Eltzschig H, Roewer N, Kehl F. Impact of ischemia and reperfusion times on myocardial infarct size in mice in vivo. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 2008;**233**:84–93.
- 270. Ferrera R, Benhabbouche S, Bopassa JC, Li B, Ovize M. One hour reperfusion is enough to assess function and infarct size with TTC staining in Langendorff rat model. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2009;**23**:327–331.
- 271. Schwarz ER, Somoano Y, Hale SL, Kloner RA. What is the required reperfusion period for assessment of myocardial infarct size using triphenyltetrazolium chloride staining in the rat? *J Thromb Thrombolysis* 2000;**10**:181–187.
- 272. Birnbaum Y, Hale SL, Kloner RA. Differences in reperfusion length following 30 minutes of ischemia in the rabbit influence infarct size, as measured by triphenyltetrazolium chloride staining. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1997;29:657–666.
- 273. Stensløkken K-O, Rutkovskiy A, Kaljusto M-L, Hafstad AD, Larsen TS, Vaage J. Inadvertent phosphorylation of survival kinases in isolated perfused hearts: a word of caution. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2009;**104**:412–423.
- 274. Anderson PG, Bishop SP, Digerness SB. Transmural progression of morphologic changes during ischemic contracture and reperfusion in the normal and hypertrophied rat heart. Am J Pathol 1987;129:152–167.
- Yellon DM, Downey JM. Preconditioning the Myocardium : From Cellular Physiology to Clinical Cardiology. 2003;1113–1151.
- 276. Whittaker P, Przyklenk K. From ischemic conditioning to 'hyperconditioning': clinical phenomenon and basic science opportunity. *Dose Response* 2014;**12**:650–663.
- Li GC, Vasquez JA, Gallagher KP, Lucchesi BR. Myocardial protection with preconditioning. *Circulation* 1990;82:609–619.
- 278. Yamakawa K, Zhou W, Ko Y, Benharash P, Takemoto M, Mahajan A. Improved cardioprotection using a novel stepwise ischemic preconditioning protocol in rabbit heart. J Surg Res 2014;188:381–386.
- Iliodromitis EK, Kremastinos DT, Katritsis DG, Papadopoulos CC, Hearse DJ. Multiple cycles of preconditioning cause loss of protection in open-chest rabbits. J Mol Cell Cardiol 1997;29:915–920.

- 280. Rossello X, Hall AR, Bell RM, Yellon DM. Characterization of the Langendorff Perfused Isolated Mouse Heart Model of Global Ischemia-Reperfusion Injury: Impact of Ischemia and Reperfusion Length on Infarct Size and LDH Release. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 2015;21:286–295.
- 281. Siddall HK, Warrell CE, Yellon DM, Mocanu MM. Ischemia-reperfusion injury and cardioprotection: investigating PTEN, the phosphatase that negatively regulates PI3K, using a congenital model of PTEN haploinsufficiency. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2008;**103**:560–568.
- 282. Sumeray MS. An in-vitro model of ischaemia-reperfusion injury in murine myocardium : the role of nitric oxide. University College London; 1998.
- Sumeray MS, Yellon DM. Ischaemic preconditioning reduces infarct size following global ischaemia in the murine myocardium. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1998;93:384–390.
- 284. Carr CS, Yellon DM. Ischaemic preconditioning may abolish the protection afforded by ATP-sensitive potassium channel openers in isolated human atrial muscle. *Basic Res Cardiol* 1997;**92**:252–260.
- 285. Sandhu R, Diaz RJ, Mao GD, Wilson GJ. Ischemic preconditioning: differences in protection and susceptibility to blockade with single-cycle versus multicycle transient ischemia. *Circulation* 1997;**96**:984–995.
- Schulz R, Post H, Vahlhaus C, Heusch G. Ischemic preconditioning in pigs: a graded phenomenon: its relation to adenosine and bradykinin. *Circulation* 1998;**98**:1022– 1029.
- Cohen M V, Yang XM, Downey JM. Conscious rabbits become tolerant to multiple episodes of ischemic preconditioning. *Circ Res* 1994;**74**:998–1004.
- 288. Miki T, Miura T, Ura N, Ogawa T, Suzuki K, Shimamoto K, Iimura O. Captopril potentiates the myocardial infarct size-limiting effect of ischemic preconditioning through bradykinin B2 receptor activation. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1996;**28**:1616–1622.
- 289. Morris SD, Yellon DM. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors potentiate preconditioning through bradykinin B2 receptor activation in human heart. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997;29:1599–1606.
- 290. Parratt JR, Vegh A, Zeitlin IJ, Ahmad M, Oldroyd K, Kaszala K, Papp JG. Bradykinin

and endothelial-cardiac myocyte interactions in ischemic preconditioning. *Am J Cardiol* 1997;**80**:124A–131A.

- 291. Lu Y, Dong C-S, Yu J, Li H. Morphine Reduces the Threshold of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning Against Myocardial Ischemia and Reperfusion Injury in Rats: The Role of Opioid Receptors. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2012;26:403–406.
- 292. Vélez DE, Hermann R, Barreda Frank M, Mestre Cordero VE, Savino EA, Varela A, Marina Prendes MG. Effects of wortmannin on cardioprotection exerted by ischemic preconditioning in rat hearts subjected to ischemia-reperfusion. *J Physiol Biochem* 2016;**72**:83–91.
- 293. Tong H, Imahashi K, Steenbergen C, Murphy E. Phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta during preconditioning through a phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase--dependent pathway is cardioprotective. *Circ Res* 2002;**90**:377–379.
- 294. Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. PTEN, the Achilles' heel of myocardial ischaemia/reperfusion injury? *Br J Pharmacol* 2007;**150**:833–838.
- 295. Manning BD, Toker A. AKT/PKB Signaling: Navigating the Network. *Cell* 2017;**169**:381–405.
- 296. Datta K, Bellacosa A, Chan TO, Tsichlis PN. Akt is a direct target of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Activation by growth factors, v-src and v-Ha-ras, in Sf9 and mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* 1996;**271**:30835–30839.
- 297. Juhaszova M, Zorov DB, Kim S-H, Pepe S, Fu Q, Fishbein KW, Ziman BD, Wang S, Ytrehus K, Antos CL, Olson EN, Sollott SJ. Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta mediates convergence of protection signaling to inhibit the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. J Clin Invest 2004;**113**:1535–1549.
- 298. Fan WJ, Vuuren D, Genade S, Lochner A. Kinases and phosphatases in ischaemic preconditioning: a re-evaluation. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2010;**105**:495–511.
- Cai Z, Semenza GL. PTEN activity is modulated during ischemia and reperfusion: involvement in the induction and decay of preconditioning. *Circ Res* 2005;97:1351– 1359.
- 300. Mensah K, Mocanu MM, Yellon DM. Failure to protect the myocardium against ischemia/reperfusion injury after chronic atorvastatin treatment is recaptured by

acute atorvastatin treatment: a potential role for phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome ten? *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2005;**45**:1287–1291.

- 301. Ruan H, Li J, Ren S, Gao J, Li G, Kim R, Wu H, Wang Y. Inducible and cardiac specific PTEN inactivation protects ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2009;46:193–200.
- 302. Boengler K, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Heusch G, Schulz R. Inhibition of permeability transition pore opening by mitochondrial STAT3 and its role in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2010;**105**:771–785.
- 303. Pfeffer LM, Mullersman JE, Pfeffer SR, Murti A, Shi W, Yang CH. STAT3 as an adapter to couple phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase to the IFNAR1 chain of the type I interferon receptor. *Science* 1997;**276**:1418–1420.
- 304. Zhang X, Shan P, Alam J, Fu X-Y, Lee PJ. Carbon monoxide differentially modulates STAT1 and STAT3 and inhibits apoptosis via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt and p38 kinase-dependent STAT3 pathway during anoxia-reoxygenation injury. J Biol Chem 2005;280:8714–8721.
- 305. Inagaki K, Chen L, Ikeno F, Lee FH, Imahashi K, Bouley DM, Rezaee M, Yock PG, Murphy E, Mochly-Rosen D. Inhibition of delta-protein kinase C protects against reperfusion injury of the ischemic heart in vivo. *Circulation* 2003;**108**:2304–2307.
- Wenzel S, Abdallah Y, Helmig S, Schäfer C, Piper HM, Schlüter K-D. Contribution of PI
 3-kinase isoforms to angiotensin II- and alpha-adrenoceptor-mediated signalling pathways in cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* 2006;**71**:352–362.
- 307. McLean BA, Zhabyeyev P, Patel VB, Basu R, Parajuli N, DesAulniers J, Murray AG, Kassiri Z, Vanhaesebroeck B, Oudit GY. PI3Kα is essential for the recovery from Cre/tamoxifen cardiotoxicity and in myocardial insulin signalling but is not required for normal myocardial contractility in the adult heart. *Cardiovasc Res* 2015;**105**:292– 303.
- 308. Bartlett SE, Reynolds AJ, Tan T, Heydon K, Hendry IA. Differential mRNA expression and subcellular locations of PI3-kinase isoforms in sympathetic and sensory neurons. J Neurosci Res 1999;56:44–53.
- 309. Ban K, Cooper AJ, Samuel S, Bhatti A, Patel M, Izumo S, Penninger JM, Backx PH,

Oudit GY, Tsushima RG. Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Is a Critical Mediator of Myocardial Ischemic and Adenosine-Mediated Preconditioning. *Circ Res* 2008;**103**:643–653.

- 310. Pretorius L, Du X-J, Woodcock EA, Kiriazis H, Lin RCY, Marasco S, Medcalf RL, Ming Z, Head GA, Tan JW, Cemerlang N, Sadoshima J, Shioi T, Izumo S, Lukoshkova E V, Dart AM, Jennings GL, McMullen JR. Reduced phosphoinositide 3-kinase (p110alpha) activation increases the susceptibility to atrial fibrillation. *Am J Pathol* 2009;**175**:998–1009.
- 311. Nylander S, Kull B, Björkman JA, Ulvinge JC, Oakes N, Emanuelsson BM, Andersson M, Skärby T, Inghardt T, Fjellström O, Gustafsson D. Human target validation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)β: effects on platelets and insulin sensitivity, using AZD6482 a novel PI3Kβ inhibitor. J Thromb Haemost 2012;10:2127–2136.
- 312. Costa C, Ebi H, Martini M, Beausoleil SA, Faber AC, Jakubik CT, Huang A, Wang Y, Nishtala M, Hall B, Rikova K, Zhao J, Hirsch E, Benes CH, Engelman JA. Measurement of PIP3 levels reveals an unexpected role for p110β in early adaptive responses to p110α-specific inhibitors in luminal breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* 2015;**27**:97–108.
- 313. Soler A, Figueiredo AM, Castel P, Martin L, Monelli E, Angulo-Urarte A, Milà-Guasch M, Viñals F, Baselga J, Casanovas O, Graupera M. Therapeutic Benefit of Selective Inhibition of p110α PI3-Kinase in Pancreatic Neuroendocrine Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res* 2016;**22**:5805–5817.
- 314. Hu H, Juvekar A, Lyssiotis CA, Lien EC, Albeck JG, Oh D, Varma G, Hung YP, Ullas S, Lauring J, Seth P, Lundquist MR, Tolan DR, Grant AK, Needleman DJ, Asara JM, Cantley LC, Wulf GM. Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase Regulates Glycolysis through Mobilization of Aldolase from the Actin Cytoskeleton. *Cell* 2016;**164**:433–446.
- Davies SP, Reddy H, Caivano M, Cohen P. Specificity and mechanism of action of some commonly used protein kinase inhibitors. *Biochem J* 2000;**351**:95–105.
- 316. Sack MN, Yellon DM. Insulin therapy as an adjunct to reperfusion after acute coronary ischemia: a proposed direct myocardial cell survival effect independent of metabolic modulation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003;41:1404–1407.
- Yao H, Han X, Han X. The Cardioprotection of the Insulin-Mediated PI3K/Akt/mTOR Signaling Pathway. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs* 2014;**14**:433–442.

- 318. Jonassen AK, Brar BK, Mjøs OD, Sack MN, Latchman DS, Yellon DM. Insulin administered at reoxygenation exerts a cardioprotective effect in myocytes by a possible anti-apoptotic mechanism. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2000;**32**:757–764.
- 319. Gao F, Gao E, Yue T-L, Ohlstein EH, Lopez BL, Christopher TA, Ma X-L. Nitric oxide mediates the antiapoptotic effect of insulin in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion: the roles of PI3-kinase, Akt, and endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation. *Circulation* 2002;**105**:1497–1502.
- 320. Sodi-Pallares D, Testelli MR, Fishleder BL, Bisteni A, Medrano GA, Friedland C, Micheli A De. Effects of an intravenous infusion of a potassium-glucose-insulin solution on the electrocardiographic signs of myocardial infarction. A preliminary clinical report. Am J Cardiol 1962;9:166–181.
- 321. Grossman AN, Opie LH, Beshansky JR, Ingwall JS, Rackley CE, Selker HP. Glucoseinsulin-potassium revived: current status in acute coronary syndromes and the energy-depleted heart. *Circulation* 2013;**127**:1040–1048.
- 322. Jonassen AK, Aasum E, Riemersma RA, Mjøs OD, Larsen TS. Glucose-insulinpotassium reduces infarct size when administered during reperfusion. *Cardiovasc drugs Ther* 2000;**14**:615–623.
- 323. Yu Q, Zhou N, Nan Y, Zhang L, Li Y, Hao X, Xiong L, Lau WB, Ma XL, Wang H, Gao F. Effective glycaemic control critically determines insulin cardioprotection against ischaemia/reperfusion injury in anaesthetized dogs. *Cardiovasc Res* 2014;**103**:238– 247.
- 324. Abdallah Y, Gkatzoflia A, Gligorievski D, Kasseckert S, Euler G, Schlüter K-D, Schäfer M, Piper H-M, Schäfer C. Insulin protects cardiomyocytes against reoxygenationinduced hypercontracture by a survival pathway targeting SR Ca2+ storage. *Cardiovasc Res* 2006;**70**:346–353.
- 325. Fuglesteg BN, Tiron C, Jonassen AK, Mjøs OD, Ytrehus K. Pretreatment with insulin before ischaemia reduces infarct size in Langendorff-perfused rat hearts. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 2009;195:273–282.
- 326. Fath-Ordoubadi F, Beatt KJ. Glucose-insulin-potassium therapy for treatment of acute myocardial infarction: an overview of randomized placebo-controlled trials. *Circulation* 1997;**96**:1152–1156.

- 327. Diaz R, Goyal A, Mehta SR, Afzal R, Xavier D, Pais P, Chrolavicius S, Zhu J, Kazmi K, Liu L, Budaj A, Zubaid M, Avezum A, Ruda M, Yusuf S. Glucose-Insulin-Potassium Therapy in Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. JAMA 2007;298:2399.
- 328. Mehta SR, Yusuf S, Díaz R, Zhu J, Pais P, Xavier D, Paolasso E, Ahmed R, Xie C, Kazmi K, Tai J, Orlandini A, Pogue J, Liu L. Effect of glucose-insulin-potassium infusion on mortality in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: the CREATE-ECLA randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2005;293:437–446.
- 329. Apstein CS, Opie LH. A challenge to the metabolic approach to myocardial ischaemia. *Eur Heart J* 2005;**26**:956–959.
- 330. Selker HP, Beshansky JR, Sheehan PR, Massaro JM, Griffith JL, D'Agostino RB, Ruthazer R, Atkins JM, Sayah AJ, Levy MK, Richards ME, Aufderheide TP, Braude DA, Pirrallo RG, Doyle DD, Frascone RJ, Kosiak DJ, Leaming JM, Gelder CM Van, Walter G-P, Wayne MA, Woolard RH, Opie LH, Rackley CE, Apstein CS, Udelson JE. Out-ofhospital administration of intravenous glucose-insulin-potassium in patients with suspected acute coronary syndromes: the IMMEDIATE randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2012;**307**:1925–1933.
- 331. Slettom G, Jonassen AK, Dahle GO, Seifert R, Larsen TH, Berge RK, Nordrehaug JE. Insulin Postconditioning Reduces Infarct Size in the Porcine Heart in a Dose-Dependent Manner. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 2017;22:179–188.
- 332. Alburquerque-Béjar JJ, Barba I, Inserte J, Miró-Casas E, Ruiz-Meana M, Poncelas M, Vilardosa Ú, Valls-Lacalle L, Rodríguez-Sinovas A, Garcia-Dorado D. Combination therapy with remote ischaemic conditioning and insulin or exenatide enhances infarct size limitation in pigs. *Cardiovasc Res* 2015;**107**:246–254.
- 333. Rees PSC, Davidson SM, Harding SE, McGregor C, Elliot PM, Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore as a target for cardioprotection in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2013;**27**:235–237.
- 334. Bell RM, Kunuthur SP, Hendry C, Bruce-Hickman D, Davidson S, Yellon DM. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition protects CyPD knockout mice independently of RISK/mPTP signalling: a parallel pathway to protection. *Basic Res Cardiol* 2013;**108**:331.

- Fruman DA, Meyers RE, Cantley LC. Phosphoinositide kinases. Annu Rev Biochem 1998;67:481–507.
- 336. Bromage DI, Davidson SM, Yellon DM. Stromal derived factor 1α: a chemokine that delivers two-pronged defence of the myocardium. *Pharmacol Ther* 2014;**143**:305-5.
- 337. Davidson SM, Selvaraj P, He D, Boi-Doku C, Yellon RL, Vicencio JM, Yellon DM. Remote ischaemic preconditioning involves signalling through the SDF-1α/CXCR4 signalling axis. Basic Res Cardiol 2013;108:377.
- 338. Hu X, Dai S, Wu W-J, Tan W, Zhu X, Mu J, Guo Y, Bolli R, Rokosh G. Stromal Cell Derived Factor-1 Alpha Confers Protection Against Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury: Role of the Cardiac Stromal Cell Derived Factor-1 CXCR4 Axis. *Circulation* 2007;**116**:654–663.
- Saxena A, Fish JE, White MD, Yu S, Smyth JWP, Shaw RM, DiMaio JM, Srivastava D.
 Stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha is cardioprotective after myocardial infarction.
 Circulation 2008;117:2224–2231.
- 340. Wang K, Zhao X, Kuang C, Qian D, Wang H, Jiang H, Deng M, Huang L. Overexpression of SDF-1α Enhanced Migration and Engraftment of Cardiac Stem Cells and Reduced Infarcted Size via CXCR4/PI3K Pathway. Qin G, ed. *PLoS One* 2012;**7**:e43922.
- 341. Malik A, Bromage DI, He Z, Candilio L, Hamarneh A, Taferner S, Davidson SM, Yellon DM. Exogenous SDF-1α Protects Human Myocardium from Hypoxia-Reoxygenation Injury via CXCR4. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther* 2015;**29**:589–592.
- 342. Huang C, Gu H, Zhang W, Manukyan MC, Shou W, Wang M. SDF-1/CXCR4 mediates acute protection of cardiac function through myocardial STAT3 signaling following global ischemia/reperfusion injury. *AJP Hear Circ Physiol* 2011;**301**:H1496–H1505.
- 343. Jang Y-H, Kim J-H, Ban C, Ahn K, Cheong J-H, Kim H-H, Kim J-S, Park Y-H, Kim J, Chun K-J, Lee G-H, Kim M, Kim C, Xu Z. Stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1) targeting reperfusion reduces myocardial infarction in isolated rat hearts. *Cardiovasc Ther* 2012;**30**:264–272.
- Heusch G, Bøtker HE, Przyklenk K, Redington A, Yellon D. Remote ischemic conditioning. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015;65:177–195.